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PREFACE.

N a former publication the writer has related the

T

“ History of Sligo, County and Town, from the
earliest ages to the close of the reign of Queen
Elizabeth,” and the present volume takes up the
narration from the accession of James I. to that of William
and Mary. The information contained in Chapter xvi.—as
connected with the stirring events which occurred in and around
Sligo during the Revolution of 1688—is in great part re-pro-
_duced from a previous account given by the same writer in
“Sligo and the Enniskilleners.”

During this struggle, the strange recapture of the town of
Sligo by Gore (pp. 119-121) is one of the most interesting
episodes that occurred in Sligo; and the account of it does not
rest on the authority of Hamilton alone, for in the Macarie
Excidium, edited by O’Callaghan, it is stated that « Sarsfield,
a young captain, beloved of the soldiers, commanding at that
time some troops about Sligo, to defend this part of Connaught
from incursions from Ulster, upon the first notice of this over-
throw (Newtown-Butler) quitted Sligo, and never rested until
he marched along to Athlone, leaving the province of Con-
naught exposed to the enemy.” A writer of the same school
—the author of “The Williamite and Jacobite Wars”—also
remarks that “Sarsfield appears to have had some blame for this
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(the sudden evacuation of Sligo), but he did not merit it. The
panic had seized his men before he was aware of it, and left him
powerless and without an army.”

Many anecdotes of this eventful time have been omitted, as
they appeared to be based upon no substantial foundation of
fact. There is one—taken from ¢ The Recollections of John
O’Keeffe”’—which may be viewed as a good example of this
class, its tenor being altogether opposed to the gemerally ae-
cepted opinion of the character of James II. O’Keeffe states
that “in 1765, at Sligo, I had seen John O’Brien, who had
served at the battle of the Boyne. He was a fine old man, and
told me many interesting and circumstantial anecdotes relative
to that day. One, that a gunner told King James that at that
very precise moment, his gun was so pointed, he could at a
twinkle end the dispute for the three crowns; but James for-
bade him, and the nephew and son-in-law were (P was) thus
saved.”

Reliance may, however, sometimes be placed on oral tradi-
tion, for it is surprising how, occasionally, the span of even two
lives bridge an almost incredible space of time. A person still
alive in the county Sligo was personally acquainted with one of
the naval officers who sailed with Captain Cook in his voyage of
discovery, 1768-1771; and had this officer and John O’Brien,
the veteran of the Boyne, met, then the span of direct oral
tradition would have been extended back to 1690.

With regard to the date of the first founding of St. John’s
Church, Sligo (p. 74), it may be remarked that the original
edifice formed part of the ancient possessions of the Abbey of
St. John the Baptist, without Newgate, in the city of Dublin;
that it was demised, 1st June, 36th Eliz., to John Rawson and
Henry Dean, at a rent of 6s. 8d., Irish; whilst on the 20th
June, in the 2nd year of James L, ‘“the rectory, church, or
chapel, called the rectorie between the two bridges,” was
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granted to Donat, Earl of Thomond. TUntil the disestablish-
ment of the Irish Church, Trinity College, Dublin, and the
Bishop of the Diocese, were entitled to the alternate presenta-
tion to the rectory of St. John’s.

Archbishop Ussher was of opinion that not to know the past
was to be always in childhood, and not to be cognizant of prior
events is to be blind to the fact that, in most revolutionary
movements, political and social, they are the springs which,
though remote and ignored by the casual observer, are still
driving the revolutionary wheels with an unsuspected yet irresis-
tible power. In the following pages the description given of the
battle near Sligo in 1645, at which was captured the secret corres-
pondence of Charles I. with the Irish Confederates, will doubtless
prove of interest; the name of the Archbishop of Tuam, printed
O’Kelly (p. 76), is frequently spelled O’Coyle or O’Queely. In
Appendix A are set forth the results of the Office of Enquiry
(time of Charles I.) into the estates of landed proprietors in the
years 1633-6. Instead, however, of being arranged, as in the
original, by baronies and parishes wherein several proprietors
are named, the Survey is here moulded into the form of a rental
of each landowner in the various baronies and parishes: by this
mode it is considered that a much clearer idea can be attained
of the distribution and ¢4en value of the land. It is curious to
note the relative position (in 1633) of landlord and tenants, as
well as the evident scarcity of circulating coin—rents, under the
name of duties, being paid principally in kind. Although
difficult to ascertain the comparative value of money now and
at the period of the Survey in question, yet we may, perhaps,
approximate to some understanding on the point, by contrast-
ing the cost of “a fat beefe” in the present day, and in the
time of Charles I., when the price was set down at twenty
shillings, whilst in the time of Elizabeth it was but 13s. 44.

It had been intended to give, in its entirety, the portion of
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the Survey of 1633-6 relative to the Ecclesiastical condition of
the county (p. 19), and to have added notes elucidatory of the
text, but it was found that too much space would have been thus
occupied, without probably exciting a corresponding degree of
general interest. An analysis of this Survey will be seen from
pp- 16-30. One of the most interesting topographical facts
made clear by this MS. is that the  Vicarage of Ennagh” is
simply the Vicarage of Ballysadare, and the ‘half-parish of
Ennagh” was that portion of the parish of Ballysadare situate
in the barony of Tirerrill.

Appendix B contains, printed i exfenso, the depositions,
&e., concerning murders and robberies committed in the County
Sligo, 1641-2. In Appendix C are extracts from the Down
Survey, together with examples of Petitions and Schedules, pre-
sented to the Commissioners for putting into execution the Act
of Settlement, as also of the certificates granted to adventurers
and soldiers. Appendix D is a précis of the various re-
grants to proprictors of the County Sligo during the reign of
Charles II. ]

Appendix G contains a short narrative of those missionary
tours of St. Patrick which are supposed to have occurred
within the bounds of the present County Sligo. The extracts
are from the “Tripartite Life of Patrick,” as translated by
Whitley Stokes; and, according to that authority, the date of
the compilation is of the 11th century. Although mixed up
with much that is incredible, these stories may, nevertheless,
rest on a substratum of fact.

There is also appended a description (with illustrations) of
the Crosses of Drumeliff, including a small but remarkable
monument now in the Museum of Science and Art, Leinster
House, but believed to have been originally erected at Druim-
cliabh-na-g-cros, or Drumecliff of the Crosses; and what appears
evidently to have been the base of this relic has been recently
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discovered in the graveyard of that locality. The shaft of this
cross had been many years at Rathcarrick, where close beside
it was placed a chair-like block of common whin-stone—seem-
ingly a freak of nature, for it was evidently unchiselled. The
seat was lower than that of an ordinary chair, the back, how-
ever, being higher and narrower. This chair was stated to have
been, during a long period, the seat on which the O’Neills of
Castlereagh, near Belfast, were inaugurated. On the downfall
of that family, in the reign of James I., the chair was over-
turned, and so remained until the year 1750, at which time the
sovereign—as the mayor was then designated—of Belfast
caused it to be removed to the Butter-market. On the demoli-
tion of the old market-place the chair became mixed up with
other débris, and was about to be broken up, when it was
rescued, and subsequently purchased and used as a garden seat
by a gentleman of antiquarian tastes in the County Sligo. Sic

transit gloria mundi.

It is stated that seats, sometimes of mere undressed stones—
on which, however, the impression of two feet had been sculp-
tured—were placed in elevated localities in every territory of
a sept. Spencer alludes to this custom, as also to the mode of
election of chiefs and tanists. The best example of the class of
seat in question is the well-known Lia-fail, or Stone of Destiny.
Seated on it, the kings of ancient Erin, both in Christian and
pagan times, were crowned. In the 9th century it was sent
over to Scotland in order to secure the then dynmasty on the
throne, there being an ancient Celtic distich to the effect that
wherever this stone was kept “the Scots shall reign.” On it
the monarchs of Scotland were erowned, until Edward, King of
England, carried it off in 1296, and placed it in Westminster
Abbey under the Coronation Chair, where it still remains.

The writer, in conclusion, begs to acknowledge his obliga-
tions to the Council R.I.A. for the use of figs. 2, 3, and 4, as
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HISTORY OF SLIGO.

BCa- V1.

CHAPTER X.

PERIOD OF JAMES THE FIRST.

‘“ Peaceable times are best to live in, though not so proper to furnish
materials for a writer.”

T the accession of James I., March, 1603, the struggle
between the Crown and the Irish septs, which had
lasted intermittently for four centuries, was, for the
time, ended, and Ireland was at peace. This state

of things rapidly produced its usual beneficial results ;

trade and the revenue increased rapidly. ¢ Yea, in
all parts,” remarks Fynes Moryson, “ the churl was
grown rich, and the gentleman and swordsmen needy.”” The
improvement in the general appearance of the country was
remarkable ; ancient customs were gradually being modified, and
the Irish had become attached to the Anglo-Norman families.

“Indeed, they had an old prophecy that the day should come

when the Irish would weep over Englishmen’s graves. This

one shall hear up and down in every mouth.”?
Referring back to a somewhat earlier period, the following—
addressed to Sir R. Walsingham, Secretary of State in the reign

1In 1848, J. P. Prendergast, B.L., author of The Cromwellian Settle-
ment of Ireland, asked an old Connaught coachman of the Sligo Mail if
he had ever heard of this saying. ‘‘ Yes,” said he, ¢ and that they would
dig them out of their graves with their nails, if they could so get them
back.” :

B
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of Elizabeth—gives an interesting account of the O’Conors and
their sub-chiefs; also, of the condition of Sligo about the
middle of the sixteenth century. This narrative of Sir Henry
Sidney’s progress through the north of Ireland, Sligo, &e., is
taken from a document in the Public Record Office, London.!
The date is 21st October, 1566 :—

“The xxist day we dislodged (from Ballyshannon) and marched by
Bondroies, which is the uttermost bounds of all Tirconnell and Ulster,
the swift water of Droyes coming by it, which divided Ulster and Con-
naught. This castle was also offered unto me, whereof I took possession,
and left it by consent and agreement of O’Donell, as may appear by the
indentures to Hugh T\Ia,c\Ianus, in whose possession we found it. And
passing by a part of O’Rouark’s country, and through a part of MacGlan-
nole’s country, we encamped in Occonor Sligo’s country that night, where
Occonor Sligo came unto us with the Bishop of Elphyn, most humbly
offering service and fealty to your Majesty and all courtesy to us, offering
us a hundred beaves for the relief of the army, whereof he paid most part.
The xxiind day we passed the water of Sligo, and came by the castle of
the same, where he very courteously desired me to enter into it, most
earnestly desiring that he might hold the same of your Majesty and the
Crown Imperial of your Realm. The castle is fair, and is the greatest
of any that we have seen in any Irishman’s possession. It standeth upon
a good haven, and hath been a great town, full of Merchants’ houses, all
which are now disinhabited and in ruins. Therein is a large monastery
of White Friars, and a Bishop’s house. The Bishop’s See is in Occonor
Roe’s country, called Elphin. This Occonor Sligo is a man of great lands,
and hath under him such as count themselves lords—namely, Odowdie ;
Macdonneaghe, Tererell ; Macdonneagh, Rescomen ; Ogarre ; Ohare-boy,
and Ohare-riogh. His lands, with theirs that hold of him, are at least
forty miles long. Nevertheless he is challenged to hold the same of
divers lords—namely, the Earl of Kildare, the Earle of Clanrycarde, and
O’Donell, he confessing that he ought to hold of one, but he knoweth not
certainly of whom—the Earl of Kildare challenging him and his lands by
matter of record, O'Donell prescribing continuance of possession for a
thousand years. The Earl of Clanrycarde alleging a composition by
mutual agreement between their ancestors. The rent demanded by each,
besides certain services, is 360 marks. But to me, the Lord Deputy, he
declared that he ought only to hold it of your Majesty, which he wished
he might do and be defended from the rest, but for that the possession of
(’Donell was not disproved nor discontinued till that very day, and that
it was half-yearly accustomed to be paid, and the one half-year already
past, the other approaching at Candlemas next. Considering the poverty

! Published in the Jowrnal of the Royal Historical and Archeological
Association of Ireland, Vol. 1., 4th Series, pp. 22, 23.

PR e ape—
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of O’'Donell, and his willingness to bear cesse to the garrison now resident
in his country, and for that all the forenamed gentlemen of O’Donell’s
country being present, together with O’Donell, fearing least the same
should be taken from O’Donell, affirmed that if that Occonor Sligo did
not answer such rent to O’Donell as he ought, that they would look to
enjoy such like privilege and only depend on your Majesty also, we
thought good to order Occonor Sligo to pay this year’s rent, whereof half
was already due, and to take May-day next to judge to whom the rent
ought to belong. But surely we do not think that O’Donell hath any right
to it but by usurpation. We encamped in his (O’Conor’s) country three
nights, and at the last place compounded the amity by indenture between
him and O’Donell together with this order, and the amity likewise be-
tween O'Donell and MacGlannoge. The xxiii day we departed out of his
country, and passed through the Hardesto Mountain,' and the fowlest
place that ever we passed in Ireland, and came into MacDermott's
country, in the entry whereof standeth an abbey of your Highness called
Aboyle.”

If the scenery of the County Sligo at that period had been
pourtrayed on ecanvas, its wild and uncultivated appearance
would contrast unfavourably with the now well-cultivated, charm-
ing landscape. Natural forests still covered a portion of the
country, though they were then fast disappearing from indis-
criminate waste ; the wood was 'used for fuel, for charcoal, for
exportation, but principally for the smelting of iron ore. The
Tireragh and Leyny Mountains were, to a great extent, yet
tree-clad, as also the valley and mountain-sides extending from
Lough Gill to Ballintogher, where, but for the grazing of cattle,
the indigenous forest would again rise. In 1633 the townland
of *“Casheloer,” in this locality, had ‘‘ some wood, but had
much more, it is dayley wasted by sale to Sligoe,” whilst in the
townland of ‘‘ Corray,” closely adjoining, ‘‘a great scope of
woode . . . . ...is lately wasted, being by them [the tenants]
soulde to Sligo.”

In a curious map of the county, dated 1609, the valley of
Glencar and the slopes of Benbulbin, both to north and south,
are delineated as still covered with woods, and the following
quaint information is appended :—*‘ Ye high hills of Ben Bulben

! This is some pass on the Curlews, for in Sir Henry Sidney’s Memoirs,
published in the Ulster Journal of Archeology, Vol. IIL., p. 40, he says,
¢ From thence [Sligo] I marched on the craggie mountayne of the Curlue,
a passage bad enough, where I chased and chastised the ancient outlawes
of that quarter called Garran Bawn.”

B2
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where yearlie timbereth a Falcon, esteemed the hardiest in Ire-
land,” and here even yet this faleon ‘‘ timbereth.” The woods
abont Ballydrihed, near Ballysadare, celebrated as the scene of
many sanguinary conflicts, were in part standing in 1609 ; whilst
the wooded regions on the Curlew Mountains, noticed by Sir
1lenry Sidney (where Sir Conyers Clifford met his overthrow
in 1599 from O’Donnel and O’Rorke), had in some part dis-
appeared, but were still extensive, and, as will be seen, the
Countess of Desmond had in her grant one item, i.c., a thou-
sand acres of wood.

Boate, in his Natural IHistory of Ireland, published in
1652, says: ‘ Connaught is well stored with trees in most
parts, but hath very few forests or great woods except in the
Counties of Mayo and Sligo.” In the Distribution Book of the
Down Survey, the following forests are enumerated in the half
Barony of Coolavin :—* The tall, thick woods of Caponaghe, . ..
200 acres of wood, . . . . 240 acres of grazable land and pasture
woods, . . . . 26 and 24 acres of stoneywood, . ... 1291 acres
of mountain and woods, . ... 1240 acres of the same descrip-
tion, &e.”

Sligo, in common with many other parts of Ireland, had
frequently—we might almost say continuously—felt the cruel
secourge of war. Its traditional and authentic history, so far as
can be traced, is distinguished principally by accounts of mur-
derous, plundering expeditions of neighbouring districts against
each other, or sanguinary encounters amongst the inhabitants
of various parts of the county. All the septs had apparently
never been united under one really strong central authority;
but in general, separate governments—if such be not a too
dignified expression—with independent chiefs, existed in each of
the six baronies into which the county is now divided. Roughly
speaking, these were the limits of the territories of the six
principal chiefs, i.e., O’Conor (Carbury), O'Dowd (Tireragh),
O’Hara (Leyny), Two MacDonoghs (Tirerrill and Corran), and
O’Gara (Coolavin) ; these again were divided into sub-chieftain-
cies, those who had the greater power preying upon those of
lesser note. The interests of these numerous petty chiefs often
clashed, almost every dispute terminating in an appeal to arms;
indeed, whenever ono party felt sufficiently strong to invade
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and plunder the territories of a mneighbour, he did so without
scruple. :

Ideas on political economy in the seventeenth and nineteenth
centuries differed widely; free or fair trade was alike unthought
of. 'What consternation would not the following edict occasion
amongst the merchants and traders of Sligo were it to be again
made the law of the land.

On the 11th June, in the first year of the reign of James I.,
John Large, gent., was appointed supervisor in Ireland, with
power to search . . . . . the

¢“ porte of Sligo . ... and all other portes within Ireland; and all shipps,
barques, craers, pickardes, boates, &c., ankeringe therein,” and ¢“to stopp
the transportinge of wheate and all other grain, beefe, larde, bacon, tal-
lowe, waxe, wollflockes, lynnen-yearne, woollen-yarne, sheepefell, calfefell,
goatefell, red deerefell, fallow deerefell, unwrought tanned-leather, butter,
hawkes, hobbies, horses, and other staple wares prohibited by the penall
lawes and other irish statutes and ordinances ; as also goulde and silver,
coyned or in bullion ; all which are dayly conveyed in greate abundance
into forraine partes, and brought into Ireland, by certaine merchants for
theire private gains, &c., to the great hinderance of the ordinary pro-
visions for the garrisons and forces there, and of the publique weale suf-
feringe grate scarcetie, whereby excessive prices are taxed uppon all
thinges ; with directions that neither goulde nor silver, coyned or in bul-
lion, be exported, nor any counterfeite coyne of the newe standard, or any
other coyne hereafter in Ireland to be currante be imported ; to EXERCISE
by him or his deputies during good behaviour ; to seize same as forfeited;
to take upp such quantities as may conduce to the better furnishinge of
the Kinge’s provisions and guarrisons, ebc., with an allowance, for his
charges and travill, of one moytie of all merchandizes, &c., soe seized,
and the other moyetie for the provision of the army, or otherwise, as
thought convenient by his majestie, or the deputie and counsell of
Ireland.”

Few frequenters of the markets, held twice a week in the
county town, are acquainted with their origin, which is as
follows. On the 25th June, 1604,! Sir James Fullerton, knight,
received a grant from the Crown of the right to hold a market
in Sligo on every Saturday, and also permission to hold two
fairs every year;? whilst on -the 5th March, 1627, a further

1 Tn this year Donnoghe O’Conor Sligo was knighted.

2 I.e., on the 24th June and 29th September, to continue each for one
day, with Courts of Piepowder. Rent, 10s. Irish. To JamEs FULLER-
TON, GENT., was also granted in reversion, in the first year of James L.
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grant was made to Sir James Craige, knight, to hold a market
in Sligo on every Tuesday, as well as two fairs on the 17th
March and 1st August, and the day after cach at the ‘“ Bishop
O’Crean’s Cross, alias Lagtanaspick,” i.e., the monument of the
Bishop.

Fig. 1.—Birdseye view of Cross, Stocks, and Lock-up, taken from
a Sketch made in the eighteenth century.

The right to hold these markets and fairs was subsequently
confirmed to William Earl of Strafford, and Thomas Radeliffe,
Esq.

Sir James Fullerton also received a license to hold for ever
a weekly Monday market and two fairs on the 1st May and 24th
August, to continue for one day each at the town of Ballymote ;
with Court of Piepowder, and the issues, profits, and free
customs thereunto belonging ; at a rent of 6s. 8d. Irish.

The Court of Piepowder (curize pedis pulverisati) was held
in fairs, to do prompt justice between buyers and sellers; it
was so called from its being generally held in summer, when
the suitors had dusty feet, and the hearing of the cases being

the following premises :—The castle and manor of Ballimote or Ballicle,
in the country called Corren ; the towns of Rathdowne, containing four
quarters of land ; Leighbally-Ne-Nanty, two qrs.; Corhubbuer, 1 qr.; the
third part of the town or four qrs. of Rossellean ; half a qr. of land,
called Carrowrala ; Rahynekilgie, 1 qr. ; Clonyne, 4 qr. ; Dorrawne, 1 qr.;
Gobbedill, 4 qr. ; Ardconnell, % qr. ; the town of Loghervore or Knock-
glasse, 4 qrs.; and the third part of a qr. of land in the County Sligo; all
belonging to the said castle, and containing in the whole 16} grs.; and on
account of the devastation of the country, valued in the whole at the rent
of £5 Irish : total rent, £30 15s. 13d. Irish, being £23 1s. 4}3d. English.
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expeditious, before even the dust was off the feet of the litigants
—for the cause of action must have arisen in the fair. The
adjudicating officer was styled the baron of the fair. This
species of court is now abolished.

In September, 1607, on the flight of O'Neil and O’Donnell—
commonly termed ‘‘ the flight of the Earls ”’—who thus aban-
doned their patrimonies, a portion of Sligo was left within the
disposing power of King James; for, under certain restrictions,
O’Donnell had been acknowledged by the Crown as Liord Para-
mount of O’Conor Sligo. Amongst the maps made in 1609,
of the escheated morthern counties, one of the entire seaboard
of Sligo is included. In an Inquisition taken at Sligo on the
25th July, 1607, before Sir Anthony St. Leger, knight, Master
of the Rolls, the boundaries were declared as follows : Between
the rivers Bundrous and Erne there were twenty quarters of
land found by the jury to belong to the County Sligo, and to be
the patrimony of O’Donnell ; also twenty quarters of the barony
of Tirerrill were found to be foreibly withheld by some of the
inhabitants of Leitrim ; and in like manner the inhabitants of
Mayo withheld from Sligo the seven townlands of ‘ Cowle
Kearney ” in Tireragh.

! CrowN Lanps AND TirsESs 1IN LEASE FROM THE KiNe IN Suico, circa
1607.—John Rawson and Henry Deane, part of Roscribe, late possession
of Gillecrist O'Douche, late of Roscribe aforesaid, attainted ; of land in the
territory of Slightshanboy M’Owen O’Harry, possession of Rory Keoghe
O’Harry, attainted ; lands called Cowla, late possession of Ferdoroghe
M‘Donoghe, attainted ; of lands at Castlecormucke, late possession of
Tymoltagh M‘William O'Harry, attainted ; in Castlecormocke, late pos-
session of Edward O’Harry and others, attainted ; Leigh Carrowtullagh
and Leigh Corrowknapp, late possession of Donald M‘Shane Eglin O’Con-
nor, attainted; the rectory between the two bridges, in the barony of
Carbrie, late possession of the hospital of St. John (without the New Gate
of Dublin), and the monastery of Knockmore.

Jo. Lee, 1 quarter of lands, called Carrowkipp, and 7 quarters of land
in the barony of Leyne, late possession of Donnough O’Harry, attainted.

Martin Lysly, Kearow Ardawn, and Kearow Tawney, late possession
of the monastery of Courte, and the lands called Romroge.

Brian Fitzwilliam, the church of Alternan, late possession of monas-
tery of Knockmoy. :

Lionel Gwyst, or Gwest, the rectory of Skrine aud of Castle Connor.

The total amount of the rents for above is as follows, £10 6s. 9d. The
document is not dated, but is between July, 1606, and December, 1607.
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On the map of 1609, before mentioned, about thirty-eight
castles in Sligo are marked ; they are as follows :—

Ardnnaree, Ca. Conor, Ca. Danin, Ca. Rohan, Ca. Uska-
rowen (Enniscrone), Palinakennie (Pollacheeny), Caxonode,
Ballenahone, Ralegh, Ba-Castlan (Castletown), Rosslee, Dun-
doby, Duncautroghan, Ca. Aghares, Dunnekin, Grangebeg,
Grangemore, Larras, Ca. Ardneglass, Ca. Bonin (Castlequarter),
Tonregone, B. Assidare, Knockmullen, Ca. Collounie, Pace Bal-
lahdrihit, Sligo, Laras (Strandhill), B. Care, Donals, Court,
Bradhillie, Lissadell, Ardeternan, The Grange, Ca. O’Hanley,
Denlighan, Duncarbrie.

Those still extant seem generally—more especially in the
Barony of Tireragh—to have been square towers of no great
strength, with a ‘bawn,” or fortified courtyard (in some

instances) attached, containing sheds for cattle and sleeping .

accommodation for retainers. Ballymote and Ballinafad were ex-
ceptions to this rule, and were Crown castles. There are twenty-
three strongholds marked on the map in the Barony of Tireragh,
although M‘Parlan tries to controvert the ancient tradition that
there were twenty-four miles, twenty-four mills, twenty-four
rivers, and twenty-four castles in the Barony. ¢‘ This story,”
he writes, ‘“is founded in the fancy of ancient times, so fond of
rounding numbers.” The remains of several castles are yet ex-
tant, which are not noticed on this map.

Sir Arthur Chichester, as Deputy, appears to have adminis-
tered justice with an impartial hand ; for in a letter (dated 4th
August, 1607) to the Lords of the Privy Council, he assures
them that before their letter came to hand concerning the trial
of Lieutenant Jones, for the slaying of Mr. Gaseoyne’s son in
the county of Sligo, ‘“ he had left the same to the strictest
course of law that his brother here could think on, notwith-
standing that the offender was otherwise a tall man and well
deserving, and in opposition to the mediation that was made
‘unto him by some that extenuated the fact, and were such that
he would otherwise pleasure in any of their reasonable occa-
sions.” ;

On the 2nd July, 1608, William Crofton, for ¢ extraordinary
service” done for the Crown in his ecapacity of High Sheriff
for the county, was allowed by concordatum £21 6s. 8d., for

P p——
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his “ employment by commandment of the several Vice-
Presidents in Connaught for the safe keeping of Bryan
M‘Donough, committed for high treason, and for the maintain-
ing of a ward of eight men in the castle of Caweclawny
(Colooney) at his own charges, by the space of 80 days.””*

In 1608 the ¢ Establishment ” in Sligo seems to have been
increased from the 1st October, the expense in that year being
£158 8s. 4d. In the year 1602 Roger Jones, when Constable
of Sligo, is returned as receiving neither fees nor pensions; in
fact, it seems as if the town were left comparatively unprotected,
for which reason Mr. Brichenshaw, on the 29th September,
1606, presented a ‘‘ Petition to the Lords—according to his
instructions from the Lord Deputy of Ireland—recommending,
amongst other things, “ to have a ward at Sligo of ten men and
a constable.” Sir James Fullerton received the appointment,
and the °“ Establishment” seems everywhere to have been
increased ; for in 1610, besides the ‘‘ ward” at Sligo, Captain
John St. Barbe® was ¢ constable of a castle on the Curlews”
(Ballinafad) with ten warders; Captain Maurice Griffith was
constable of Drumruske with nine warders; and Sir Richard
Greame, knight, was constable of the ““ Fort of Old Court ” with
nine warders.?

Sir Robert Jacob, Solicitor- Genclal of Ireland, writing to

! Calendar of State Papers.

tTo JoHN SiMBIRBE (or ST. BArBE), GENT., were demised on the
18th of May, 1 James I., six cottages, 120a. arable, 140a. pasture, wood,
and moor, with a parcel of land, called Carenonalia, in Grangeneman-
agh, and Templenemanagh, in ‘‘ M‘Donoghekhorne’s country ;” 6 cot-
tages, 60a. arable, 160a. pasture and moor in great and little Grange, in
Tireragh, in ““ O’Dowde’s countrie;”’ one castle, 8 cottages, 80a. arable,
180a. pasture and moor, in the ‘‘grange of Tuskerrie,” alias Cowlkirrie ;
one ‘“‘newe castle ” built by Hugh O’Hart, 7 cottages, 30a. arable, 40a.
pasture and moor, in ‘‘the Grange in O'Connor Sligoe’s countrie;” a
chief rent on 180a. arable in ‘‘ M’Dermott’s countrie,” in the County
Sligo, parcels of the temporal possessions of the Monastery or Abbey of
Boyle. The Grange of Minterolis, Templenemanagh, Grangenemanagh,
near Ballymote, Grangemore, Grangebegg, and Tulskerie, or Cowlkirrie,
extending into the ‘‘ townes ” and hamlets of Conor-o-bole, Grangomul-
chourie, Toulske, Muterolis, Templenemanagh, Grangenemanagh, Grange-
more, Grangebeg, and Tulskerie or Cowlekirrie.

? Calendar of State Papers and Carew MSS.
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Lord Salisbury, Secretary of State, on the 18th August, 1609,
informs him that 0’Connor Roe and O'Connor Sligo (two of the
greatest Irish Lords in Connaught) both died while they were
holding their sessions at Sligo. . . . O’Connor Sligo died
without issue, and his land is descended to his brother Donnell
0’Connor, who is a widower, of the age of four or five and
thirty years. He is to marry with one of the Earl of Desmond’s
daughters ; he speaks English well; he was bred up in the wars
in France; the people have a great opinion of him, and he is
like to prove an honest man if his graffing upon a crabbed stock
do not alter his proper nature.”

In 1611 there appears to have been a good deal of corre-
spondence relative to the knights and burgesses to be sent to
the Parliament which was to assemble in Dublin. New
boroughs were to be made, but only such places were selected
as would almost certainly return Protestants. Ballinafad, being
the King’s fortress, was at once erected into a borough ; some
little hesitation appears to have arisen regarding Sligo, which
however, was at last overcome, and the same year it also was
erected into a borough, bat the deed of incorporation bears
date the 80th March, 1613. Its constitution was as follows :
A Portreeve and twelve free burgesses and commonalty; the
Portreeve and burgesses to return two members to Parliament.
The Portreeve to be chosen on the 24th June, and sworn before
his predecessor on the 29th September of every year. Upon
any vacancy within the year, a Portreeve to be chosen within
fifteen days, and a burgess within seven days, to supply such
vacancy. On every Tuesday a Court of Record was to be held,
with power to determine all actions of debt, &c., not exceeding
five marks. They could assemble and make by-laws, have a
mercatory guild, and a common seal; could have two sergeants
at mace, and other inferior officers—to be appointed during
good behaviour or pleasure. The Portreeve was to be clerk of
the market.

On the 19th December, 1621, was further granted a charter
of incorporation of a mayor, two constables, and merchants of
the staple, with the same immunities and privileges as were
contained in the charter of the staple granted to Youghal. The
two first members chosen by the borough of Sligo to sit in the
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Parliament which assembled in Dublin in April, 1618, were
Henry Andrews and Edward Southwork of Dublin, Esquires.

The following interesting correspondence relates to the dis-
puted settlement of the property of O'Conor Sligo :—

¢¢8Slign: To our very good Lord, the Lord Chichester, Lord Deputy
of the Realme of Irelande.

¢“ From the Lords of the Councell, concerninge the Countess of Des-
mond and concerninge the recoverie, ect.

¢ Of the last of Maye, 1613—Rec? 24" of June.

‘“ After our very hearty commendations to yr Lp. We did heretofore
address our Letters unto ycu on the behalf of the Countess of Desmond
concerning advantage that was taken uppon some nyce construction
or omission of words in the conveyance of joynture, together with a
misdalinge with a Writt, and such like mistakeings which was like to draive
her into greate extreamities, if some course were not taken for the pre-
venting thereof, not expecting to have hearde anything further in that
matter. Howbeit shee hath nowe of late exhibited a petition unto us com-
plaining that Capten Faithful Fortescue, Guardian to Charles O’Connor,
hath appointed one Waldron to prosecute suite against her, and hath pro-
cured an office to be founde, and sued forthe a writt of error to over-
throwe the Recovery past of the Towne of Sligo and other lands parte of
her joynture, contrary to the directions of our former letters, together
with divers other particulars which she will acquaint your Ld. withall.
And forasmuch as she is growne aged and hath not long to live, and can-
not attend the defence of these suits as is expedient. We doe therefore
once again pray y" Lp" to showe her as much favour as may be affourded
to a lady of her years and quality, and as by our former letters is required
that shee may at length be freed of theise unexpected troubles, by some
such expedite and friendly course as in y* wisdome you shall think meete
without further trouble to his Ma® or to us. And soe we bid yo* Lop"
hartely farewell. From Whitehall this last of May, 1613.

¢ Your Lps. very loving freinds,

¢ G. CanT. T. ErLesMEre CAUD. H. NORTHAMPTON.
¢“ PEMBROKE. T. SUFFOLKE. GILL. SHREWSBERRY.
‘W, Kx~oLLys. JuL. CESOR. THo. CARRY.
ENCLOSURE.

““The letter from the Lds. of the Councell in the Countesse of Desmond’s
behalfe, if so it stands, with yor Lps. likeinge may be answered as fol-
loweth.

‘“ Touchinge the Writt of error procured for the removinge of the Record
into the King’s Benche for overthrowinge the Recovery, yt was not done
at the mediacion of the Patentee onely, but by a petition preferred unto
y* Lo. by th’ uncle of the childe, who found himself most grieved, for as the
same is conceived it tendeth onely to his overthrow, and others for the
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Queene’s Ma' was most graciously pleased in the 44' yeare of her raigne to
graunt by letters patentes under the great seale of England these lands in
taile, viz., to Sir Donnogh O’Connor duringe his naturall Life, and to the
heires males of his body lawfully begotten, and for want of such issue the
remainder unto Daniel O’Connor, his brother, by a second venture during
his naturall life, and to heires males of his body lawfully begotten, and to
certaine others in remainder. Nowe the limitacions of the uses uppon
Recovery stand thus, that the Recov'ors shall stand seised to the use of
Ellinor Countesse of Desmond, during her naturall life, and afterwards to
the Right Heires of Sir Donnogh O’Connor. Sir Donnogh has two sisters
nowe alive, so all the lands in her Recovery which is the best parte of all the
lands conveyed by the said letters patents, are cast upon heires generall of
the said Sir Donnogh. And if she dye they may enter as next heire, wherby
the Queen’s gracious intention is meerely voyde, the cause appearinge thus
to y* Lps. you were pleased for the releefe of th’ uncle, and for setling the
estate in remainder in the childe, who is nowe in his Ma" ward, to give
direction that some course should be held for the overthrowing of the said
recovery which hath been hitherto followed without effect, not with any
intention, as y* Lip®. have oft signified unto her by y" letters to debarre her
of any of those lands truely intended unto her by the Recovery ; so that in
this she hath done yo" L*. most apparent wronge, for you did not onely pro-
mise to her to secure it unto her duringe the minoritie, but also to have it
confirmed unto her by an act of State bothe in this Kingdome and in
England duringe her naturall life, which honorable offer in myne opinion
should rather have bound her to thankfulness than through ingratitude to
complaine. The grounds for the overthrowe of the Recoverie by Writt
of error are noe nice constructions or omission of words but maine points,
publishinge some sinister practises, ect., ect., ect., so as it cannot appeare
that it was done by Sir Donnogh his privitie, and that maketh the matter
more suspicious. There is no returne uppon the Writt of entrie at all,
besides many grosse errors of validitie sufficient to frustrate the proceed-
ings.

¢“And as for the lands which she pretendeth title unto, and were found
by the office taken before Sir Dominicke Sarsfield at Sligo, it standeth
thus. There were past in her recovery thirteene castles, one hundred
messuages, ten gardens, four thousand acres of land, one thousand acres
of meadowe, six thousand acres of pasture, one thousand acres of wood, one
thousand acres of moor, and three thousand acres of heathe in Sligo, Bally-
mahary, Court, Bradcullon, Lyssedoyle, Altermon, Derrielehane, Carricke,
Capponagh, Ballydrieholt, Bunnie, Moylagh, and Downeile, which in truth
are all the Castles in the County of Sligo, and the most part of all the lands
passed by the letters patents, and she doth enjoy them, but under colour
of her generall wards she would scke to draw in other lands which were
neverany partor parcell of the before-recited towns, but known by severall
names to be distinct lands and belonging to other septs. And at the in-
quirie she did produce her Recoverie, and her lawyers did inforce it ; yet
notwithstanding, the Jury, who were of the sufficientest gentlemen of the
County, found that it was not included in her Recovery. And because I
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would free myself from any taxinge of misdemeanour, th’ office was no
sooner made up and filed, but issued forth a Scire fac®. in Michellmas terme
in fav® of her, that shee might shewe cause, if any she could, why we should
not have the possession where by the course of the courte wee were to have
a seysure. Shee had all Hillary Terme to plead, and fedd us all that
terme with delayes, as may appear by severall orders in the County of that
terme. Easter Terme she did the like, and the judges in favor of her
gave her Trinitie Terme to answere. And at last after pleadinge, the
matter havinge bene well heard and sufficiently debated, the judges found
that shee had no color of right to the said lands, as by their order of this
terme herewith sent unto y* Lo: may appeare. I know not what reasons
the Lady hath to use those strange courses of complainte, considering that
shee and her daughter have the best part of all the lands belonginge to the
Orphane, and the Patentee not having above some one hundred and fortie
pounds a yeare, and had not yo* Lp. had a more honorable care to preserve
the state of the boy, all the lands had reverted back to Sir Willm Say,
which were purchased by S* Donnogh from him, and for which yo Lo.
paid five hundred pounds. I have sent y* Lo. a particular note of so
much lande as shee pretendeth right unto, which were found by the office
with the difference of their several titles, all which I leave to your
honno® consideration.

““ Endorsed :—A Declaration of Waldron’s proceedings w* the Coun-
tess of Desmond. -—Correspondence of the Irish Gout.

¢“The Order conceived for yssuing forth of a seizure to seise into the
King’s hands the lands found by Office taken before Sir Dominick Sarsfield
and Sir Ro™ Jacobe at Sligo.

““ Diei Veneris, xviii Janui.
¢¢8ligo, m* uppon motion of Mr. Atty Penrall one his Mai'* behaulfe,
& cettra.”’

O’Donovan, in his translation of the Genealogies, Tribes,
and Customs of the Hy I'iachrach, observes that in the reign of
James I. a great change amongst the landholders took place in
the Barony of Tireragh; William Chapman, Esq., received a
grant of Rossleagh, and William May, Isq., a grant of Castle-
conor, which had been till then one of the principal seats of the
0’Dowds, whose power was at the time completely broken—
not so much by lnglish pressure, as by constant strife with
O'Conor and the Burkes.!

! List or CHIEF GENTS FIT TO BE INSERTED IN THE COMMISSION OF THE
Peace ror THE County oF Suico.—Lord St. Leger, Sir Roger Jones,
Custos Rotulorum; John St. Barbe, Edward Crofton, David O’Dowd,
Swine MacDonough, George Crofton, Provost of Sligo ; Owen MacDermot,
Cormac O’Hart, William Harrison, Charles Dowd, Andrew Crean, James
Dowd, Teighe O'Hagan, James O’Connor, Swine MacDermott. (4.D.
1616.) MSS., F., 3,15, 1.C.D.



14 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

Widely varying estimates of the Protestant population of
Sligo, and indeed of the whole Province of Connaught, are to be
met with. The extent of land in the County Sligo which was
forfeited to the Crown, and given or sold to Protestant settlers,
is surprisingly small, a great proportion of the grants of James I.
being confirmations of title to old proprietors, who had surren-
dered the lands which they held by Irish tenure, and received
in licu a formal and legal title by English tenure from the
King.

It may be desirable to give some explanation of the prin-
cipal kinds of tenure—(1) In Capite, (2) as of the Castle of
Dublin, dc., (3) in Common Soccage—by which lands were in
the seventeenth century held from the Crown.

(1) In Capite implied that the grantee held direct from the
King, and was bound to perform ‘‘ the service of a knight to the
King;"” the rendering of which service being sometimes imprac-
ticable, a ruinous expense was thereby incurred in providing a
substitute ; and in addition, grantees were subjected to many
other most oppressive obligations.

(2) As of the Castle of Dublin was a less oppressive tenure,
although it was occasionally burdened with knight’s service.
The land being held, not from the King direct, i.e., in capite,
but through the Castle of Dublin, which belonged to the Crown,
the tenure entailed less burdensome obligations, and it was an
equally valid title.

(3) Land held in Common Soccage secured the grantee
against oppressive exactions, and this species of tenure implied
only certain services in husbandry, to be rendered by the tenant
to the proprietor of the fee; the term soccage is said to be
derived from the French word soc—a ploughshare.

The commissioners sent over from England to examine
into the state of the Irish Revenue, suggested to King James
the resumption of all the lands of the Province of Connaught,
and this project flattered the King's taste for colonizing. The
landed proprietors of Connaught, however, were naturally thrown






CHAPTER XI.

PERIOD OF CHARLES THE FIRST.

<t The cottage is sure to suffer for every error of the Court, the Cabinet,
or the Camp. When error sits in the seat of power and authority, and
is generated in high places, it may be compared to that torrent, which
originates in the mountain, but commits its devastation in the vale.”

WN 1682 occurred the arrival in Ireland of Thomas
Viscount Wentworth, better known by his subse-
quent title of Earl of Strafford. Saxon and Celt
alike felt his iron rule as Lord Deputy. One of
his first acts seems to have been the survey of Con-
naught. The scheme (delayed by the death of James I.)

which Wentworth now apparently sought to carry out,
was nothing less than the establishment of British settlers in
the entire of the western province. The Elizabethan grant to
the Sligo landholders, in 1585, gave them, it was then supposed,
an indefeasible title; but the point now raised by the Crown
lawyers was, that the Lord Deputy was not authorized by the
Queen’s letters to grant any estate; that the arrangement was
merely a composition of taxes, and that those tenures granted by
James were obtained on false grounds, and carried out without
due attention to the royal directions. The landed proprietors
of Connaught, on their composition made with Sir John Perrot,
had surrendered their estates to the Crown and received re-grants,
but they had neglected, in many instances, to enrol their sur-
renders, or to take out letters patent. James I. had issued a
commission to receive the surrenders which were re-granted by
new letters patent; but although three thousand pounds had
been paid by the landholders for the enrolment of their patents,
yet the officials had neglected to do so. The omission, thus
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taken advantage of by the Crown, was clearly not the fault of
the proprietors. The records of State were now ransacked to
ascertain the King’s original title to Connaught. It was dis-
covered that in the grant of Henry to De Burgo, five cantreds
were reserved to the Crown—that the grant comprised the
entire Province which was alleged to have been forfeited by
Aedh O’Conor, the Connacian chieftain, and that the lands and
lordship of De Burgo descended lineally to Edward IV., and
were confirmed to the Crown by a statute of Henry VII.

Special Commissions were directed to Viscount Ranelagh
(head of the Connaught Presidency Court) and others, under
which authorpity they were empowered to empanel juries to
enquire into the titles under which the whole territory of
Connaught was held. Wentworth himself journeyed thither to
enforce the taking of the Inquisition. The County Leitrim sur-
rendered without a trial, and the example set in Roscommon was
followed in Sligo, where the Court was held on 20th July, 1635.
‘Wentworth, however, writing from Boyle on the previous 14th
July, seemed not quite easy in his mind, for he states, ‘“ There
is much muttering, we shall meet with opposition in the County
Galway;” and in Galway alone the jury were deaf to every
argument, refusing to find the title of the Crown. The enraged
Wentworth muleted the sheriff and the jurors in such severe
penalties for their alleged obstinacy, that the proceedings of the
Lord Deputy, not in Galway alone, but also in Sligo and the
other Connacian counties, were represented in England with
every circumstance which could possibly intensify public feeling,
and they afforded ample material for invective to his already
numerous enemies. Even when the title of the Crown had
been found (as in Sligo) without show of resistance, yet the
threatened plantation exasperated the landholders, and renewed
the old jealousy of the natives against the English settlers.

A MS. Survey of Sligo, made during the years 1633-5, seems
to have comprised the entire county, with perhaps the exception
of a small portion of the half barony of Coolavin, and that
part of the parish of Rossinver which is within the present
bounds of the county. In the Library of the British Museum
the MS. of this Survey was accidentally discovered (Harl. MS.,
2048), bound up in a thick volume, containing forty-seven

c
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tracts, most of them relating to Ireland ; there were also lists of
officers and fees, customs returns, ordnance, army lists, lists of
baronets, Members of Parliament. Its chief importance, how-
ever, consists in a Survey of the greater part of Connaught, the
tracts relating to which are as follows :—

¢¢38. A Particular of the Halfe Barroney of Coolelavin, in the Dioces
of Achonra, and County of Mayo, or of Sligoe, 332.
¢ 39. Particular of the Barronie of Carbrey, in the Dioces of Elphin,

337.

¢¢40. Particular of the Barronie of Leyney, in the Dioces of Achonree,
353.

‘41, Particular of the Barronie of Tyrreragh, in the Dioces of Killala,

373.

€42, Particular of the Barronie of Terrerill, in the Dioces of Elphinn,
Countie of Sligoe, 387.

¢“43. Particular of the Quarters of Land in each Barrony within the
Countie of Roscommon, 423.

‘“44. Particular of the Quarters of Land in each Barrony in the County
of Mayo, 445.

€45, Particular of the Barronie of Corren, in the Dioces of Achonra,
484.

“46. A Boocke of euerie man, his particular Estate of Lands in the
Barrony of Clanwilliam, contayninge 12 Myles in Length and 6 Myles in
Breadth, 505.”

About twenty years subsequent to the compilation of this
MS., Dr. William Petty (who had undertaken the entire Survey
of Ireland) applied for the use of Strafford’s Survey of Tip-
perary, to guide him in his work. A committee was appointed
to examine the documents required by him, and they (amongst
other things) reported—*‘ Wee further certifie that besides these
wee find . . . of the countye(s) . . . . Sligo . . . . an official
enquiry, made by virtue of a commission from the late King,
of all that were reputed proprietors of lands within each barrony
of the said county distinctly, and what estates each of them
claimed, in possession or reversion; and what or how many
townes, quarters, cartrons, or other quantities or denominations
of land, any or either the said particular persons held, and what
were the several name or names of the said lands; but neither
the quality or number of acres, according to twenty-one foot to
the perch, or value of said lands, were by the said Commis-
sioners to be enquired after, mentioned, or exprest.”
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This is deseriptive of the contents of the MS., except that
the then yearly value of the lands is given in almost every in-
stance. '

From internal evidence it is obvious that this voluminous
Survey of the lands of the proprietors in the County Sligo was
made in the years 1632, '33, ’34, and '35, and that it had been
compiled perhaps from some previous documents—judging by
the expression ¢ swalled upp in the Commission booke for 1 qr.,”
when the scribe evidently knew that there was in point of fact a
larger quantity of land than that given in the MS. The seribe
would appear to have been himself a man in authority, for in a
few instances he expresses himself in the first person, as, I
finde some lande wanting here.”” ‘I know not for what rent.”
1 cannot find uppon what terms” (in two instances). ‘I can-
not tell.” ‘“ And gesse you yor selfe how these 2/3 comes to be
8 cartrons.”

The Survey of Sligo by baronies enumerates (1) the parishes
of which they are composed ; (2) the quarters into which each
parish was subdivided ; (3) the manner in which the tithe was
divided—almost invariably into four parts; (4) the name of the
then incumbent and of the Church lands. This portion of the
MS. is given in its entirety ; as is also the Survey of the Half-
barony of Coolavin.!

A congiderable portion of the MS., however, has been re- -
arranged, and is given in the Appendix, in the form of a rental
of the property of each landholder in the County Sligo. It is,
of course, greatly abridged ; for in the original, the name of each
quarter—its sub-denominations—the nature of the soil—its situ-
ation and capabilities—whether wooded or not—the name of the
proprietor—his title to the land—the names of the tenants—the
duties exacted from them—the castles, mills, fishing weirs, and
yearly value, are noted down with the greatest exactitude.

The following brief summary of the names of proprietors in
the County Sligo, according to the Survey of 1633-35, is here
given, together with some particulars relative to the various septs
or families, for the purpose of enabling the reader to form a clear
idea of the distribution of the land in the early part of the
seventeenth century.

! Vide Appendix to 1st Volume, p. 402. .
[o]
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It is evident that at the period of this Survey, the power of
O’Conor Sligo was greatly broken ; his property had long been
subjected to a crushing jointure payable to the Countess of Des-
mond, and it was now deeply mortgaged. After a statement of
0’Conor’s rental come those of other members of his family,
also of their former supporters, the O’Harts and O’Creans.
Heavy mortgages on the property of O’Conor and of several other
proprietors were held by Patrick Plunket and Patrick French,
who both appear to have but recently settled in the County
Sligo, and to have come from the Pale, perhaps from Louth.

Of all the chiefs anciently subject to O’Conor Sligo, O’Gara
alone retained his inheritance in a great measure intact. The
O’Garas or O’Gadhras were descendants of the youngest son of
Oliol Olum, King of Munster in the third century. The original
territory of the O’Garas—of great extent—consisted of the dis-
trict in the County Mayo known as Sliabh Lugha, and of the
present baronies of Leyny and Corran, in the County Sligo ; but
after the Anglo-Norman invasion, the O’Garas were driven to
seek another territory, and this they acquired within the distriet
anciently known as Greagraidhe, portion of which was subse-
quently called Coolavin, i.e., the angle corner of the O’Finns—
now designated the half-barony of Coolavin. In a locality
called from them Moy O’Gara, i.e., O’Gara’s plain—situated on
the morth-east extremity of Lock Techet, now known as Lough
Gara—they built their principal castle. To the literary tastes
of the head of the race, Fergal (or, as the name is written in
the MS. of 1634, Farrill) O’Gara, chief of Coolavin, M.P. for
the County Sligo from 1628 to 1640, we are indebted for the
compilation commonly known as ‘ The Annals of the Four
Masters.” He was brought up a Protestant, and was educated
in Trinity College, Dublin, where he remained from his twelfth
to his eighteenth year, his guardian being Sir Theobald Dillon,
Knt.! About the year 1618, either he or his guardian had
surrendered his estates to the Crown, and received them back on
English tenure. These lands were formed into the Manor of

114 James L, xxv., 47. Grant of the wardship of Farall O’Gara,
grandson and next heir of Iriel O'Gara, for a fine of £8 17s. 94d. and an
annual rent of £11, retaining thereout £9 Eng. for his maintenance and
education.
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Moygara, with power to create tenures and to hold courts leet
and baron.!  According to the MS. Survey, the tithes payable to
the Church from the half-barony of Coolavin (O’Gara’s property)
were divided into four parts, of which the bishop had one share,
Sir Robert King (in right of his inheritance of the Abbey of
Boyle) had two shares, and Mr. Sharpe, the incumbent of ¢ Gill-
froy or Clonohiglish Parish,” the remaining fourth. Lord Dillon
asserted his right to the quarter-land of ‘“ Drommachen,” stating
that it was situated in the County Mayo, and was his inherit-
ance. The townland of Cuilmore had passed into the hands of
Mr. Dodwell, and Knocknaskeagh was the property of O’Conor
Sligo. As will be seen, on perusal of the Survey of Coolavin, a
great portion of the half-barony appears to have been densely
wooded ; the then money value of the district was but £510 per
annum ; the portions of the Parishes of Kilcolman, Kilfree,? and
Killaraght, which form the present half-barony, are now valued
at £9,877 per annum.

The O’Haras are of the same lineage as the O’Garas, being
also descended from Olioll Olum, King of Munster, who married
Saba, daughter of ¢ Con of the Hundred Battles.” The division
in the sept occurred, it is stated, in the tenth century, the
O’Garas retaining the Mayo portion of the territory, together
with the half-barony of Coolavin, and the O’Haras ruling Leyny
and part of Corran. Sir John Perrot’s agreement with the Sligo
chiefs in 1585 shows that there were then numerous sub-chiefs
. of the name, the principal of them being O’'Hara of Coolaney,
chief of his name, sometimes designated O’Hara Boy, to distin-
guish him from O’Hara Reagh, who resided at Ballyhara. In
the commotions of 1641 this latter branch of the family for-
feited their estates ; some members of it, however, rose to dis-
tinction in foreign services. Fortunately, the O’Hara Boy, who

114 James 1., lviii., 25.

2 In this Parish there is a townland named Rathmadder,which, though
not mentioned in the MS. Survey, occurs in the grant to O’Gara of 1618.
Possibly the name, remarks P. W. Joyce, may preserve some dim memory
of the revelry carried on in olden times within the rath or residence of the
chief. The mether or meader was a drinking vessel (commonly made of
yew), quadrangular in shape, furnished with two or four handles for the
convenience of passing it round the table from hand to hand; it was
called meadar, because used for the drinking of mead, i.e., ale; or metheglin.
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was living in 1566, took to English ways and customs, and after
Sir Donnell O’Conor had presented him to Sir Henry Sidney at
Sligo, he went over to the court of Queen Elizabeth. His son,
or descendant, Teige O’Hara, afterwards took out a grant of his
property by English tenure (the grant containing, amongst the
rest, four quarters of land of the ‘“estate of Teaghtemple,” or
Temple-house). He also was given the right to hold a yearly
fair at Coolaney on the 15th August, with a Court of Piepowder
and the usual tolls, and he could also hold a court baron ; the
O’'Hara seems to have been the only Sligo chief who unreservedly
adopted English ideas.

The threatened plantation of Connaught raised up a host of
applicants for the lands which were supposed to be in the King's
gift. The property of the O’Haras seems to have been specially
coveted, for in Strafford’s Letters there is recorded an application
to Archbishop Laud from a Scottish nobleman for the estates of
O’Hara Reagh and O’Hara Boy. He offered to build and
“plant the land with British,” and to pay such rents as the
Lord Deputy should think just. Though strongly recommended
by Laud to Strafford, this project came to naught through the
downfall of the Lord Deputy.

The O’Higgins were neighbours, and probably had been sub-
chiefs of the O’Haras; for in an inquisition held in Sligo, in the
year 1617, it was found that five members of the O’Hara family
had been implicated in the death of Teigue Dall O’Higgin, his
wife and child, and that his son Teigue Oge O’Higgin was twelve
years old at the time of the father's death. Some writers assert
that O’'Higgin was killed in consequence of a satire he had com-
posed on the O’Hara family ; but it is more likely that the cause
of conflict arose out of some dispute about their lands, which ad-
joined. The O’Higgins forfeited their property, but several of
the family rose to distineticn in foreign military service.

The only members of the sept of MacDonnogh who appear
to have retained any portion of their former position were Brian
Oge MacDonnogh, of Collooney, and Tirlogh MacDonnogh, of
Cryvagh ; other members of the sept were numerous, but pos-
sessed each only the smallest amount of property. The Mac-

Dermots—an offset of the MacDonnoghs—had two representatives
of the name.
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The 0’Dowd retained a mere fraction of his ancient inherit-
ance, but several small proprietors of the name still remained in
Tireragh ; there were also representatives of the MacSwynes, the
Albonaghs, and the MacDonnells. David O’Dowd, the repre-
sentative of the ancient line of Tireragh chiefs, was made a ward
on the death of his father in 1603. His guardian was Lionel
Ghest, and he was educated at Trinity College, Dublin. He
came of age in 1612, and took possession of his father’s lands
without ‘“suing out livery of seisin”—a legal form then re-
quired to make his title good. William Chapman, of Ross-
leagh, ‘made a discovery of same’’ to the Crown, whereupon he
was granted, as was then the custom, a considerable sum, as a
charge on the property thus illegally assumed by the youthful
O’Dowd. In 1618 this William Chapman sold his right to the
above fine to William May, of Castleconnor, O’Dowd’s step-
father, who was the third husband of his mother, Lady Ellinor
Ghest.

O’Flaherty states that in his time (towards the close of the
seventeenth century) O’Banaghan owned considerable property
in Sligo, and claimed to be of Firbolg descent. The name is
perpetuated in the townland of Carrickbanagher.

Other landholders of less note were MacBrehon, MacLary,
MacCallery, MacCranhey, MacNogley, MacRanigh, MacConry,
Finn, Dalley, and O’Cirovan.

We now come to the names of families in the County Sligo,
of pure Saxon or Anglo-Irish descent ; they were as follows :—
Viscount Taaffe (a transplanted proprietor from the Pale), who
was a cadet of a County Louth family settled in Ireland from the
reign of Edward I. Nicholas Taaffe died in 1288, leaving two
sons, John, Archbishop of Armagh, and Richard Fitz Nicholas
Taaffe, of Ballybraggan and Castle Lumpnagh, ancestor of the
Taaffes of Ballybraggan, Athclare, and Ballyneglough, County
Sligo, and of the Viscounts Taaffe, &c. Sir John Taaffe, Knt.,
married Anne, daughter of Theobald Viscount Dillon, and was
in 1628 created Viscount Taaffe of Corran and Baron of Bally-
mote. This family was as highly esteemed by the English as by
the Irish, for when a collateral branch inherited the Irish titles,
the family estates were specially exempted from forfeiture by
acts both of the English and Irish Parliaments.
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The Lords Westmeath, Cork, and Clanrickard, although
having property in Sligo, were otherwise not connected with the
county.

Sir Roger Jones, Constable of Sligo, died in 1637, and
was buried in St. John’s Church, Sligo. His monument there
is in a very dilapidated state, broken into fragments, of which
several pieces are missing. The principal inscription—also
fragmentary—is round the edge of the slab, and is as follows :

Voo o IN. SEPVETVRAMSE SRR RTINS Vottn. .. o s
(aN)No . poMmINI . 1637 . . . . ATISSVE . .

The central inscription also is broken, and is in great part
illegible. The slab measures eight feet three inches by three
feet six inches. To the right reposes the effigy of the knight,
with legs crossed, sword by his side, and his helmet above ; to
the left is the effigy of his wife, in what is commonly known as
the Elizabethan dress; the crest and arms are above.!

Sir Thomas Wenman, Knt., was probably a descendant of
Sir Thomas Wenman, Knt., of Carswell, temp. Henry VIII.

Sir Robert King, Knt., possessed considerable landed pro-
perty in Sligo; he was ancestor of the Earls of Kingston.

It is believed that the first of the Croftons who came to
Ireland was John Crofton, subsequently of Ballymurry, County
Roscommon, but generally described as John Crofton of Con-
naught. He was Auditor-General to Essex, and is the common
ancestor of the Sligo, Leitrim, and Roscommon families of
Crofton. In the Survey of 1633-86 five names are enumerated,
i.e., William, John, Thomas, George, and Edward.

The remaining proprietors named in the Survey of 1633-36
are—Roger Bagger, Clk. ; William Dodwell, Clk.; George Dow-
dall;? Mr. Crow and Mr. Fagan, both of Dublin; John Ridge,

John Nolan, and William Harrison, Esquires ; Robert Nugent,

' The monument appears to have been originally inserted into a wall,
either inside or outside the church.

? ¢ The general opinion is that the Dowdalls, who were a very distin-
guished family in the county of Louth, in the fourteenth and fifteenth
centuries, are one of the old Anglo-Norman families of the Pale ; but the
name is not found in any of the lists of the chieftains who came over
with Strongbow.”—The Genealogies, Tribes, and Customs of Hy Fiachrach,
p. 128, n.
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Captain Bingley, Garod Baxter, Edward Ormsby, Mr. Dorsay of
Galway; Mr. Broonagh, Peter Roe Linch, and Peter Smith.

A curious enfry in the MS. Survey of 1683-36 calls for notice.
When making mention of the townland or quarter of * Carow-
tampull,” situated in the parish of Emlaghfad, barony of
Corran, that denomination of land is described as having g
great scope of bogge and drowninge places,” which latter term
is supposed to designate the holes and quagmires left when
cutting away the peat for fuel. Several bodies have, from time
to time, been dug up from considerably below the surface of

Fig. 2.—Ancient Costume found on the body of a man discovered in a bog
in Killery, County Sligo.

bogs, the persons having evidently met their death through
inability to extricate themselves from the treacherous depths.
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Peat seems to be endowed with marvellous preservative powers.
The corpse of ““a lady”’ clad in antique costume is stated to
have been discovered many years ago on the summit of Ben-
Bulbin ; and so late as the year 1824 the body of a man, com-
pletely clad in woollen garments of antique fashion, was found
six feet beneath the surface of a bog in the parish of Killery.
No weapon was discovered near the corpse, but a long staff lay
under it. The head-dress, which soon fell to pieces, is said to
have been a conical cap of sheepskin. So perfect was the body
when first discovered, that a magistrate was called to hold an
enquiry about it. The figure on page 25, drawn from the
photograph of a person clad in this antique suit—except the
shoes, which are too small for an adult of even medium size—
furnishes a fair representation of the costume of the native Irish
about the fifteenth century. The cloak, or mantle, was com-
posed of soft brown cloth, closely woven with a twill ; in texture,
the coat consisted of a coarse brown woollen cloth or flannel,
with a diagonal twill.

The trousers, or trews, were of a coarser material than the
coat, and consisted of two distinct parts, differing both in coleour
and texture. The legs were as narrow as those of a pair of
modern pantaloons, and must have fitted the limbs tightly.
These closely-fitting trousers are evidently the ancient Celtic
braccee, or chequered many-coloured lower garments; the triub-
hais or truis, explaining, by the way they were attached to the
sacculated portion above, and the shoes below, many hitherto
obscure expressions in Giraldus Cambrensis, especially where
he says, ¢ The Irish wear breeches ending in shoes, or shoes
ending in breeches.”

In the collection of the Royal Irish Academy may be seen a
full suit, and several fragments of woollen clothing. One of the
most ancient specimens of native weaving which has come down
to modern times, is woven with a twill, and, when carefully
examined in a good light, the warp is found to be composed of
three plies twisted together, while the weft consists of the un-
twisted woollen staple. This remarkable peculiarity of the twill
or diaper resembles exactly that figured in the cloak of the
“ Wild Irishman,” engraved in Speed’s map of 1610 (fig. 8);
the same figure also shows the glibb fashion of wearing the
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hair, as well as the kind of leggings or long boots used by the
peasantry at that time. The exaggerations of both Spenser and
Speed, with regard to the mode of wearing the hair, may be
corrected by reference to fig. 4, drawn by a native artist in 1400.
It is an accurate representation of the uncovered head and

Fig. 3.—¢“ Wild Irishman,” from Speed’s Map of the year 1610.

flowing locks of the second archer in the Knockmoy fresco, and
it accords with the description of O’Neill’s gallowglasses, who
accompanied their chief to the court of Elizabeth.

Fig. 4, —Glibb fashion of wearing the hair, from the Knockmoy
fresco, circa 1400,

Le Gouz, a Frenchman—and therefore considered to be an
impartial witness—who traversed a great portion of Ireland in
the year 1644, gives a minute description of the costume of
the Irish, not omitting the mantle so characteristic of the

! Catalogue, Museum, R.I.A., pp. 325-29.
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national costume in the reign of Queen Elizabeth, and which
seems, in the time of which we are now treating, to have been
as important an article of clothing to the natives as in the pre-
vious century. ‘‘ The Irish, whom the English call wild, have
for their head-dress a little blue cap, raised two fingers’ breadth
in front and behind, covering their head and ears. Their doublet
has a long body and four skirts, and their breeches are a pan-
taloon of white frize, which they call trousers. Their shoes,
which are pointed with a single sole, they call brogues. . . . . . .
For cloaks they have five or six yards of frize drawn round the
neck, the body, and over the head, and they never quit this
mantle, either in sleeping, working, or eating...... The girls
of Ireland, even those living in towns, have for their head-dress
only a ribbon, and, if married, they have a napkin on the head
in the manner of the Egyptians. The body of their gowns
comes only to their breasts, and when they are engaged in work,
they gird their petticoat with their sash above the abdomen.
They wear a hat and mantle very large, of a brown colour, of
which the cape is of coarse woollen frize, in the fashion of the
women of Lower Normandy.”

To judge by the Survey of Sligo of 1633-36, many tenants of
land in the seventeenth century scem to have held in common,
or the quarter, or townland, was let to a middleman who re-let
to others. Tenants worked out their rent partly in duties. A
good example of the land tenure of the time is given by the
following, extracted at haphazard from the MS. :—

“ Imlaghfada, 2 qrs. The inheritance of my Lo. Taffe, whoe
setts but one halfe quarter of these 2 quarters unto Tumaltogh
Backagh (the lame) O’Scanlan, for £7 per ann., and 4 fatt
muttons, 4 medders of butter, 2 medders of meale, 8 barrells of
malt, 30 workmen, 10 horses for careadge; the duties and rent
come to £11 16s. per annum.”

““A Choshir at Christmas,” i.e., a period of festivities at
the tenant’s house, and at his expense, was also a by no means
unusual duty. Coshering (as it was termed) became such an
intolerable burden on tenants, that Acts of Parliament were
passed for the suppression of the custom, which enacted pains
and penalties on such as lived ‘‘ coshering on the country, and
sessing themselves, and their followers, their horses, and their
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grey-hounds, sometimes exacting money to spare them and
their tenants, and to go elsewhere.” '

¢ A barrell of exceedinge good beere” was another common
duty. It is known that, for making this beverage, the Irish
used heath instead of hops, and in different parts of the country
vats or cisterns, containing a quantity of heath, have been dis-
covered in bogs. Le Gouz says : “ Their beer is very good, and
the eau-de-vie, which they call brandy-wine, excellent.”

A farmer would be much surprised were he now offered only
the current price of “a fat beefe ”” in the year 1633, i.e., twenty
shillings.

Cattle, however, had, since the year 1585, increased in value
by a third, for in an inquisition taken in Dublin 27th November,
1611, and which cites the composition made by the Sligo chief-
tains with Sir John Perrot, it states that if, ‘‘for lacke of
money,” the chiefs were not able to pay their composition rent,
that they could satisfy it in ‘‘ kine to the value of the same rent,
or so much thereof as shall remain unpaid at the rate of 13s. 4d.
for every good and lawful Beofe.”

What would be thought of a landlord of the present day,
who kept a claimant to his estate ‘‘in Gaole at Sligoe these
five yeares past, . ....... for feare to sue him for the said
land ”’—a novel and effectual way to prevent litigation ? There
was also an amiable tenant (one Cormac Duffe O’Hart), who
kept his ground ¢ waste everey yeare untill the end of the yeare,
to vex his neighbors —presumably to entice his neighbours’
cattle away from the close-eaten commonage to his own more
luxuriant ground, and then sue their owners for the damage.

In the Survey may be observed the following entry : —

“ Rosseghterogh and Rossogteragh (Rosses Upper and
Lower), 10 cartrons. The inheritance of the Bhp. of Elphin.
....... Uppon this land is said to be a verie good lead mine
bordering upon the sea.”

In Boate’s Natural History of Ireland, published in 1652,
the writer states that, in his day, there were but three silver and
lead mines in Ireland, one of which was ‘“in Connaught, upon
the very harbour mouth of Sligo, in a little desert island, called
Coney Island.”

Dromdoney was the ancient designation of the present parish






CHAPTER XIL

MASSACRE OF 1641-42.

‘“ For murder, though it have no tongue, will speak with most
miraculous organ.”

‘“ The only history worth reading is that written at the time of which
it treats—the history of what was done and seen, heard out of the mouths
of those who did and saw.”

) ELAND, in his History of Ireland, well observes that
it is difficult, if not impossible, to write of the
transactions now to be entered upon *‘ without
offending some or all of those discordant parties
who have been habituated to view them through
) the medium of their passions and prepossessions.”

It is, however, the duty of an historian to seek out diligently
the most authentic information to which he can attain ; and in
so far as regards the events of 1641-42 in Sligo, the most
reliable source for this purpose is evidently the sworn deposi-
tions of the survivors of the massacre.!

On this subject Sir John Temple says: * The persons ex-
amined were of several conditions, most of them British, some
of Irish birth and extraction, very many of good quality; and
such as were of inferior rank were not rejected if they were
known sufferers, and came freely in to declare what they could
speak of their own knowledge. Few came but such as had
been in the hands of the rebels, and could with sorrowful hearts

1 ¢«These valuable Records were formerly in the custody of Matt.
Barry, Esq., Clerk of the Council, and were among his books sold to Dr.
John Madden, after whose death they were purchased, with other curious
MSS., by our learned and most munificent Vice-Chancellor, John, Lord
Bishop of Clogher.”—MS. Catalogue, T.C.D,
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make the sad relation of their own miseries; and so, they
having been eye-witnesses, their depositions are, for the most
part, made from their own knowledge ; and, as to what is given
in by them upon hearsay, they, for the most part, depose that
they received it out of the rebels’ own mouths, while they were
in restraint among them. Lastly, many of these miserable
persons thus examined came up wounded ; others even almost
famished, or so worn out with their sufferings, that they did
not long outlive the date of their examinations. So that, these
testimonies being delivered in their last agonies, we are in
charity bound to believe that they meant to leave behind them,
with all due circumstances, a clear attestation of such cruelties
as they then bequeathed unto us with their last breath.’*

¢ Those who see in the massacre [of 1641] the explanation
and the defence of the subsequent treatment of Ireland, however
unwilling to revive the memory of scenes which rivalled in
carnage the horrors of St. Bartholomew’s, are compelled to
repeat the evidence once held to be unanswerable.”? Walsh, a
Franciscan friar, writing to Ormond, says: ‘ Your Grace knows
with what horror the Irish nation looks upon the massacres and
murders in the north, committed at the beginning of the rebel-
lion by the rascal multitude upon their innocent, unarmed, and
unprovided neighbours.” 3
. We must now endeavour to review searchingly, but calmly,
the political events of Sligo in 1641.

“It was agreed,” says Leland, ¢ that the rising should be
on the same day and as general as possible, that all forts and
garrisons should be seized, and all the Protestant gentry, and
those well disposed to the Government, made prisoners or other-
wise disposed of.” g

! Temple’s History, p. 6. Edition 1812.

* English in Ireland, p. 83.

* The Irish Colours Folded, 1655-1682. Le Gouz, a contemporaneous
French writer, bears testimony to these cruelties of the Irish. The ship
in which he took his passage from Ireland to France was chased, first of
all, by a Turkish pirate, and then by a man-of-war belonging to the Com-
monwealth. “We should have preferred,” says the traveller, *falling
into the hands of the Turks than of the Parliamentarians, because with
the first we should have been assured of life, but with the others we were

certain of being killed, on account of the massacres which the Irish had
made in their country of the English planters.”
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As in voleanic eruptions, so in popular uprisings, there are
signs and tokens of the seething of the molten mass seeking an
outlet from beneath the thin crust imprisoning it.

Such was the opinion of William Browne of Kilvarnet
(Registrar of the Bishopric of Killala, and of Achonry'), County
Sligo. He feared that the attempt to seize Dublin Castle
(October 23rd), the general bearing of the population, the out-
rages, the robberies perpetrated with impunity, were but pre-
monitory symptoms of a great upheaval specially directed
against the Protestants.

He was further confirmed in that idea on learning, as the
commotions increased, that Brian M‘Kiggan, Guardian of the
Franciscan friars of the Abbey of Creevelea,? near Drumahaire,
had preached a stirring sermon, or exhortation, to the flock of
whom Browne’s superior—the Protestant Bishop of Achonry—
was the supposed guardian. Browne remonstrated in writing,
and sought a personal conference with the friar about the state
of the country, for which purpose the latter arrived at Kilvarnet

' A Royal Visitation Book of 1615 sets down the disused prebends of
Achonry as follows :(—

¢Pr. Kilmoroghe, Pr. Imlafadda, Pr. Clonoghill, Pr. Killoshalwey,
Pr. Killorowe. Hae Praebends spectaverunt (ut asseritur) ad Ecclesiam
Cathedralem Aghadensem ; et tenentur per Edwardum Croftown.

“Pr. de Kilwar et Killowen, Pr. Kilmactege, Pr. Kilneagh et Kill-
edan, Pr Kilpoaree, Pr. Dogharne, Pr. Moynelaghy, tenentur per Epis-
copum.” This Bishep was Miler Magrath.

Another Royal Visitation Book of 1633, in the Prerogative Oﬁice,
describes the prebends of Achonry as follows :—

‘¢ Praeb. Dougherne, Robert White, Preeb. Killoran, John Fargie
(Forgie), Prab. Killosalvie, vacant, worth 4s. per annum. Preb.
Clowneoghill, vacant, worth 10s. per annum. Preeb. Imlaghfadda, vacant,
worth 10s. per annum. Prab. Kilmurrogh, vacant, 12s. Prab. Kil-
laraght, Patrick Campbell, 30s. Prab. Kilmonie, ditto, sequestrator,
8s. Prab. Moynelagh, vacant, 5s. Praeb. Kinave, vacant, 30s. Prab.
Killidan, vacant, 30s. Prab. Kilfree, vacant, 5s. Prab. Kilvarnett,
vacant, bs. Praeb. Kilturrogh, vacant, 10s. Praeb. Kilmacteige, vacant,
10s.”

z Creevelea, i.e., grey branch, or branchy tree, called also Ballymare,
the Carrickpatrick of the ancient Lives of St. Patrick. The abbey is
situated on a height overhanging the river Bonet in the County Leitrim,
in the barony of Drumahaire, and near the village of that name. The
building is said to have been erected in 1508 by Margaret O’Brien, other-
wise O'Rorke.

D
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on the 2nd November, but refused to yield in any degree to
Browne’s remonstrance, and stated the intentions of the Irish in
very plain terms, saying ¢ that the blood that the Binghams
had formerly spilt in the Province of Connaught, and that the
monnaies and fines that had been leavied and taken up from the
recusants in those counties for their conscience c¢ause, would be
now remembered.”?

Browne, in reply, expressed regret that one who ought to
give better advice to the people, should speak in such a strain,
and, amongst other matters, he bade the friar * call to mind
the bad success the Irish had in that rebellion of (15)88, and in
those rebellions of Tyrone, 6Doghertie, and M‘Gwire, and that
God was a just God, and would avenge the cause of the inno-
cent.”

The friar retorted : “ Ah! sir, it will not be so with you
now as it was in those days, for then the Irish of the kingdome
were divided as concerning the title of the Crowne and Crowne
lands; now they had other matters in hand, and there should
not bee scarce an Irishman in all Ireland, that was a Catholique,
that should take part with the Protestant.”

Thus ended the conversation: but it served to intensify
Browne’s alarm ; he immediately communicated his suspicions
fo his friends and neighbours, and posted off to acquaint Lord
Ranelagh, then President of Connaught,? with the general feel-

! T do not nse the language of exaggeration, or overstep the limits of
literal truth, when I say that the position of the Irish Roman Catholics
at the worst period of the penal laws was a paradise when compared with
the condition of the Protestants in France, Spain, Austria, and Savoy, at
the same period.”—Two Chapters of Irish History, p. 127.

? The following is a list of the Presidents of Connaught from the crea-
tion of the office to its abolition :—

Sir Edward Fytton, Knt., first President, June 1, 1569 ; Sir Nicholas
Malby, Knt., Fitton revoked, March 31, 1679; Sir Richard Bingham,
Knt., Malby deceased, 1684 ; Sir Conyers Clifford, Knt., Bingham sus-
pended, 15697 ; Riccard, Earl of Clanricard, Sept., 1604 ; Sir Charles
Willmot, Knt., Clanricard resigned, Sept. 30, 1616 ; Charles V. Willmott
and Roger V. Ranelagh, Sept. 11, 1630 ; Thomas V. Dillon and Henry
V. Willmot, April, 1644 ; Sir Charles Coote, Knt. and Bart., Cromwell’s
Roll of 1655, May 12, 1645 ; Charles E. of Mountrath, Charles II. gave
him a Council consisting of 20 members, March 29, 1661; John Lord
Berkeley, B. of Stratton, E. Mountrath deceased, Jan. 13, 1661 ; John
Lord Berkeley, and John Lord Kingston, April 2, 1666.—LASCELLES,
Lib. Mun. Pub. Hib.
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ing existing, of which he considered the friar to be but the
mouthpiece ; he entreated the Lord President to send a force,
were it ever so small, into the County Sligo, assuring him that
no great numbers would be requisite, for the Irish were then
but badly armed, and had few considerable strongholds.

High officials move slowly, or perhaps the Lord President
may have been in perplexity as to what ought to be done under
the circumstances ; when he did move, it was too late.

The conversation between Browne and the friar exemplifies
the ideas and train of reasoning of the opposing parties. The
one founded their anticipations of success on the supposed
homogeneity of their party, the remembrance of their wrongs,
real and imaginary, together with their great superiority of
numbers ; whilst their opponents relied on the prestige arising
from former success, and on their favourite maxim, ‘‘that
God was a just God, and would avenge the cause of the inno-
cent.”

Connaught was summoned to arms by the conspirators, and
Leitrim was the first county to move. In the commencement
few English fell by the sword; they were either confined in prisons,
where they lay in hourly terror of destruction, or they were
driven from their habitations, naked, destitute, and exposed to
the rigour of a remarkably severe season—dying by thousands
in the highways.

The defection of the Roman Catholic Lords of the Pale took
place early in December, 1641 ; their manifesto was sent into
Connaught, and, amongst other trading towns, it was posted in
Sligo. This manifesto chiefly insisted on the dangerous con-
junction of the Irish Lords Justices with the parliamentary
party in England, and the dreadful scheme of extirpation said to
have been formed against all who should refuse to abandon the
Romish communion. Intelligence of indiscreet or virulent
expressions dropped by the Lords’ Justices in Dublin Castle
being industriously spread through the provinces, made a startling
impression, and the contagion of rebellion by these means
quickly extended fo the County of Sligo.!

Though the Lords of the Pale made common cause with the

! Leland, Vol. IIL., p. 1563. Edition, Dublin, 1814.
D 2
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popular party, there was no real bond of union between them.
The former, proud of their Anglo-Norman descent, looked down
with half-concealed contempt on their Irish allies, who returned
the scorn with interest—*‘ You churls with the great breeches ;
do you think that if we were rid of the other English, that we
would spare you? No! for we would cut all your throats, for
you are all of one race with them, though we make use of you
for the present!” Such was the language openly used by the
‘“ mere Irish rebels” to the * rebels of the Pale.”?

The Irish chiefs of Sligo kept up to the last » semblance of
good faith and loyalty, for on the 10th of November Sir Frederick
Hamilton, then in command of the English garrison at Manor-
Hamilton, received letters from O’Conor Sligo and O’Rorke, con-
taining profuse assurances of unbounded loyalty and apologies
for not having visited and congratulated him on his safe return
from Derry. Although Hamilton put little faith in these pro-
fessions, he answered their letters with politeness, and conjured
them to continue well affected.

Some short time previously, Hamilton had written to the
Lord President of Connaught, describing in pathetic terms the
state of his own castle, as also that of the castle of Sligo.
To the assurances then given in reply, of speedy relief for both
places, he attributed the subsequent massacre at Sligo, for other-
wise the garrison and Protestants of the town would have
evacuated the place, and retreated to Manor-Hamilton ‘¢ before
the Rebellion there [in Sligo] brake out in that height.”?

Towards the close of November, or the commencement of
December, Andrew O'Crean, High Sheriff of the County Sligo,
convened a meeting at Ballysadare of the principal gentry (pre-
sided over by O’Conor Sligo), nominally for the purpose of re-
pressing the incursions * of foraigners, and to suppress the violent
courses of idle persons within county.”

! Deposition of Ambrose Bedell, son of the celebrated Bishop Bedell.

* A True Relation of the manner of our Colonel Sir Frederick Hamil-
ton’s Retourne from London-derry, being 60 miles from his Castle and
Garrison, where he was at the beginning and breaking out of this Rebel-
lion, with the particular services performed by the Horse and Foot Com-
panies which he commanded, garrisoned at Manor Hamilton, in the County
of Leitrim, in the Province of Connaught.—Dublin, printed for Robert
Thornton, 24th October, 1643.
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This is an evident allusion to the excesses of the Irish forces
raised for service in Scotland by Wentworth (afterwards created
Earl of Strafford). Owing, however, to the refusal of Parliament
to vote the necessary funds, these forces had not been despatched
thither, but had long continued to be a grievous burden to the
State. The urgent and repeated remonstrances of the English
Commons made it imperative to disband these levies, and the
King having decided upon sending them into Spain, preparations
were made for their shipment, and considerable sums of money
had been expended for that purpose, when suddenly the Irish
Parliament prevented their embarkation. Amongst other reasons,
the House urged the interests of the State, representing that
these forces might be sent back from Spain to raise insurrec-
tions in Ireland ; but to judge from subsequent events, it seems
not improbable that these specious arguments were artfully sug-
gested by those who entertained designs hostile to English
government, and who were desirous that a number of idle
swordsmen should be retained in Ireland ready for any purpose
of innovation, how desperate soever.!

Throughout the county there were besides numbers of men
without employment, or any regular means of subsistence, and
who were therefore turbulent,and eager for change. The existence
of such a class, and the dangers to be anticipated from it, had
not escaped the attention of contemporaneous observers.

Although the meeting convened in December at Ballysadare
unanimously passed a resolution to keep unbroken the peace of
the county, yet no sooner was it dissolved than many of its
members were found to be engaged in plundering the Protestants.
Foremost amongst them was Brian MacSwine, an idle swords-
man, who had raised some of his sept in the Barony of Tireragh,
as a company of foot for service in Spain, at the instigation of
Theobald Taaffe, afterwards Viscount Taaffe. The MacSwines,
with some of the MacDonoghs, carried off all the goods and
chattels of Thomas Crofton, of Longford Castle, in Tireragh, as
also his cattle, horses, sheep, corn, hay—in short, everything
they could lay hands on—to the value of £3600, which must
have sufficed to support these wild clans for a considerable time

1 Leland, Vol. IIL, pp. 81, 82. Edition, Dublin, 1814,
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in rude abundance. Crofton was almost beggared; he received
no rents from his tenantry for several years, though possessing
a nominal income of £300 per annum-—considered a handsome
eompetence in those days.

A Proclamation from the Lords Justices in Dublin produced
a lull for about a fortnight ; but after another meeting at Bally-
sadare of the Irish Roman Catholic gentry, open hostilities
commenced in Sligo.

Seemingly there were in the town two centres of defence,
O’Crean’s Castle, and Lady Jones’s Castle (which would appear
to have been in close proximity), and both were of sufficient
strength to offer stubborn resistance to the imperfect military
tactics of that age.

Sir Roger Jones, Knt., Governor of Sligo, died in 1637 ; his
widow, however, evidently retained possession of the castle.
Fig. 5 is taken from an eighteenth century rude sketch of
Crean’s Castle, which would appear to have been then modern-
ized.!

Fig. 5.—Crean’s Castle, from an eighteenth century rude sketch.

The Irish forces of the county assembled, and the castles
situated within the town of Sligo—then garrisoned by a com-
pany of Lord Ranelagh’s regiment, under command of Ensign
- Cotton—were surrounded. First arrived the men of Carbury,
~in two large detachments; those from the lower part of the

! Judging of this castle from a map of the town made in the year
1689, there must have been originally some kind of outworks, which were
demolished in more peaceable times. It lay a little back from the road,
at the corner of the present Albert Street, elose to the abbey. In recent
years, when a drain was being opened in the adjoining street, some traces
of the ancient foundations could be observed. Le Gouz, a French tra-
veller who visited Ircland in the year 1644, gives the following general
description of the residences of the better class :—* The castles or houses
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barony, under the command of Teige Briny, Charles and
Hugh O’Conor, brothers of O’Conor Sligo; the other detach-
ment, consisting of those who lived within the bridges (i.e.,
between Ballysadare and Sligo), under command of Donell
MeBrian, Dorrogh and Hugh McCon O’Conor. They quartered
themselves in the houses adjoining the present Church of St.
John’s. Next arrived the men of Leitrim, under O’Rorke; the
other chiefs dropped in one by one. The men of Tirerrill were
led by Brian MacDonogh; those from about Collooney by
Patrick Plunket of Markree; and the Tireragh contingent was
led by Maurice Keogh MacDonogh, Brian MacSwine, and David
O’Dowd. Their spirit was roused, and their religious feelings
excited, by Edmond MacBrian MacSwine of the Order of the
Dominicans of Sligo.

After a preliminary meeting, held in the parish Church of
St. John’s a day or two after the siege of the castles had com-
menced, the chief command of these Irish forces was offered
to O’Conor Sligo, but declined by him, and Brian MacDonogh
accepted the post.

The garrisons of the castles were greatly trammelled by the
crowds of helpless women and children that thronged through
the portals for protection, bearing with them as much of their
goods as they could transport.

The siege lasted from eight to ten days; at last, Cotton, who
was in eommand, being very closely pressed by the besiegers—
who had taken possession of all the neighbouring houses and
points of vantage from whence a musketry fire could be directed
—sent out Andrew (’Crean to negotiate terms of surrender.
After two days’ absence O’Crean returned, but Cotton thought
the proffered terms too hard and broke off the parley, having
previously addressed the besieged, and told them what they had
to expect; he then asked whether they would accept the terms

of the nobility consist of four walls extremely high, thatched with straw,
but, to tell the truth, they are nothing but square towers without windows,
or at least, having such small apertures as to give no more light than
there is in a prison. They have little furniture, and cover their rooms
with rushes, of which they make their beds in summer, and of straw in
winter. They put the rushes a foot deep on their floors and on their
windows, and many of them ornament the ceilings with branches.”
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or hold out, saying that he himself would maintain ‘‘ the holde ”
with such men as were determined ‘ to stick unto him,” but
any that so wished should be dismissed and sent out of the
castle with a pass and two shillings in money. A man named
Mahon Cunningham alone stepped out of the ranks, said he did
not care to hold out to the last, and elaimed his pass and
money; both were immediately handed to him by Cotton.
‘When Cunningham perceived that none of his eomrades fol-
lowed his example, he asked leave to remain, but was at once
disarmed and reproached by “ the said Ensigne Cotton, who told
him that he was unworthy to be trusted in the Castle, for he
was a coward.”

On pereeiving, however, that Lady Jones’s Castle had eapitu-
lated, and his own ammunition being almost exhausted, Cotton
again beat a parley, and surrendered on the terms first offered,
which were briefly as follows :—the garrison to be escorted in
safety to the Abbey of Boyle (then in possession of the English),
taking with them as much goods as they eould carry in a bundle
under their arms. Those who preferred to remain in Sligo were
to retain half of their property, and anyone might elect to
remain a month in the town before finally coming to a decision
either to go to Boyle or to stay in Sligo. The document was
signed by Brian MacDonogh, O’Conor Sligo, and also by the
other Irish commanders. The terms of the capitulation were at
onee broken by the Irish, who had no sooner entered the castle
than they stripped and plundered all the British in the place,
and afterwards kept them closely imprisoned till they were on
the brink of starvation.

When the uproar produced by the entrance of the Irish
after Cotton’s surrender broke out, two ministers, Mr. William
Rycroft,! and Mr. Browne, also Mr. William Welsh, who were
all in Lady Jones’s Castle, called on the Irish officers then

! This William Roycroft, or Ryeroft, was at the time minister of Sligo.
He was ordained deacon, 1611, priest shortly afterwards; was Preben-
dary of Tirbrien, or Agheran, in Elphin. In 1622 he was presented to the
prebend of Drumcliff ; in 1627 he was also Prebendary of Kilcoole, and
he was reputed to be ‘‘ a good Divine and Preacher.”

The following are the names of the clergy of the Established Church
in the County Sligo, in the years 1632-36, taken from the MS. Survey :—
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present to assist in preserving the lives of the Protestants; but
no heed to this appeal was given by those officers, who were as
busily engaged as their men in plundering ; they next addressed
themselves to Brian Ballagh O’Rorke, an Irish gentleman of
their acquaintance, and having given into his hands any little
things of value they wished saved, he drew his sword, and, with
the assistance of his son, made way for them through the crowd.
Rycroft managed to get a message sent by the hands of Hugh
Gaskein, a soldier of the garrison, to Colonel Brian MacDonogh,
in command of the Irish, requesting him to provide an escort
for such of the English garrison as desired to go to Boyle.
MacDonogh ordered Captain Patrick Plunket of Markree to
provide the convoy. Plunket seems to have demurred, where-
upon MacDonogh, a soldier-like, honourable man, pressed that
it was their duty, according to their covenant, and that if it
was not performed, that God would revenge it; that it was the
least they could do, they had made them poor enough, and had
plundered them of all their goods.” Plunket became irate,
declared that he had got hardly anything from the prisoners but
a jar of whiskey (‘“‘on aquawyte pott’’), and that he would do
nothing for them save escort them to the gallows if they were
to be hanged. MacDonogh replied that he, at all events, would
do his duty, and he kept his word by convoying safely to their
destination all who desired to accompany Mr. Rycroft to Boyle.
This is by. no means the only instance of humanity and Churis-
tian feeling displayed by the Irish, both laymen and ehurchmen;
many of them not only tried to save their Protestant friends,
but even dared to denounce openly the crimes and cruelties of
their party. The intemperate language used by Plunket de-
terred many from taking advantage of the escort under his
command, fearing violence at his hands on the way. Such fears
were not altogether groundless, for on the road he compelled

Rev. William Browne, of Kilvarnet, Registrar of the Bishop of Killala
and Achonry ; Rev. John Shrawley, Vicar of Easkey ; Rev. — Oliphant,
Rev. Roger Bagger, Rev. — Connell, Rev. William Dodwell, Rev. An-
drew Fargey, Vicar of Ballymote ; Rev. John Fargus of Kilrass, Rev. —
Hamilton, Rev. Samuel Hawkes, Rev. John Johnston of Killery, Rev.
John King, Vicar of Killmackallen; Rev. John Lange, Vicar of Dro-
mward ; Rev. — Sharpe, Rev. Michael Summers, Rev. Patrick Campbell.
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two English soldiers, James Fuller and Robert Hussey, to join
his company by the threat of hanging them in case of refusal.

Some faint hearts, at the head of whom was a man named
Welsh, chose what they then thought the lesser of two evils : they
elected to remain in Sligo, turned Roman Catholics, and entered
as soldiers into O’Conor Sligo’s company of foot; they could
not, however, avert their fate.

A great meeting or council of the gentry! of Donegal, Lei-
trim, and Sligo—under the presidency of O’Coner Sligo—was
held early in January, 1644, in the abbey, where some of the
English convert soldiers did duty at the gate as a guard of
honour, and after consultation the meeting dispersed. In a
mixed assembly drawn from various counties, there must ne-
cessarily have been many violent characters, and two of the
northern delegates, Hugh and James Boy O’Gallagher, delibe-
rately slew in the public street four poer Protestants,” having
dragged them out from a place of concealment into which they
had crept.

This occurrence took place about two o’clock in the after-
noon. The fears of the Protestants still in the town, as also
the convert soldiers and their families, were at once aroused;
their anxiety was, however, somewhat quieted by a visit from
Hugh and Charles O’Coner, brothers of O'Conor Sligo, who
desired the Protestants to assemble in the gaol (then used as a
guard-house) where would be found a sufficient number of men
to protect them from any dread of a popular tumult ; but several
Protestants, who had been warned by their Roman Catholic
friends, saved themselves by a timely flight.

William Walsh, son of the William Walsh whose name
appears amongst the prisoners in the gaol, on seeing the murder
of the Shiels at two in the afterneoon, had sought refuge with
onc of his father’s friends, Owen McRory O’Conor; he remained

! The following, connected with the County Sligo, were present :—
Capt. Plunket, Capt. Phelim O’Conor, O’'Rorke, Col. Brian MacDonogh,
and the two brothers of O’Conor Sligo, &c. Some of the Protestants
who made depositions, were of opinion that the subsequent massacre was
first mooted at this meeting.

? Namely, William Shiels and John Shiels, his son, together with two
other men, i.e., William Maxwell, and Robert Akin, the one a Scotch-
man, the other an Englishman.
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in hiding whilst there was daylight, and thus escaped being
driven into the guard-house. About eight o’clock in the even-
ing his friend took him, first to visit his father and mother in
the gaol, and then along the street to Lady Jones’s Castle, to
procure from the council a written protection for the family;
they waited in the anfe-chamber for an audience; the door
between the two rooms was ajar, and Walsh there distinetly saw
and heard Owen O’Rorke and his brother, O’Conor Sligo’s two
brothers Teige and Phelim O’Conor (besides others he did not
know), in consultation as to the best way of putting an end to
the Protestants. Walsh’s terror may be imagined; his friend
quietly despatched him to his own house for concealment, and
he there lay in mortal terror through the long night.

From two o’clock p.M., when the Shiels were murdered, up
to the hour when the great massacre took place, the movements
of the murderers can be traced, for the greater number of them
adjourned to a house where one Jane Steward (who deposes to
some of the events) was lodged. Hearing a great commotion
under her window, she got up (being on a sick bed) looked out,
and witnessed the murder of the two Shiels, who were dragged
out of a rick of turf where they had hidden themselves; sho
then dressed and went downstairs, where she found Hugh and
Charles O’Conor, with twelve other men, eating and drinking ;
she prayed a friend of her husband, Brian Ballagh O’Rorke
(who was then in the room) to induce his friends to let her
husband out of prison, but her request was refused. Later in
the evening, a messenger arrived from O’Conor Sligo to the
party carousing, * desyreinge them not to do anything with the
prisoners till the next morning, that hee should sie tham,
whereunto they gave no answer, but sniggled.”

It was the 18th January; the cold wintry sun had long sunk
to rest, the sky was covered with dark, massive clouds; it was
close upon midnight when, well primed with drink, the assassing
sallied forth.

After the thrilling excitement of the day, silence and repose
rested upon the town, and no sounds were heard in the streets.
The unfortunate Protestant prisoners, inmates of the gaol, little
dreaming of the plot for their extirpation, were wrapped in
slumber. Silently the assassins sprang upon the sleepers; the
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work was short but terrible; one after other, every oceupant of
the prison was despatched; neither sex nor age was spared,
and vain were shricks for mercy. Inflamed with drink, these
human tigers were void of pity, ‘““and greedy yet to kill.” Tt
would be difficult to conceive a scene more shocking in all its
details. Unhappily, murders and outrages were no uncommon
occurrences during the civil commotions of the seventeenth
century ; but the wholesale and merciless slaughter in the gaol
of Sligo has rarely been equalled in atrocity, if we take into
consideration the innocence of the victims, the deliberate pre-
meditation of the deed, and the pitiless disregard evinced for
age and sex.

Prostrate with terror, Walsh meantime lay securely hid in
the house of his friend O’Conor. Towards morning his host
came in with intelligence of the massacre in the gaol. Walsh
could hardly believe it, but O’Conor took him to view the
ghastly spectacle. There lay his father, mother, and other
relatives, whom he had seen in health and strength a few short
hours previously—together with other inmates of the prison-
house—all in one gory heap.

What can surpass in thrilling horror the story of this tra-
gedy, as gathered from the pages of the Depositions ? The
imagination can scarcely realize the sad incidents of the fearful
scene enacted in the town of Sligo, and under the shadow of its
venerable abbey.

Sampson Porter, one of the victims, suffered many severities
before death put an end te his sufferings. Peter O’Crean, a
humane Roman Catholic merchant, had ebtained a protection
for him and his family; but whilst O’Crean was absent on
business, some of the Irish fell upon Porter, tied his hands
behind his back, and half hanged and tortured him till he con-
fessed where his scanty hoards were hidden. O’Crean, on his
return home, complained to O’Conor Sligo of the breach of his
protection, but received the same reply which most leaders of
revolution have to give, viz. :—that his followers had got beyond
his control. ;

To be in debt to any of the leading Roman Catholic mer-
chants was a circumstance which offered a favourable chance of
life; so at least found Henry Knott, the son of an English
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trader who owed a considerable sum of money to William
O’Crean ; this creditor implored O'Conor Sligo to save the life
of Henry Knott, as otherwise he would lose all chance of the
debt due by the father.

A woman named Isabella Beard was in the Friary close
adjoining the gaol, and hearing dreadful shrieks and cries from
the guard-house, ran out into the street to see what was the
matter ; she was pursued by one of the * frier’s men,” ran in
terror into the river, and was there murdered in a most revolt-
ing manner. Distracted by the barbarity of these outrages,
which he was powerless to control, the Prior of the Abbey of
Sligo *“fell frantick, and ran soe about the streets, and con-
tynued in that frenzie for 8 or 4 weekes.”

The people employed in burying the slain worked mid-leg in
the blood and brains of the victims. Scant ceremony was ob-
served : a large pit was dug in the garden of Mr. Ryeroft, who
was minister of Sligo;' the bodies, about forty in number, were
carried out and cast promiscuously into the trench. The lives
of four of the vietims were spared, who had been found still
alive, though fearfully wounded ; their names were Robert
Gamble, Provost of Sligo; Edward Newsham, Edward Mercer,
and John Steward, son of Jane Steward, whose husband was
there murdered.

The morning after the massacre, Elizabeth, wife of James
Scott, who had been murdered in the gaol, tried to escape from
the town, but was seized on the bridge as she was crossing the
river, and killed with circumstances of great barbarity. It
would seem as if the waters of the river had been polluted by
the blood and decomposed bodies of some of the slaughtered ;
also the atrocities perpetrated in Sligo may have aroused the
superstitious feelings of that ignorant age, at least amongst
the lower classes ; for Jane Steward deposes ‘‘ that whereas the

! The following is, as far as can be ascertained, a list of the vicars
and rectors of St. John’s, Sligo :—1635, William Newport; 1641, William
Ricroft, Rycroft, or Roycroft; 1661, Cleremont Panham, p».p.; 1666,
John Wilkinson ; 1681, Coote Ormsby (previously Chaplain to the Lord
Lieutenant of Ireland) ; 1694, John Fountaneen, to 1730 ; in 1770, Eubule
Ormsby died ; 1771, Manly Gore; 1776, Wensly Bond ; 1822, Charles
Hamilton ; 1846, Edward Day; 1876, A. M. Kearney, Archdeacon of
Elphin, present vicar.

’
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river of Sligo was before very plentiful of fish, it did not for a
long time after those murthers afford any fish at all ;””* she also
saw “the friers in their white habits, in great companies in
procession, going to sanctify the waters, casting therein holy
water.” The terrible cruelties perpetrated on Protestants were
supposed by the survivors of that party to have been visited with
the anger of the Almighty. The leaders of outrage and murder
were reported by the Puritanical party to have been struck with
madness, or some loathsome disease ; the spirits of the mur-
dered were reputed to have been seen hovering in the air, or
walking on the waters, and then the voice of God’s anger was
heard in awful thunder-claps.?

! This was a common belief amongst the Protestants. John Hickman
of Cavan in his deposition states, that after the Protestants were drowned
in the river Erne, he heard ‘“‘divers of the rebels complain that they
could not get bream, pike, or other fish in that river, since the English
were drowned there, as formerly they had done; and they used to say
that they (the Irish) thought all the fish and the English had gone away
together.”—Ireland in the Seventeenth Century, Vol. IL., p. 24. Other
instances could be quoted, and, with regard to the Sligo river, St. Patrick’s
blessing, as given in Septima Vita, Lib. I1., Colgan, Trias. Thawm., p. 140,
xcviil., was for the time suspended. The following is the translation :
¢“ Going on his journey by the sea shore of northern Connaught, Patrick
came to a river called Sligeach (Sligo). There he wished to refresh his
wearied body ; he asked the fishermen to spread their nets wherever
they pleased, and by aid of their art, to provide some fish for a meal, by
which he might relieve the present need of his body. They answered,
that although it seemed difficult in winter, yet in return for the favour
of having such a guest, they would like to try it. They cast their net,
and caught a large salmon, which, with great joy, they brought to the
man of God. He thanked them for their kind attention. He prayed
for a blessing on them, and he blessed the river, praying, and, whilst
praying, foretelling that fish would never fail in the river. The actual state
of affairs has always afforded proof of this prophecy ; for ever since that
time the river so abounds in salmon, that in every time of the year fresh
salmon are found in it.”

* Events regarded by our ancestors as miracles were often but very
ordinary displays of nature. Thus when Murragh O’Coffey, Bishop of
Derry and Raphoe, died in the year 1173, it is stated in the Annals
of the Four Masters, that ‘‘a great miracle was performed on the night
of his death, viz., the dark night became bright from dusk till morning,
and it appeared to the inhabitants that the adjacent parts of the globe
were illuminated ; and a large body of fire moved over the town, and
remained in the south-east; all the people rose from their beds, for
they thought it was day ; it (the light) continued so eastward along the
sea.”” This so-called ‘‘miracle " was evidently a very fine effect produced
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Superstition has often been defined as the offspring of
ignorance, and, doubtless, in the earlier history of the human
race, before the world was enlightened by the advance of science,
men lived in apprehension of witcheraft, of prodigies, charms, and
enchantments ; but, as observed by the authoress of Ireland in
the Seventeenth Century, ¢ because the deponents of 1641, when
even highly educated men believed in witches and apparitions,
repeated superstitious tales, or believed in them, is surely no
reason for rejecting their testimony on other matters.” Be-
lievers in the apparitions of Lourdes, of Knock, and of hundreds
of other reputed ‘‘ miracles,” should be slow to ridicule the cre-
dulity of seventeenth century witnesses of an uneducated class.

by the aurora borealis or northern lights ; numerous other miraculous, or
alleged miraculous, occurrences are recounted in the Irish Annals.

Marvellous stories or legends, as a rule, primarily commemorate facts
which took place in early history ; in course of time matters of compara-
tively later date became mixed up with them, or the story may have been
perhaps also bodily advanced to a more modern date. Keeping before
us this knowledge, we see that often, despite the many anachronisms, or
even absurdities, contained in these recitals, they will be found, on close
scrutiny, to owe their origin to authentic occurrences. There is one legend
about the massacre of 1641 which states that at a great banquet given by
the Roman Catholics to the Protestants, the latter were all murdered
by their hosts. Protestant and Catholic were seated alternately at table,
when, at the close of the banquet, O’Conor rose, as if to propose a toast,
at the same time holding up his goblet, which he filled from a wine flagon
with a reverse turn of the wrist ; at this signal each Irishman buried his
dagger in his neighbour’s breast. This legend is supposed to refer origin-
ally to an event of an earlier date, when the parties in question, instead
of being Protestants and Catholics, were really members of rival native-
septs. Owen Phibbs, Esq., directs attention to another version of the
same story (but of more recent date), as contained in the Diary of John
Wesley. ‘“May 19, Tuesday, 1778: I now received an intelligible account
of the famous massacre at Sligo. A little before the Revolution, one
Mr. Morris, a Popish gentleman, invited all the chief Protestants to an
entertainment, at the close of which, on a signal given, the men he had
prepared fell upon them, and left not one of them alive. As soon as
King William prevailed, he quitted Sligo, but venturing thither about
twenty years after, supposing no one then knew him, he was discovered,
and used according to his deserts.”

! So late as the year 1832, on the outbreak of cholera at Ballysadare
in the County Sligo, supernatural agencies were believed to be at work.
““One man fancied he had heard unearthly sounds ; another that he had
seen portentous sights in the heavens; and all agreed in saying that a
dark cloud hung over the devoted town.”— History of the Parishes of
Ballysadare and Kilvarnet, p. 38. (Rev.T. O'Rorke, P.P.)
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After the massaere of Sligo, Andrew Crean, being anxious
to save the lives of John Stanoway and his family, sent them
off to Owen MacDermott at Drumbo ; the latter, however, was
then absent at Ballymote, but on his return the situation was
not improved. Times had advanced, and all semblance of
humanity seems to have been discarded by the greater portion
of the native population. Owen MacDermott at first thrust the
refugees out of doors, and eommanded them “‘to go shift for
themselves,” but afterwards, to free himself of their importuni-
ties, added, that he would send along his waiting man and some
four of his soldiers to guard them, and that they should seo
them safe within the bounds of the garrison of Boyle. Stano-
way started with the escort, and when they were passing near
Ballinafad,! then held by the English, one of the soldiers went to
the Irish eamp, which lay under the eastle walls. This man
did not rejoin the party till they were within the deer park close
to Boyle, and the escort, then stating that they had done their
duty, turned back, some of them at the same time giving a shrill
whistle. Divining this ““ to be a sign of trecherie,” Stanoway
was about to try ““to escape for his lyff,” when five men rushed
at him with skeans, and he fell, literally cut to pieces, whilst
two more attacked his wife, and deprived her of her elothing.
One of the children, being fleet of foot, reached Boyle despite
his pursuers.

Charles and Hugh O’Conor, who were the prineipal actors

! ¢“This castle bravely resisted the assaults of Hubert Boy Burke and
other rebels, who attempted to take it and other castles in Connaught.
Ballynafad held out a long time till want of water obliged it to surrender.”
In the year 1628 Henry Fletcher was Constable and Commander (vice
John St. Barbe, deceased), with a fee of 3s. Irish a day for himself, and
ten warders at 8d. a day each.

This castle was built, probably on the site of an older building, ¢ by
Captain John St. Barbe (according to an inseription on Mr. St. Barbe’s
tombstone in Ahana Church), who died A.p. 1628.”' This is most pro-
bably the now reversed tombstone of a Captain ¢‘ Dunbar.” (Vide ante,
Book IIL., p. 206.) In a letter written by Sir R. Bingham to Burghley,
published in the Calendar of State Papers, dated 16th December, 1590,
Bingham states that ‘“a new fort, erected in the strait of the Curlews,
doth good serviee.” (Vide ante, Book V., p. 333.)

| Statistical Survey of the County Sligo. (James M‘Parlan, M.D.)
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in all the outrages in the town of Sligo, although they were
apprehended, appear—owing probably to the troublous times,
and the connivance of their party—to have escaped their just
punishment ; for Colonel Francis Taaffe, a distinguished Irish
commander and a Roman Catholic,' states that, hearing of the
““horrid murders committed in Sligo, . . . . wherein the
said Charles and Hugh were principal actors,” he, with 500 men
under Major-General Lucas Taaffe,? arrested them as the authors
of the massacre, and brought them prisoners to Ballinafad to be
tried. Here they were imprisoned for a lengthened period ;
finally they were ‘“ convoyed to Castle Coote, to the intent they
might be there brought to justice,” as Lieut.-General Burke—
then Governor of Connaught in the Confederate cause—had his
head-quarters before the walls of the castle which the Irish were
then besieging. Burke, however, at once released the accused.
Again; in 1652, Colonel Francis Taaffe saw Hugh O’Conor enter
Lord Clanrickard’s camp at Ballyshannon, and the latter pro-
mised ‘‘to have him hanged, which was prevented by the sudden
approach of the English army.” In 1653 Hugh O’Conor was
still in hiding, ‘ not daring to come in because of that murder.”

In addition to the town of Sligo, there were two other great
centres of disturbance and massacre—one in the barony of
Tireragh, the other in Leyny; in the latter the Castle of Temple-
house was held by William Crofton. It is difficult to trace the
history of this fortress from its capture, by Hugh O’Conor, from
the Knights Templars, in 1271, up to the time now under con-
sideration. In 1559 the MacDermots plundered it; in 1585 it
was in the possession of George Goodman.> At an inquisition
held at Ballymote in 1598 it was found that some quarters of
land belonging to ‘‘le Commandrye de Taghtemple” were

! He was fourth son of the first Viscount Taaffe, by a daughter of Lord
Dillon. During the Commonwealth, he went to the Continent, where he
died, leaving an only son Charles. Major-General Lucas Taaffe was his
elder brother.

? This Major-General Lucas Taaffe (stated to have been buried at
Ballymote) was governor of Ross when Cromwell appeared before the
walls of that town. Taaffe’s brother (a friar) was killed at the storming
of Drogheda.

®John Crofton, Esq., of Ballymurray, Co. Roscommon, Auditor-
General, &c., &ec., 1584, was brother-in-law to George Goodman.

0]
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unjustly in the possession of O’Hara Boy. In 1618, Sir James
Carroll, Knt., received a grant of ‘‘ the Commandery of Tagh-
temple, otherwise Templehouse, with 4 townlands, or 16 qrs.,
with their tithes, . . . . also the rectory and tithes of the Parish
Church of Taghtemple.”! In the same year there was a letter
from the King accepting the surrender to the Crown of the
lands of Templehouse, by William Crofton,? and directing a
re-grant to him to be made out.

Having thus received an indefeasible title to this property,
William Crofton, in 1627, erected a residence closely adjoining
the castle.?

In 1641, English and Irish for many years had been ‘‘in

! Pat. Roll, 15, James I., viii. 22.

2 By the after-marriage of George Perceval, Esq., with Mary, the only
daughter and heiress of this William Crofton, the Templehouse estate
passed into possession of the Perceval family.

3 The two confirmatory grants, Pat. Roll, 16 James I., rescue several
ancient names of localities from oblivion, notably the Irish designation
for Cottage Island, on Lough Gill, 4.e., Inish Killeghan. ¢ 1V. 17.
Surrender to the Crown by Wat. Crorrox of Templehouse, in the Co.
of Sligo, Esq. The castle, house, or commaundery of I'eaghtemple,
alias Templehouse, in the barony of Leynie, with 3 townlands, con-
taining 12 qrs. of land, viz., Carrowneglogh, Carrowtawny, Rathbane,
alias Carrowclontimple, alias Carrowruninegore, Leighcarrow, Rosse,
Portnekarten, Carrowramle, alias Falenesoogane, alias Monyvassane,
Falnogher, Edernyne, and Leghballyworrey, containing 2 qrs., viz.,
Rathenslewe and Drumo, alias Drumslewcane; Ballinecarra, containing
4 qrs., viz., Carrowrunineroy, Carne Ilie, alias Knockshanbally, Runine-
puirfloig, Carroweargin, Moyloyne, alias Lissekarna, with the tithes great
and small, and the fishing weirs on the river of Owenmore, called Carra
Rumeroy, alias Belanamanagh, Karralissevaglish, Karra Runiepuirtloige,
alias Karratihane, Tullihoge, Karradaveale, Doochara, and Karramoyloyne,
and the whole fishings on the said river of Owenmore, and the lake called
Loghelly, extending betwcen the baronies of Leyny and Corren. The
rectory or impropriate parsonage of Teaghtample, with the tithes and
glebe lands thereunto belonging, all which were parcel of the late monas-
tery or priory of St. John the Baptist, near Loghrie, in the Co. of Ros-
common; Killamoy, in the barony of Tirerill, with the site of a ruinous
cell or chapel called Templenefahoge, and 4 qrs., or three-thirds or trynes
of land, viz., Trenefahoge, Trinemaddra, and Trinemoylinah, with the
tithes great and small, a water mill and a water course lately erected,
parcel of the possessions of the monastery of Holy Trinity in Loghkey,
the site, ambit, and precinet of the cell or chapel of Killvegoone, in the
said barony of Tirerill, with one half quarter of land and the tithes; the
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God and His Majesty’s peace, and all living at that tyme (as
was conceived) in neighbourly love and friendship together ;”
but this quiet now rudely broken, Crofton could hardly expect
to escape with immunity when the entire Province was in com-
motion.

Early in November numbers of the English of Leyny had
already taken refuge in his castle of Templehouse, so that,
although its defenders were increased in number, yet the women
and children who accompanied them helped to embarrass the
defence. Amongst these latter were Jane, wife of William
Browne (Registrar of the Bishopric of Killala and Achonry),
with her seven children; Helen Trimble, Anne Loftus, Rose

rectory of Kilvegoone, with the tithes parcel of the possessions of the said
monastery ; the site of the chapel or cell of Killrasse, and 2 qrs. of land
adjoining the island of Tnish Killeghan in Loghgill, near the town of
Sligo, and certain other small islands there; a piece of mountainous and
woody ground called Lehanagh, on the south of the said lough, with the
tithes, the impropriate rectory of Killrasse, with the tithes, the site of the
chapel or cell of Shancho or Geevagh, and ¥ qr. of land thereto adjoining,
with the tithes; the impropriate parsonage and rectory of Shencho, alias
Goevagh, with the tithes ; the castle or fortilage and hamlet called Tullogh-
moylbegg, with a curtilage or bawne and a qr. of land adjoining, and the
tithes; the impropriate rectory of Clonarwy, extending in and through
the chapels or churches of Killinrunery and Killery, within the counties
of Leitrim and Sligo, with the Glebe lands and tithes thereunto belonging,
all which were parcel of the said monastery of the Holy Trinity, in
Loughkey aforesaid. To the intent that the King would be graciously
pleased to regrant the premises to the said William Crofton, and his heirs
and assigns for ever, according to the true intent of His Majesty’s letters
dated the 14th March, 14th year of his reign. Dated 14 July, 1618.”

¢ These lands were (v. 18) erected the Manor of Templehouse with
liberty to hold 600* in demesne, and to have and hold a court leet, view
of frank pledge, and court baron with jurisdiction to the amount of 40s.
within the precincts of the said Manor, and to hold a fair at the town of
Templehouse on the feast of St. Simon and Jude (28 Oct.) and the day
after, with a Court of Piepowder, at a rent of 6s. 8d., and with liberty to
have a ferry upon the lake called Loghelly, and on the river of Owenmore,
between the lands lying in the Barony of Leinie in the Co. Sligo, and the
lands lying in the Barony of Corrin on the other side of the shore, with
power to exact the following fees, viz., for each man 4d., for every horse
load 1d., for every sheep or goat 1d., for every heifer or pork $d., and so
rateably and proportionably for all things to be carried across, paying
thereout to the King 4s.; to hold in free and common soccage. Dated
18 July, 16—.”

E 2
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Ennis, Mrs. Jane Boswell, and three children ; Mrs. Christian
Oliphant, Mrs. Begge, Margaret Branagh, and five children;
Margaret Careless, &e., &e.

These refugees carried with them as much of their  house-
hold stuffe ”” as they could possibly transport.*

About the 15th of December, the insurgents of Leyny and
Corran, numbering from 800 to 1000 strong, appeared before
the walls of Templehouse ; the former were led by Brian O’Hara,
the latter by Hugh MacDonogh. Their strength was further
increased on the fall of Sligo, for at a council of war held there
by the Irish commanders, it was decided to reinforce the leaguer
by five companies, set free by the capture of the town ; however,
when this additional force arrived, the besiegers were found to
be already too numerous, and it was therefore decided that only
a small representative detachment from each barony should re-
main, Brian O’Hara to have chief command, as the castle was
in his ¢“country.”

The insurgents were apparently not possessed of artillery,
at least no mention of it occurs : it is probable that the castle
was merely blockaded, such being the simplest mode of bringing
about a surrender. Crofton was stout of heart, and held out
for about ten weeks ; then, running short both of powder and
provisions, he entered into terms with the besiegers, who
were by this time probably tired of their monotonous occu-
pation.

After lengthened negotiations, Crofton (who seems to have
doubted the terms being offered in good faith) refused to give up
the stronghold to any of the besiegers, but selected a chief named
Oliver O’Hara as the one who was to take possession. Tinally
it was agreed that at the expiration of nine days the castle
should be given up to the Irish, but in the meantime Crofton
was to remain in sole cccupation; at the end of that
period the besiegers were to provide the besieged with a proper
escort to Boyle, to which place they should proceed with bag and

! William Browne, in his deposition, gives the inventory of his goods,
which, curious in itself, demonstrates also the affluence enjoyed by the
Protestant settlers prior to the outbreak of the disturbances of 1641.
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baggage.! These terms were carefully drawn up, committed to
paper, and signed on behalf of the besieged by Crofton, Mr.
Roger King, Mr. Oliphant and Mr. Wray® (two ministers), and
signed on behalf of the besiegers by the Irish captains. The
formule were conducted with . great ceremony ; the Protestants
pledged their oath and good faith on the Holy Seriptures, whilst
the Irish contracting parties swore upon *“a booke they called a
Portoos,”® and in the presence of ‘‘a mass-priest,” the priest
probably essaying to smooth matters, for many of them are ad-
mitted by Protestant writers, as well as by Protestants who made
depositions, to have laboured zealously in the interests of peace.
Whilst this ceremony was progressing, the Irish managed to in-
troduce into the castle several of their own followers, who refused
to leave at Crofton’s desire; he then sought to eject them, a
struggle ensued, in which the besieged were overpowered, and
Crofton and his wife were stripped and deprived of their clothes.
This séems to have occurred on a Thursday; on Friday the
castle was ransacked, and on Saturday a division of the plunder
was made.

On Sunday the Protestant garrison, English and Scotch
alike, were ordered, on pain of death, to attend Mass in the
great hall, and all seem to have complied, with the exception of
Crofton and his wife, the two clergymen Oliphant and Wray,
Mrs. Browne, Jane Boswell, Anne Loftus, and some young chil-
dren, together with a few others not specifically mentioned.

! ¢ But when hee (Oliver O’Hara) was come, hee founde that notwith-
standinge that capitulation, his, the said Wm. Crofton’s, goods were
divided amongst the said captains, and carryinge away, and the house de-
spoilinge, soe this deponent departed, and neither received the house or
any of the goods therein.”—Deposition of Oliver O Hara.

*Wray had only just received Church preferment. In the Patent
Rolls, 17° Car. I., Dat. 4° August, there is ‘““a Grant of a Present® unto
George Wray, Clerke, to the prebendership of Killoran, belonging unto
the Cathedral Church of Crumrahy (Achonry), and several Rectorys in
the Dioces of Aghadoe.”

*This word is spelled in a variety of ways in English, but it is derived
from the Latin portiforinm, implying the portability of the book, i.e., the
Breviary of the Latin Church. The contracting parties were thus sworn
upon the book they each reverenced most.
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Those that refused appear to have been driven into one room,
and there kept close prisoners. On Monday the Irish led out
of the castle, in melancholy procession, Mr. and Mrs. Oliphant,
Henry Begge and his wife (Scotch by birth), Duffe and Mar-
garet Branagh with their five children, Mrs. Brown and chil-
dren, also Jane Boswell and her three children.

Despite the inclemency of the weather, they were stripped of
their clothing, then led to where grew four large ash ‘‘ near the
castle gates,” in full view of the walls, and here were hanged
Mzr. Oliphant,® Begge, Margaret Branagh, Margaret Careless, and
Henry Norman or Newell.

Mrs. Oliphant’s cries and shrieks were heartrending. She
loudly appealed to some of the Irish captains to spare her hus-
band ; but they turned a deaf ear to all her entreaties. She was
dragged out of the castle with the rest, and her husband hanged
in her very presence. The death of Oliphant was attended
with circumstances of great barbarity; he was cut down when
half hanged, then dragged by the ‘‘ withe” (by which he had
been suspended) at ‘“a garran’s tail” up and down the road
through the mud; when it was observed that life was not yet
quite extinct, he was stabbed with skeans, his head cut off, and
he was then buried in a ditch by the wayside, a living child
being cast into the grave.

The women and children were then led back to the castle,
reprieved for thirteen days; at the expiration of that period they
must decide to ‘‘ goe to masse or be hanged.” Jane Browne,
wife of the Registrar of Achonry, had been deprived of her
clothes before the gates of Templehouse Castle, and left with
but a few rags to cover her. This lady, utterly destitute and
begging from door to door, woald without doubt have perished
miserably had she not been charitably preserved and relieved by
a humane Irish gentleman, ¢ ffarrell O’Gara,” of Coolavin. The
protection thus afforded unfortunately came too late to save all
Mrs. Browne’s family, for her eldest son had been drowned in
the river Bonet? by some of the O’Rorkes of Leitrim, whilst two

! Oliphant was ¢‘often prest by them to become a papist ; that if he
wold doe soe, they wold spare his life.”

2 ¢ The Bonet river in Leitrim, flowing into Lough Gill through Druma-
haire and Manorhamilton, is called in Irish Buanaid, signifying the
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of her younger children died subsequently from the effects of
starvation and exposure to the inclemency of the weather.

On the following day the survivors were marched off to
Ballymote. Mr. and Mrs. Crofton, Mrs. Wray, and her husband
(a minister) were in front of the Irish escort (commanded by
Captain John Crean), when two men rushed from the ranks and
slashed Wray savagely with their skeans; he was conveyed to
Ballymote, where he lingered in agony for two days before
death put an end to bis sufferings.

The Irish officers do not seem to have made any attempt to
restrain the excesses of their followers, and Colonel Teige
O’Conor Sligo, who armrived at Templehouse shortly after its
surrender,! did not reprimand any of the men for the outrages,
nor were any of the murderers brought to justice by him.

The third centre of outrage was in the Barony of Tireragh.
The occurrences there are deposed to by persons of whom,
judging by their names, ten were apparently Roman Catholies,
five others Protestants, and there were two Protestant clergymen.

John Shrawley, Vicar of Easky, shortly before the rebellion
broke out, was alarmed by Hugh Crosby (a Protestant, and one
of his tenants on the glebe land), who came to report some
strange speeches made by Richard Albonagh, Parish Priest of
Easky. Crosby’s wife, being a Roman Catholic, had been in-
formed by her spiritual guide ‘ that she should see shortly their
religion flourish again, but that it would never be soe well with
them untill the Protestant B and ministers were all cut off.”
Taking Crosby’s warning in time, the Vicar fled into Mayo, with-
out, however, improving his position, for he there spent his time
besieged in the steeple of Rosserk Church, which he, with some

lasting river ;’ for the Irish seem to have been fond of applying the
word buan (lasting) to rivers. In the Vision of Cahirmore, for example,
in the Book of Leinster, the Slaney is called Sir-buan Slane, ¢ the ever-
lasting Slaney.” ”—Irish Names of Places (Second Sertes), p. 15. (P. W.
Joyce.)

! Te commemerate the capture of this stronghold, the commanders of
the Irish contingents breached *‘a barrell of sacke” for the purpose of
drinking to their further success. Sack being simply the old name for
what weuld now be styled ‘‘dry ” sherry, the use of that wine on the
occasion in questien tends to prove the leng-continued intercourse kept
up with Spain by the Irish, more especially by the Irish of the West coast.
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other Protestants, held for nearly twelve months. At length,
the stream from which they drew their water supply being di-
verted from its course, they were compelled to surrender.

The surrender was made to Edmond Bourke of Rappagh,
““who promised and swore” to convoy them all safely to the
next English garrison. Mr. Walker (a minister)* his man-ser-
vant, and two ‘‘ gentlewomen *’ (Mrs. John Gardner, of Rosserk,
and her daughter) desired to be sent to Boyle. Bourke de-
spatched four soldiers, with his own brother Richard, a friar, by
a short cut over the mountain, the priest, before starting,
swearing not to leave them till they were past all danger at
Boyle. Before they had gone far, the friar, who was on horse-
back, turned aside to a village, saying he would soon rejoin them,
but was hardly out of sight when they were set npon by several
kerns. Walker scems at once to have divined that his end
was come, for he ‘ fell down on his knees to praier, . . . and
as he was on his knees praying, one stroke him a blow with a
sword, and clove his skull down to the mouth, . . . and there
he and his man were both barbarously slain.” Their bodies were
left unburied, and their bones lay bleaching on the mountain
side.

The soldiers forming the escort, instead of protecting their
charge, stripped the two °‘ gentlewomen ” naked, and in this
pitiful plight they made the best of their way to Ballymote,
where the elder lady was murdered.

If the Rev. John Shrawley suffered great privations after
taking refuge in the neighbouring barony of Tirawley, those who
remained in Tireragh fared no better. It would seem that the
MacSwines and O’Dowds first set the example of plundering
their English and Scotch neighbours ; the levies, which had
been raised for service in Spain by Lord Taaffe, having been
disbanded, they also committed numerous murders and outrages,
prineipally on women and children. A party escaping from Tir-
awley took refuge at Rathlee, in Tireragh, with Oliver Albanagh,
an Irishman. They were treated hospitably, and sent to Sligo

! Thomas Walker was in the year 1639-40 presented to the prebend of
Killanly and to the vicarage of Castleconnor and Kilglasse in the County
Sligo.—Fasti Eccl. Hib.
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with an escort; but on the way they were surrounded by a
mob of country people, who led them ¢ to the sea-syd thinking
to have drowned them ;” from this fearful fate they were rescued
by a Roman Catholic priest.

A humane Irishman happened to be in the village of Ardna-
glass,! and hearing that Protestants were being murdered, he
went to the reported scene of the outrage, and found a man
named MacDonnell (a kinsman of his own) hanging. He cut
him down, restored him to consciousness, and carried him to,
as he conceived, a place of safety. Shortly after he found
MacDonnell weltering in his blood, and on reproaching the
murderers for the deed, he was cautioned that, if he did not
keep quiet, he would be hanged himself. He had previously
incurred the ill-feeling of the people by having saved the lives of
some Protestants.

Patrick O’Dowd, in his deposition, admits that he, together
with his father Charles, and a David O’Dowd, with forty dis-
banded levies, one winter's night burst in the door of a house
belonging to Mr. John Nowlan of Enniscroane, then absent in
England, turned Mrs. Nowlan out of bed, and thrust her out of
doors ; his father seized the goods and furniture, and David
O’Dowd kept possession of the house.

! Amongst the sculptured stones in the Museum, R.I.A., is a rude bas-
relief taken from the castle of Ardnaglass, and supposed to be the repre-
sentation of a dog killing a wolf; it is said to commemorate the destruction
of the last of these animals in Ireland. The current tradition in the place
from whence it came was, that ¢‘ some years after it was supposed the race
of wolves was extinct, the flocks of the county of Leitrim were attacked by
a wild animal, which turned out to be a wolf ; that thereupon the chief-
tain of Leitrim applied to O'Dowd, the chieftain of Tireragh, who pos-
sessed a celebrated wolf-dog, to come and hunt the wolf ; that then
ensued a chase which forms the subject of an Irish legend, detailing the
districts through which the wolf was pursued, until it was killed in a pine
wood in Tireragh.” So runs the legend. The land on which the wolf
was killed was, from the circumstance, said to have been named Carrow-
na-maddoo, i.e., *‘ the quarter-land of the dog ;” whilst O’Dowd, in comme-
moration of the event,had the sculptured stone representing the last combat
inserted in his castle wall. —Proceedings, R.L.4., Vol. I1., pp. 65, 66 ; Cata-
logue, R.I.4., p. 143. W. F. Wakeman has drawn the writer’s attention
to the fact that the Ardnaglass sculptured stone resembles one in Holy
Cross Abbey, County Tipperary, which is said to illustrate the legend of
the Kilkenny cats.
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This appears to be the ¢ Master David O’Dowd of Lechau in
the County of Sligo, [who] out of a murderous disposition, with
a long skean, attempted to murder ”” John Layng (a clergyman)
in the castle of Rosslea.

In Tirawley Sir Robert Hannay held the castle of Belleek
for some time against great odds; at length he surrendered on
condition that the entire party—which numbered about 120
souls, a great portion of whom were women and children—
should be safely escorted to Ballyshannon. These conditions
were granted, and appear to have been faithfully carried out by
the Mayo people ; the garrison were taken across the river Moy
as far as Castleconnor in Tireragh. Here they were encoun-
tered by a tumultuous mob, but succeeded in reaching Ennis-
croane, where the country people, led by the O’Dowds and
MacSwines, overpowered the party, and the ‘‘ common folk »
were all killed; Sir Robert Hannay and his family, Captain
Adair, and other people of consequence, being spared for the
purpose of exchange and ransom, for the Irish thought they were
“too good a booty for them to loose.” They were brought on
to the castle of Dunneill, where they were kept in restraint by
O’Hart, then in possession of the stronghold. Two Protestant
ministers, however, Mr. Montgomery, and another whose name is
not given, were ‘‘ stripped naked in the streete.” One of Mr.
Montgomery’s sons, a lad of fifteen, had been previously bar-
barously murdered in the County Mayo.

Shortly after their capture, Sir Robert Hannay, and those
of his party who survived, were being conducted to Sligo, when,
a short distance from Ardnaglass, they were stopped by some
excited country people, and would undoubtedly have been all
massacred but for the timely arrival of a detachment of Irish
troops from Sligo, who escorted them thither in safety the same
evening; a Scotchman and his wife, who, through fatigue or
carelessness, lagged behind, were set upon, the man being
killed on the spot, but the unfortunate woman lingered for some
days.

Sir Robert Hannay’s party were afterwards despatched to
Drumahaire to O’Rorke, who desired to exchange them for some
of his sept, prisoners of Sir Frederick Hamilton ; the latter,
however, on account of the breach of faith on the part of the
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Irish, would not listen to the proposal. On his refusal, the gar-
rison of Drumahaire sent forward Thomas Fullerton and William
Listen—two Protestant ministers—also a gentleman named
Patrick Dromond, and hanged them before the walls of the
Castle of Manor-Hamilton.

A small party of English tried to reach Sligo by a by-way,
but were unable to effect their escape ; they were overtaken near
Skreen, and murdered.

Further enumeration of the atrocities committed in Tireragh
would but multiply horrors ; allugion may, however, be made to
the murder of the Nesbitt family, which was attended with every
circumstance of cold-blooded brutality ; the details, as given in
the Depositions, are heartrending.

The Depositions also explain, in some degree, the nume-
rous cold-blooded erimes that oceurred in Tireragh, by a
statement that the MacSwines had committed so many mis-
deeds in that barony, that they ‘¢ were always jealous that
the said persons should escape into the English quarters, and
discover their actions, which was the cause they murdered
them.” Thus we see that whatever were the original intentions
of the leaders of the Irish in Sligo, once human passions had
been aroused they were powerless to restrain their subordinates,
and this was but the natural result of stimulating the passions
of an ignorant people.




CHAPTER XIIL
HAMILTON’S ATTACK ON SLIGO, ETC.

¢ Now peals of shouts came thund’ring from afar,
Cries, threats, and loud laments, and mingled war;
Louder and yet more loud, we hear th’ alarms
Of human cries distinet, and clashing arms ;
New clamors, and new clangors now arise,
The sound of trumpets mix’d with fighting cries ;
The fire consumes the town.”

FTER Sligo had been seized by the Irish, under the
leadership of MacDonogh, Sir Frederick Hamilton,
who at that time commanded the English garrison
at Manor-Hamilton, in the County Leitrim, lost no
time in acting. He sent a reconnoitring party towards
the town of Sligo; shortly afterwards he proceeded
against Colonel Owen O’Rorke, burning houses and
corn-stacks to within a mile of Drumahaire Castle. Information
having been conveyed to him that Mr. Parke' was shut up and
beleaguered in his castle of Newtown, situated between Druma-
haire and Sligo—that castle, at Parke’s own request, having been
but a short time previously visited by Hamilton—he sent a de-
tachment of horse and foot, to ascertain the numbers of the
blockading force, and to relieve the place, if possible.
This old residence is beautifully situated on the northern
shore of Lough Gill. In plan, the building consisted of a
court-yard flanked by round towers on the side facing the land,

! He is, in the Book of Survey and Distribution, styled Captain Robert
Parke. A ‘ Robert Parke de Sligo” was one of the jurors in an inquisi-
tion held in Sligo, 24th September, 1627.
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and by small turrets on the side facing the lake, where appear
traces of a water-gate. The north and east sides of the en-
closure included the old manor-house, which, with its mullioned
windows, its conspicuous lofty chimneys—characteristic of the
early buildings of the settlement—and its striking-looking
portal leading into the court-yard, must have presented a very
picturesque appearance.

Not far distant, and situated on a tongue of land jutting into
the lake, may even yet be observed remains of an edifice of still
older date, which had been perhaps demolished, and its materials
utilized in the formation of the more modern building.!

As Hamilton’s relieving party advanced, they could observe
no sign of any enemy save a few scouts on the neighbouring
hills ; and to their surprise, when the walls of the castle appeared
in sight, no hostile force was discernible. Parke, in a state of
great excitement, met the troops, and expressed a hope that
they might be able to regain Manor Hamilton in safety, and not
be overpowered on their attempted return. The suspicions of
the officer were aroused; but he replied that, having been sent
by Sir Frederick Hamilton to his assistance, and as it wass -

evident the castle was in no danger, Parke ought to allow him
to strengthen his party by taking thirty men of the garrison,

! The castle of Newtown must have capitulated to the Irish shortly
after the year 1647, and was in 1652 in the possession of one Donogh
O’Hart, who surrendered it, 3rd June, 1652, to Sir Charles Coote.” Thé
terms of the capitulation are as follows :—

¢ Articles of agreement made and concluded by and between Donogh
O’Hart, of the one parte, and Major Robert Ormsby, on the other parte, in
behalfe of Sir Charles Coote, Knight and Baronett, Lord President of Con-
naught, for and concerning the surrender of the Castle or Holt of New-
towne, in the barrony of Drumaheare, and County of Leitrim, unto the said
Lord President, or whome he shall apoynt, for the Parliament of the Com-
monwealth of England, June 3rd, 1652.

¢“1. The said Donnogh O’Hart doth conclude and agree to deliver up
the said Holt of Newtowne, with all the arms, ammunicion, and necessaries
of warr not hereafter excepted, unto the said Lord President, or whome he
shall apoynt, at or by twelve of the clocke to-morrow, without prejudice
or embezlment. In consideracion whereof the said Major Ormsby doth
conclude and agree that the said Donnogh O’Hart, and those souldiers in
that Holt, shall have quarters for their lives, and shall have liberty to
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that number still leaving enough for the defence of Newtown.
To this proposal Parke peremptorily refused to accede, though
entreated to do so by his own officers and men, who upbraided
him, and said that if he did not comply with this reasonable
request, it would be ‘‘ a shame for him and them all.”

Parke replied: ‘It was well for him if he could defend
himself and his, till aid come, without provoking or doing any-
thing to draw the country upon him.”

‘When the detachment, on its return march, had reached to
within a short distance of Manor-Hamilton, it was suddenly and
fiercely attacked by a large force of Irish, in a narrow, rock-
encumbered defile, where the horse were unable to act; the foot-
soldiers were at once engaged at close quarters ¢ at push of
pike,” whilst the musketeers, having delivered their fire, were so
galled by dexterously aimed volleys of stones from the surround-
ing heights, that they were unable to reload ; therefore, clubbing
their muskets, they fell on their opponents, and “ did so closely
stand to it as having, by God’s great mercy and power, broke
through, disordered, and routed them, killing a number, chasing
them like dogs with our horse and foot from hill to hill.”
Though most of the detachment—which numbered in all but
eighty men—were wounded with stones and pikes, two only were
actually killed. Of the Irish, about sixty fell, amongst whom

march away with their bagg or baggage, without impeachment, except
armes and ammunicion.

¢¢2. The said Donnogh O’Hart (if hee desire the same) shall have pro-
tection graunted to him and his men, to live in the State’s Quarters, with
his and their families, as to other protected persons.

3. That the said Donnogh O’Hart shall have the full benefitt of the
little corne that hee and those souldiers in pay in the said Holt sowed
themselves, without rent or contribucion for this yeare, and a howse as-
sured them to keep their corne in, safe from any under the Parliament’s
command.

‘4. The said Donnogh O’Hart (if he submit to protection) shall have
for this yeare the grazeing of twenty cowes free from contribucion.

5. The said Donnogh O’Hart is to have the small boat and cotts
which he hath on Newtowne Lough without any impeachment. Lastly :
the said Donnogh O'Hart is to have six musqueteers and six pikes allowed
him and his men out of their armes, which they are to deliver up, with his
owne sword (in case he submitt to protection) for his necessary defence
against Tories, which hee is to give security shall not bee employed
against the State.”
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was John O’Crean of Sligo,! together with thirty people of note
belonging to the Counties of Sligo and Leitrim. The bodies
were all stripped for the sake of their clothing, and the arms
and apparel were carried to Manor-Hamilton.

As was customary in writings of that period, the narration
of the skirmish conecludes with a pious reflection, which, in this
instance, took the form of a recommendation not to put trust in
numbers, and also stated that the Irish afterwards acknowledged
they saw God was against them, ¢‘they being ten times our
number, and most confident to have destroyed us all.”

Although Parke’s conduct was reported to Hamilton by the
officer in charge of the detachment, yet he did not then suspect
him to be ‘‘ a traitour in correspondency with them [the Irish]
as was afterwards proved;” he, however, took the precaution of
procuring a commission from the Lords Justices and Council at
Dublin Castle to employ such troops of Parke’s as he might
think fit, and, accordingly, he drew off about twenty men of the
Newtown garrison. In the month of June, Hamilton sent
twenty head of cattle to victual Newtown, attended by a large
escort, including Parke’s twenty men, and with strict orders for
them to return. These men were, however, kept at Newtown in
defiance of the order of Hamilton, who, resenting Parke’s pre-
sumption, despatched a body of troops under his lieutenant,
who had instructions to muster the entire garrison, and as
Hamilton was secretly planning a most daring expedition, to
leave only as many with Parke as, in his judgment, were suffi-
cient to defend the place.

Parke, however, induced the officer to enter the castle, then
closed the gates, mustered the garrison of sixty men, but refused
to allow any of them to depart.

Hamilton—an overbearing man at all times—was now fear-
fully exasperated, and raved at the mammer in which Parke had
‘“ 50 beastly neglected his officers, in contempt of the Lord
‘Justice and Councils commission.” He resolved on taking de-
cided and speedy measures, * fearing Parke was inclining rather
-to submit himself and his castle into the hands of the rogues,
whom he held the stronger party, and daily corresponded with

! This is evidently the Captain John Crean who was present at the
" capture of Templehouse.
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them.” Hamilton, although determined to establish his autho-
rity, yet bided his time, and on the evening of the 1st July he
mustered every able-bodied man under his command, leaving
but a sufficient number behind to defend his own castle from a
sudden attack; he then marched on Newtown, arriving under
its walls about midnight. Parke was summoned on his allegiance
to come out; he parleyed for some time, but at length (as the
old account says), *“after some shuffling excuses and delays,
opens his gate.”

Parke was ordered to muster his garrison, and was then
arrested in their presence for disobedience of orders, and ‘‘ upon
strong presumption of disloyalty.”

Afterwards Hamilton marched out twenty men of the garrison
to strengthen his party, which now amounted to one hundred
and forty men, horse and foot, and having placed one of his own
officers in charge of Newtown castle, he proceeded in the direc-
tion of Sligo.

Hamilton had kept the object of his expedition a profound
secret. The party marched in silence till within a short dis-
tance of the town of Sligo, when a halt was called, and the
troops were drawn up in order of attack; then (in the language
of one who was present) he used ‘‘ some comfortable encourag-
ing speeches, asking if our stomachs did serve us, as his did, to
attempt the burning of the towne, now so near it, which main-
tained so many rebellious enemies which had joyned in the
burning our poor garrison, and so many times encampt about
us and sought our destruction.”

This speech was received with acclamations; then, having
knelt in prayer—a usual preliminary with the Puritans of the
seventeenth century to any warlike engagement—they waited
silently for the break of day. As soon as the first streak of light
appeared in the east, the attacking force moved on in profound
silence. At the bridge they were halted, and Hamilton gave
orders that any man breaking the ranks for the sake of plunder
would be shot ; they must simply carry fire and sword through
the streets, but should call out for all British prisoners to take
refuge in their ranks.

At a given signal the foot-soldiers erossed the bridge at a
run, and, in a few minutes, shrieks, appeals for mercy, and a
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sudden glow of light, showed that the dreadful work had begun.
Hamilton, at the head of the horsemen, burnt the houses on the
northern side of the river, and slaughtered the inmates; then,
considering the bridge to be impassable for mounted men, he
galloped along the banks of the stream, forded the river, and, as
previously arranged, effected a junction with the foot-goldiers in
front of the abbey.

Here the work was short and decisive. The abbey and its
out-buildings were soon wrapped in flames, and two of the
friars, running out in their habits, were remorselessly put to
death.

Chalices, treasures, mass-vestments, and goods left for safety
in charge of the monks, were all alike consumed. Amidst the
many horrors of this terrible scene, the roaring flames, the
rolling smoke, and the crash of falling masonry, Hamilton for
the first time learnt, from some prisoners, the cause of his easy
success. The Irish garrisons of the two castles in the town had
posted no out-sentinels ; no watch appears to have been kept, and
the inhabitants of the town were wrapped in profound repose.
This neglect was now to some extent accounted for by the depar-
ture of O’Conor Sligo, with all his disposable force, to join with
Owen O’Rorke and others in forming a camp around Manor-
Hamilton, and carrying off the garrison’s supply of cattle. The
opposing parties escaped coming into collision, O’Conor Sligo
having marched by the south side of Lough Gill, whilst Hamilton
had passed to the north of the lake. '

Finding himself now at a distance of fourteen miles from his
base of operations, and with a superior force of the enemy inter-
vening, Hamilton at once proceeded to retrace his steps.

When he arrived within three miles of his castle,! he per-
ceived the ‘‘ passage strongly to be beset (being a straight passage)
with & number of men.”” His horsemen had to make a détour,

! ¢ A True Relation of the manner of our Colonel Sir Frederick Hamil-
ton’s retourne from London-derry, being 61 miles from his castle and
garrison, where he was at the beginning and breaking out of this Rebel-
lion, with the particular services performed by the Horse and Foot Com-
panies which he commanded, garrisoned at Manor-Hamilton, in the
County of Leitrim, in the Province of Connaught.” Dublin : Printed by
Robert Thornton, 24th October, 1643.

F
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as there was a rocky wood to the right, and a great bog to the
left. The pikemen and musketeers charged the Irish foot-
soldiers, who were about 800 in number, and forced their way
through ; the horsemen, entangled in swampy ground, were
attacked by the Irish, and Hamilton himself, amongst others,
was three times unhorsed ; at length, both horse and foot having
reunited, they reached Manor-Hamilton with the loss of but
three men killed.

There is a legend attached to the destruction of the Abbey of
Sligo which states that the monks were scared by a breathless
messenger, who, late one evening, suddenly appeared before the
gate of the monastery, announcing the close proximity of the
dreaded Sir Frederick Hamilton. What was to be done ? The
treasures and valuables of the community must be saved! In
frantic haste, the gold and silver vessels used in the sanctuary
were hurriedly thrown into iron-bound chests of oak, and the
crevices filled in with Spanish ingots, which had been presented
by the ¢ Catholic King” for the advancement and encouragement
of his faith. But the bells, blessed by Pope John XXIII.—those
beautiful bells, whose melodious chimes had delighted the ears
of the faithful, and had summoned the congregation to their de-
votions for more than two eenturies—were they to fall into the
hands of the heretics ? Never! They were accordingly lowered
from the tower, and, together with the chests of treasure, were
sunk in the bed of the river Garavogue ; but the buried bells and
treasures of the monks have never been discovered ! The swiftly
gliding waters have not disclosed their secret; and the belief
long lingered that on the festival of the Holy Trinity, the ears
of the faithful were at times gladdened by the silvery chimes of
the buried bells, stealing gently upwards in the midnight air,
from out the bosom of their watery guardian !

Some particulars are here given, relating to Sligo Abbey,
which was founded by Maurice Fitzgerald, a.p. 1252, destroyed
by fire in 1414, and rebuilt about two years subsequently. On
this subject R. Langrishe remarks! that the statement of its
re-edification in 1416 is very misleading, for a careful examin-
ation will show that a considerable portion of the original

'Jowrnal, R.H.A.A.1I. (4th Series), Vol. VL., p. 471.
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building still remains, and the Church as then built appears to
have been of a common Irish type.

It is probable that a considerable time elapsed after the date
named for the rebuilding of the Abbey before it was completed,
for a great part of the work is of late fifteenth century char-
acter—the Tudor flower being extensively used in the decora-
tions. The tower is almost a fac-simile of many erected by the
Franciscans in the fifteenth century; it is built within the
ancient walls of the chancel, without their being disturbed. Im-
mediately west of the tower are the remains of a stone rood-loft,
which was supported on” an arcade of three arches stretching
across the nave, the soffits being groined in fan-vaulting.

The high altar is beneath the east window of the chancel
(fig. 7); the front is ornamented with moulded and carved
panelwork of late fifteenth century style, in good preservation.
It is covered by broken slabs, some of which probably formed
part of the original table-stone, being decorated in the centre,
towards the front, with an incised cross formed by narrow inter-
lacing bands, and terminating in patterns of the ancient Irish
form at the end of the arms (fig. 8, p. 68). The base of the
cross is towards the front of the altar, and the head towards
the east window, reaching only partly across the table-stone
which was formed of several pieces. Commencing at the
north side, then running along the front, and turning up the
south side, is the following inscription in Lombardic char-
acters :—

IOHAN[NES ? O’CRAIAN] ME . FIERI . FE CIT.

—with long spaces between the words, and so placed that
“IOHANNES ” was on the north side ; next it, and along the
front, ecame the surname (probably O’Craian), now lost ; ME is in
the centre, just at the foot of the cross ; FIERI was next placed
in front, near the southern angle ; and FECIT is cut on the stone
which formed that angle along the south end. There is a blank
between E and C in FECIT, as if a letter had been erased. At
present it is at the northern angle, which makes the inscription
rather puzzling at first sight ; it ig' to be hoped, therefore, that
it will be restored to its original position. The stone, bearing
on it the surname of the ¢ JoHANNES” mentioned in the inscrip-
tion, has not been found; possibly it may have recorded the
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Fig. 9.—StoxE PurPIT

On the North Side of the Cloisters of Sligo Abbey.

(From a Photograph by R. B. M‘Neilly.)
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name of an early prior of the Abbey, who had caused the table-
stone to be made.

The covering slab of an altar-tomb was invariably formed of
one stone, with the cross worked lengthwise upon it ; whereas
the altar-top was worked in several pieces, and the cross, if placed
at the foot, could not reach more than one-third of the whole
length towards the head.

The cloisters lie to the north of the nave; three sides are in
tolerably good preservation ; they appear to have been entirely
erected in the fifteenth century, and are beautifully arcaded and
groined throughout. The symmetry of their proportions is, how-
ever, in the present day greatly marred by the surface being
raised over three feet by constant burials for centuries past,
and both the interior of the cloisters and the cloister-garth are
blocked up with hideous tombstones and unseemly graves, the
covering of which is in some cases so slender that it gives
way beneath the feet, and dreadful odours are exhaled.

On the north side (near the angle formed by the western side
of the cloisters, now entirely destroyed) is the pulpit, built on a
boldly projecting corbel springing from the face of the wall
some fifteen feet from the former surface (fig. 9); a stone staircase
led up to it through the building behind, now mostly in ruins.
At the extreme north-eastern angle of the building is the base
of the stair-turret, by which access was obtained to the dor-
mitory ; it appears to have been placed over the chapter-house,
and several vaulted chambers are to be seen at the east side of
the cloisters.

There is a fine altar-tomb inserted in the north wall of the

" nave, with a very sharp-pointed, arched canopy filled with
elaborate flamboyant tracery. The inscription runs along the
top of the decorated front slab, The letters MecS are nearly
illegible. AC is—according to the late W. M. Hennessy—
the mediseval form of the Irish OS5, i.e., young. The name
of O’Crean’s wife, Faraengasa! is—according to the same

! Faraengasa. A somewhat similarly sounding name occurs in an in-
quisition taken in the town (apud villam) of Ballymote, 10th Feb., 1607.
The jury find ¢ quod Ffarganhegula [? Ffarganhegusa] O’Connor seisit fuit
...... due Insul® in mar. vocat, Insula Noclane et Insula ne Capple
[now Horse Island] continent 2 acras terr., et Regi ptinent Jure Corone
sui.”
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authority—also a medixval form of a well-
known woman’s name, Farpaengurs.
Later tablets arc inserted in the recess;
one of these bears the date 1616 over the
coat of arms and crest of the O’Creans.
On the dexter side is a wolf rampant be-
tween three hearts, with the initials A. C.,
supposed to be those of Andrew Crean.
The sinister half is ermine, a chevron—
colour not apparent—with the initials E. F.
alongside, evidently those of Crean’s wife,
who was supposed to be Ellen Flynn. The
crest appears to be a demi-wolf rampant,
holding between his paws a heart ; beneath
is cut in an irregular manner the follow-
ing inscription, which would seem to con-
tain a play upon the name Crean :—

coc® VI.

. DO'. MCC

NO

SEHON . AC . FARAENGASA . UXOR . EIS . A

COR . MVNDVM . CREA . IN . ME . DEVS .
ET . SPIRITVY . RECTVM . IN . NovA .
IN . VISCERIBVS . MEIS .

Inserted in the south wall of the choir is
an elaborate monument erected to O’Conor
and his wife. The mural tablet is sur-
mounted by a representation of the Cruci-
fixion. The superior compartment contains
the crest and coat of arms of the O’Conor
family, flanked by two figures, the one
bearing a sword, the other a key; thereby
denoting, probably, the Apostles Peter and
Paul, The pilasters are ornamented with
winged heads, trophies, and skulls. To
the left the trophy consists of a drum, flag, and axe, below it
a shield, sword, and musket; to the right is an open book,
with a spade and torch over a cemser or thurible. At the
base appears a winged hour-glass amidst an elaborate arrange-
ment of floral and other ornamentations. To the left the shields
display the coat of arms of O’Conor, and to the right, that of

HIC . JACET . CORMACUS . O CRAIAN . ET . M

JFCNHRANCASA-ORTIZANG0'D (e Uy

RGJA0EG-QOROAQTS-OGREHN-HG-ASERON:

=
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Fig. 10.—TuEe 0’CoNor MoNUMENT,
In the South Wall of the Choir, Sligo Abbey.

(From a Photograph by R. B. M‘Neilly.)
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his wife. In the central portion of the monument the effigy of
O’Conor is represented in a kneeling posture, clad in full
armour, save his helmet, which is placed behind him. To the
right, and facing him, kneels his wife, with long flowing robes,
and a full ruff, her hair dressed in the lofty style of the period.
(See fig. 10.)

Immediately underneath the figures of O’Conor and his
wife is this inseription :—
HIC . IACET . FAMOSISSIMVS . MILES . | DONATVS . CORNELIANVS . COMITATVS .
SLIGIZA . DOMINVS.CVM.SVA,VXORE . | ILLVSTRISSIMA.-DNA.ELINORA . BVTLER.
COMITISSA . DESMONIE . QVI .ME . FIE | RI. FECIT. A°1624 . POST . MORTE. SVI .
MARITI . QVI.OBIIT.11. AvG.A°1602. | ITM.EIVS. FILIA.ET. PRIM.MARIT, VIZ..

COMITIS . DESMONLE . NOIE . ELIZABE | THA.VALDE . VIRTVOSA.DNA .SEPVLTA .
FVIT . HOC.IN. TVMVLO . 31 . NOVEM. | ANNO . DOMINI . 1623.

The other inscriptions are now almost illegible.
Lying against the chancel wall there are two slabs (about
24 inches each way) with armorial bearings carved on them ; on
the first appears to be the coat of arms of the Banada family of
Jones. The second slab bears the arms of the O’Creans, with
those of a different family of Jones impaled ; dexter, a wolf
rampant between three human hearts, for O’Crean ; sinister, a
lion rampant, for Jones; above is the date 1625, and under-
neath the quaint inseription :—
Wee two are one by his Decree
That raigneth from Eternity ;

‘Who first erected have these stones,
‘We Robuere Crean Elica Iones.

When sinking a grave in the chancel, an interesting me-
morial slab was recently discovered, about three feet beneath
the present surface. Its length is 5 feet 10 inches, by 2 feet
6 inches in breadth at top and 2 feet 10 inches at bottom
of slab, which is surrounded with a bevelled edge an inch
and half in width. The inseription in raised character is as .

follows :—
HIC . JACE
T . UORDAIN

M® CATRVE . 8
UA . UX . MARIA

FECIT . HOC .
¢ Here lies Jordan Mac Cathrue, his wife Maria made this.”
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A portion of the letter R in MARIA appears to be deficient.
The surname Cathrew is stated to exist still in the County
Galway, but is not known to have been common in the County
Sligo. Fig. 11 gives a good representation of this curious me-
morial ; the Crucifixion and representation of a camel—bearing
a great resemblance to the animal carved on the cross at Drum-
cliff—are specially interesting.

From the peculiar shape of this monument, W. F. Wake-
man is of opinion there can be no question but that it at one time
formed the lid of a stone coffin. At first sight a casual observer
might imagine it to have stood as a pillar. Such a supposition,
however, would be utterly untenable by anyone who noted that
the broader end of the stone exhibits a raised fillet, or band,
resembling that upon the sides and top. The work, therefore,
could not have been intended to stand, end on, in the earth.
There is no date in addition to the inseription, but the character
of the latter clearly indicates the fifteenth century. In form,
the lettering closely resembles the celebrated record still to be
geen in the ruined priory on Devenish Island, the period of
which is marked A.p. 1449.

Although it seems not improbable that the figure of the
camel may have originally represented some religious idea, yet
one of these animals is mentioned by ‘ The Four Masters”
(Connellan’s Edition) as having been brought to Ireland in
the year 1472 :—

‘“ An extraordinary animal [a camel or dromedary] was sent
by the King of England to Ireland, of a form resembling a
maro, of a yellow colour, having the hoofs of a cow, a long neck,
a very large head, an ugly trailing tail, scarce of hair, having a
saddle of its own [the hump] ; wheat and salt were its food, and
it would draw a sliding car with the greatest burden by the tail,
and go on its knees when entering a door, and in taking a rider
on its back.”

In the following Chapter the events which happened in Sligo
between 1642 and 1653 are entered upon, but before doing so,
it may not be out of place to state that in the graveyard outside
the abbey walls, there lies a plain slab of slate, commemorative
of the death of Mary Beolan, who is thereon stated to have died
*“aged 144 years.”
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Fig. 11.—Memorial Slab to Jordan Mac Cathrue.
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Fig. 12.—Parisu CHurcH oF St. JonN’s, Srigo.

(Re-cdified in 1812 and 1833.)







CHAPTER XIV.
BATTLE OF SLIGO, ETC.

¢ Cease to consult ;: the time for action calls ;
‘War, horrid war, approaches to your walls.”

#2N the year 1642 Lord Ranelagh, President of Con-
{ naught, had quitted his Government in vexation,
and, on his arrival in Dublin, was accused by the
Lords Justices of being the cause of the hardships
which the troops had experienced throughout his
province.
Charles, in the first shock of consternation after his defeat
at Naseby by the Parliamentarian forces, June 14th, 1645,
doubted whether this overthrow had not rendered all Irish
succours useless ; finally, however, the Earl of Glamorgan was
despatched to Ireland, where he arrived about the end of July.
Two commissions from Charles were produced by him to the
Confederate Catholics. Ormond had shown a decided reluctance
to continue in office, owing to these negotiations ; but by virtue
of the commissions Glamorgan entered on a private treaty with
the Confederates, thus hoping to become the leader of ten thou-
sand Irish, and to restore the King to power and independence.
In the meantime, Sir Charles Coote (whom the Parliament
had lately commissioned to command in Connaught) was
despatched with a requisition to the British generals of the
north, that they should assist him against the rebels in his
government, and particularly to reduce the town of Sligo—their
principal place of strength. After some hesitation, 4000 foot and
500 horse were detached from the Secottish and English forces,
and the recapture of Sligo in 1645 resulted from the junction
of the troops commanded by Sir Charles Coote, Colonel Audley
Mervyn, and Sir Robert Stewart. The following, taken from
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the History of Confederation and War in Ireland,! gives the
Irish point of view of this transaction. The first letter, dated
Ballymote, 6th July, 1645, is from Lucas Taaffe, and is
addressed : ¢ For the Right Honourable the Supreme Council
of the Confederate Catholics of Ircland. Haste! Haste!
Haste !”

‘“RicaT HONOURABLE :

““This lamentable and sad intelligence from Sligo, I refer to the
bearer’s, Antient [Ensign] Tull’s relation, who was an eye-witness of a
common, treacherous, and unworthy dealing which nearly broke the neck
of our endeavours, if timely succour be not sent to regain the place,
before the Scots have leisure to fortify it. I am very hopeful that all the
town will not be lost these ten days to come, being well assured of the
resolution of the besieged, as long as it is possible for them to play the
part of soldiers ; yet I humbly beg that the relieving army be not the
more delayed that I am of this opinion, the courses of war being very
uncertain, and all places of consequence hereabouts so unprovided, that
without the enemy meet with a speedy repulse, they will make it an abso-
lute conquest : for preventing of which I doubt not of your Honour’s
tender care, whereupon I build my hopes, and remain

¢ Your Honour’s most humble Servant,

¢ L(ucas) T(AAFFE).”

Taaffe seems to have taken too hopeful a view of the military
situation, for the next letter—but three days later in date—from
Captain Gerald Dillon to Sir Ulick Bourk, announces the cap-
ture of Sligo by Coote :—

“SIr:

¢¢T must now be the author of a woeful tragedy; for yesterday morn-
ing, after the battering of two houses in Sligo, the enemy made a hot and
furious assault upon the rest of the town, where they have lost five hun-
dred men, a Lieutenant-Colonel, one Sergeant-Major, three Captains,
with other officers. Notwithstanding all their loss, and not regarding
their men’s lives, they attempted Crean’s house, where our men betook
themselves, who behaved themselves so gallant as they beat them from
it, upon which the enemy sounded a parley, and promised them a fair
and honourable quarter; whereupon our men came away, and after
coming into the street, were disarmed, stript, and most foully murdered,
80 as never a man escaped, but two men and two women. Major Rourk
is come hither this night, who lost threescore and six of his own company,
with his officers, in that service. Major-General, with grief hereof, keeps

1 Vol. IV., pp. 353-56. The orthography is modernized.
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his bed. All the Scots marched from Bellahy this morning to Sligo, with
four or five hundred cows. I make ne question but now the province
will be their own. Drumahaire, Marcrea, Collooney, and the rest of the
garrisons in that county, are forsaken and burned ; Ballymote and
Titemple (Templehouse) excepted, all the castles in (the barony of)
Tireragh pay contribution already to the enemy ; my father (Sir Luke
Dillon) is expected at Dunmore this night. I pray, Sir, look well to
yourself, for I am sure yeu will be very much aimed at ; and be sure to
store yourself with provisions. Thus with my humble service to my aunt.
I remain ‘

f ““Your oewn servant,

¢“ GERALD Dirron.”
Loan, 9 July, 1645.

I pray despatch this to my Lord President (Dillon), and bid him be
careful of himself there.

The next communication is from Lord Dillon (then at
Athlone, and acting as Lord President of Connaught for the
King) to the Marquis of Ormond :—

¢“MAY IT PLEASE YOUR LoRrpsHIP:

‘“ Yesterday I despatched unto you such intelligence as came to my
knowledge. This morning I received this enclosed [i.e., the preceding
letter], which now I post unto your Lordship by Will. Somers, whereby
you will find that Sligo is taken, and it is very probable that it will prove
of an ill consequence to the whele province. In my letter yesterday I
acquainted your Lordship how much I feared this castle, the garrison of
it being ill affected. 'Will. Somers will give your Lordship a true relation
how all things stand here with me, and what ill condition I stand in. I
am promised by Sir James Dillon a hundred men, who I am confident
will be faithful to me, but I shall not accept of them without I first know
your Lordship’s pleasure, and am very unwilling to be beholden to him
or any other friend if your Lordship could help me. All which I humbly
submit to your wise consideration, as the humblest of your Lordship’s
servants.

¢ DiLLown.”
AtHLONE CASTLE, 10th July, 1645.

Ormond’s reply to Lord Dillon clearly informed him that no
help could be expected from Dublin :—

¢“My Lorbp :

¢“ This morning I received both your letters of the 9th and 10th of this
month, together with the advertisements your Lordship had of the Scots
proceedings in that miserable province, whereat I believe our two Com-
missioners here are rather troubled, than directed into the right way of
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preventing the total loss of that, and by consequence the perpetual
annoyance of all the other provinces. All that I could with safety to
myself do towards the preservation of those that are obedient to his
Majesty’s Government in that province, was at the instance of my Lord
Marquis of Clanricarde, and, upon assurance that your Lordship was
consenting to it, to give my Lord Taaffe a commission, whereof I send
your Lordship a copy, to the end that if you be driven to it, you may call
his Lordship to your assistance.

““I am sorry to find your Lordship has so much reason to misdoubt
the affections of those men under your command, and that I am not in a
condition to send such as you might rely on. I have such as would be
sure to you, but that I am unable to provide for their subsistence there,
and out of hope to prevail with the Commissioners here to settle a course
for their maintenance ; and therefore I am of opinion that, in case of
evident necessity, your Lordship shall do well to make use of the offer
made unto you by Sir James Dillon, who I take to be a person of that
honour and good affection that your Lordship may safely rely npon his
promise and undertaking for the faith of his men, yet I know your Lord-
ship will omit no necessary caution for your safety against the Confede-
rates, as well as the Scots. I am unwilling to stay Sumers from waiting
upon your Lordship with this short answer from your Lordship’s most
affectionate, humble servant,

““ OrMoOND.”

DusLiN CastLE, 11 July, 1645.

s

Both parties in this terrible struggle noted down with great
minuteness the atrocities (whether real or alleged) of their
opponents. The council of the Confederates at Kilkenny directed
that in every province registers should be kept of all the cruel-
ties and murders committed by the Puritans.

The governorship of Sligo, after its capture, was conferred
by a council of war on Colonel Audley Mervyn ; but through the
interest of the Scots, he was superseded by Sir Robert Stewart,
commander of the Lagan forces quartered in the north-west of
Ulster. Sligo was taken with but the loss of twenty men, ¢‘and
the slaughter of 120 of the rebels.”?

At this time Connaught had as rival Presidents Lord Dillon,
who commanded for the King; Sir Charles Coote-—for the
Parliament ; and Malachias O’Kelly, Catholic Archbishop of
Tuam, for the Confederates, who being alarmed at the successes
of Coote and the northern forces, directed Sir James Dillon (one

! Wright's History of Ireland, p. 710.  * Cox., Vol. IL, p. 1569.
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of their officers) to march with 800 men fo the assistance of the
warlike Prelate, then busily employed in collecting forces for the
recapture of Sligo.

It would appear that on Sunday, the 17th October, 1645, the
Irish, under command of the Archbishop, suddenly surrounded
the town with 2000 foot and 800 horse.

¢ The garrison, seeing little hopes of the Ulsiermen’s
advance (not knowing they were then at Bundrowse), conceived
it of absolute necessity to hazard the fighting with the rebels
with their own strength and Sir William Cole’s troops, rather
then to lose themselves and the out-garrisons, which were in
a manner all blocked up by the rebels lying between them and
Sligo.’?

Prior to the attack on the Irish, Coote addressed his troops
in the following manner, and from his speech it would appear
* ag if in the morning he had gained some slight advantage over
the blockading force: ‘‘ Gentlemen:—You see God hath crowned
the beginning of this day’s access with His wonted goodness
toward us, which we are bound to look upon as a pledge or ear-
nest of His future mercy in giving us victory over a merciless
and blood-thirsty enemy. ILet not their number discourage
any, but call to mind the miraculous deliverances that have
been given us, and by what weak means we have obtained great
things. Remember we have the same God to protect us as
formerly, and it is the same cause we fight for. If we turn our
backs, we dishonour Him that can as well deliver by weak means
as by a mighty host of men. If we prevail, we shall be instru-
ments of His glory, and redeeming this country from Popery,
tyranny, and oppression. We shall be furnished not only with
victuals, money, and pillage, but with great store of powder,
match, and ammunition, and the enemy so disheartened, that
they will not dare in a short time to appear in the field against
us.)} 2

“ Captain Richard Coote and Captain Cole commanded our
horse, being 200, who charged the rebels’ horse very resolutely,
and fell into the sword pell-mell, and beat them amongst the

! The Irish Cabinet, dc., p. 17. The spelling is modernized.
* The Weekly Account, Jan, 15th, 1646. The spelling is modernized.
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divisions of their own foot, and routed them, which Lieutenant-
Colonel Saunderson (sallying out of the town) recovered with
the foot, and Sir F. Hamilton came also with his troop in
the nick of time, and had the execution of the rebels for five
miles, their foot taking flight upon giving ground of their horse.
In the pursuit, their commander and President of that province
(the titular Archbishop of Tuam) was slain.! Our men took 150
of their horses, with pistols, all their baggage, tents, and
ammunition. There were two wagons with rich spoil and
money in them; they took several of their standards and
colours, four and twenty drummers, and officers of note, in
number forty-eight, who are now prisoners in Sligo. About 200
of their men lay killed in the place, and many more had been,
if plunder had not been preferred before execution by our foot.
We had but one killed of Sir William Cole’s troop, and six
horsemen hurt, and some horses. Upon this defeat 1000 foot
and 200 of the enemy’s horse more, that were on their
march to Sligo, friendly turned back with their fellows, whom
they met in great haste flying, and our Laggan forces coming
also to relieve us, are now with us beleaguering two strongholds
of the rebels near our quarters.”

‘““ General Taaffe sent a trumpet to Sligo, and got news on
the 27th inst. (i.e., October) that the Scots will not part with
my Lord Archbishop’s body, without getting out of it £30
sterling. The said trumpeter brought with him two letters
from the commander of Sligo offering to exchange pri-
soners ; ours write that they are kindly used by them, and

! The following is an Irish account of the death of this fighting Pre-
late :—¢¢ October 26th (1645). The Connaught army proceeded to Sligo
to take it by force from the Scotch ; but before they were aware, five or
six troops of cavalry from Tyrconnell and from Enniskillen came upon
them, and drove them back to the encampment. The Archbishop of
Tuam was killed by a wound in his shoulder, and also his priest. The
name of the Prelate was Maolshaughlin O’Coyle, a doctor remarkable for
his learning, his goodness, and the rectitude of his life. They died, but
four Scotchmen fell by their hands in that battle. Many of the Burkes
and of the other Irish were taken prisoners, and the camp was given up
to plunder. The Scotch reinforced the garrison of Sligo.”

2 Good News from Irveland, &:c.—a contemporaneous pamphlet. The
spelling is modernized. See also The Irish Cabinet, pp. 17, 18.
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desire relief and ransom. John Garvey (Lieutenant-Colonel to
Sir Tibbot Bourk, eldest son to Lord Mayo) is prisoner at New-
town, with Mr. Jackson ; and the rest at Sligo.”*

In the baggage of the Roman Catholic Archbishop of Tuam,
the victors found (amongst other papers of consequence) a com-
plete and authentic copy of the private treaty which the Earl of
Glamorgan had concluded with the Confederates, and in which
was contained a distinet recital of his commission and of his
oath to the Confederates. An acquisition so important was
without delay transmitted to the English Parliament; the
documents were printed by directions of the House, and every
means were employed to assist in their dissemination through-
out the country, to the discredit of the King, the scandal of his
Protestant adherents, and the exultation of his enemies.

The Archbishop of Tuam had intended to visit his diocese,
and to put in execution an order for the arrears of his bishopric
—granted to him by the Supreme Council of Kilkenny. This
order, together with the Pope’s Bull, and several other important
letters from his correspondents and agents at Rome, Paris, and
various parts of Ireland, was found on his person after death.’
The following is a brief summary of their contents :—

¢ That the Pope would not eﬁgage himself in the sending of a Nuncio
for Ireland, till the Irish agents had fully satisfied him that the establish-

! The following is a list of the prisoners as taken from A Letter to the
Warden of Galway, and quoted by Hardiman in his History of Galway,
p. 123 :—¢¢ Lieutenant-Colonels Morogh Flaherty (Lt.-Col. to Ric. Bourk,
cousin german to the Earl of Clanricarde, and his next heir); and John
Garvey. Majors Richard Bourke (Major to Ric. Bourk Earl of Clanric-
arde, son and heir to Sir William Bourk, brother to the late Farl), and
William Shaughnessy (brother to Sir Roger O’Shaughnessy). Captain
Gerald Dillon (son to Sir Lucas Dillon, who saith that his father was shot
in the thigh); and Roger Costello. Lieutenants Christopher Ryan,
Conor O’Heyne; and Teige Flaherty. Cornets John Barnwell and
William Terel. Ensigns John Bedlow ; Bryan Kelly ; Hugh MacGilli-
cooley and James Linch. Troopers, Richard Bedlow ; Edward Fitzgerald ;
Garret Dillon ; Richard Bourk ; John Boyle ; John Fitz-Garet ; Francis
Cadel ; Christopher Kent ; Richard Bourk ; John Higgins. Drummers
Thomas Walsh and Connor Quin. Two footmen with a cornet, and seven
troopers formerly taken in the skirmish at Ballymote.” The information
placed within brackets is taken from Good News from Ireland.

2 The Irish Cabinet, pp. 18, 19. The spelling is modernized.

G
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ment of the Catholic Religion was a thing feasible and attainable in this
kingdom ; whereupon he was content to solicit their cause with Florence
and Venice, &c., and also to delegate Farmano—his Nuncio—to attend this
Kingdom : who (the said Nuncio), after some delays in France, was at
last expedited thence by express order from the Pope, and he arrived at
the River of Kilmare in a Frigate of one and twenty pieces, six and
twenty Italians of his retinue, Secretary Belinges, and divers regular and
secular priests, October 22nd. The Irish are much encouraged with these
supplies, which he hath brought ; the list whereof found about the Arch-
bishop is : Imprimis. Two thousand muskets, four thousand () liers,
two thousand swords, four thousand petronels, and twenty thousand
pounds of powder (all which arrived in another barque by itself at Brook-
haven, October 10), together with five or six desks or small trunks of
Spanish gold—the sum uncertain.

¢“ These letters likewise inform us that the King’s hopes are from the
TIrish nation, and if they desert him, he is like to be in a hard condition
very speedily. Several other things they contain concerning Prince
Rupert, Colonel Legg, the King's losses at Bristol and Chester. Some
there is also of the Treaty of Peace. Ormond, says one, is found a
Machiavelian ; Dillon, Muskerry, Talbot, are for peace. Conditionibus qui-
buscung iniquis, says another. Our public affairs are in via, non in ter-
mino, says a third. The propositions high, the answers high and sly ;
there are some mysteries of state in this business which I cannot commit
to paper, yet morally certain it is, there will be peace, saith a fourth. It
seems also there were some differences amongst the rebels themselves, as
between Muskerry and Brown, insomuch that Brown is despatched from
Dublin to Kilkenny between Castlehaven and Preston, insomuch that
Father Scaramppe went from the Supreme Council to reconcile them.
There was also a private letter of suspicious informations against Dominico
Spinola, an agent in Ireland, wherein he is said to hold correspondence
with the Queen of England (Henrietta Maria) in France, and to be a
lover of their enemies.”

The effect produced by the publication of these secret in-
trigues did more to damage the cause of the King than the
losses he had sustained in the field during the year.

Coote, meantime, took full advantage of his success at Sligo,
in a military as well as political point of view. With the Laggan
troops he overran the Barony of Tireragh, and captured therein
thirteen castles ‘“ well provided with corn, which was our chief
want, and like to be the loss of the whole province, if God in
this miraculous manner had not supplied it. The oxen which
drew the enemy’s wagons drew our ordnance for the taking in
of the said castles, and now our men have good quarter for
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this winter about the said castles, which keep the country
under contribution.”! :

The depredations of Sir Charles Coote and the Parliamentary
forces in Connaught became so alarming that the Confederates
urged the Marquis of Ormond to declare against them. O’Neil
was appointed general of the Confederates in Connaught; but he
would obey no orders, not even those of the Nuncio, although
his followers called themselves the Pope’s army.

Sligo seems to have remained for some considerable time in
undisputed possession of the Parliamentarians, for on the 10th
December, 1646, Mr. Annesley, Sir Adam Loftus, Sir John
Temple, and Sir Hardress Waller, being then in England, made
a report of the condition of Ireland to the Parliament, in which
they stated that the only places held by them in Connaught were
Sligo and five or six castles wherein the Parliament hath
600 horse and 1400 foot.’? Up to the middle of the summer -
of the following year, Connaught was ‘“ entirely in the hands of
the Confederates, Sligo and three or four castles only ex-
cepted.”3

About the . close of July, 1647, ¢ Mac Art [O’Neil] was
commanded to go and take in Sligo in Connaught, then the
only considerable place the English had in Connaught, which
was gotten from the Irish the year [? two] before, and some other
castles, for until the year [sixteen hundred and] forty-five, the
Irish were at peace and quietness there, from the Beginning of
the Warrs, without any army troubling them, which made them
not to be so Military as the other Provinces that were commonly
at action. Mac Art [O’Neil] having marched with his army as
farr as these Mountains beyond Abby-boil, in order to take in
Sligo, where his pioneers were at work five or six weeks through
Rockey mountains to make way for his guns.”*

In the year 1649 Prince Rupert held a correspondence with
O’Neil and other discontented Irish; encouragement was given

in his name to all who were willing to serve the King in ‘/an

' The Irish Cabinet, p. 18. The spelling is modernized.
* Cox, Vol. 1L, p. 191.

3 Ibid., Vol. IL., p. 198.

‘ The History of the Warr of Ireland, pp. 57, 58.
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opposite way to the present Government.”! Monroe, whom the
King had commissioned to command in Ulster, was detached
into Connaught to assist the forces employed against Coote, and
in conjunction with Clanricarde to reduce the Parliamentary
garrisons in the West; the aid then rendered seems to have
been useful, for it is stated by Cox ‘‘ that the Marquis of Clan-
ricarde took Sligo in the month of May.” '

In the year 1650% Connaught was the only province entirely
in the hands of the Irish. ‘“The possession of Galway and
Sligo gave them a facility of receiving succours by sea; they
were still in a position to recover themselves had they possessed
the union and resolution which are above all things necessary
to overcome such difficulties as they had to encounter.”

In the middle of the year 1651 Sir Charles Coote, with two
thousand horse and an equal number'of foot of the Ulster army,
suddenly advanced as if intending to capture Sligo; but when
the attention of the Irish was occupied in preparing to assist the
place, he suddenly drew off his army, and forcing the passage of
the Curlew mountains, captured Athlone before it could be re-
lieved. This was preparatory to the Siege of Limerick, the last
stronghold of the Confederates; and on its fall, Sligo and
Ballymote were taken by Coote and Venables.

The following is a copy of the document drawn up on the
surrender of the castle of Ballymote :—

‘¢ ARTICLES OF AGREEMT. betweene the L& President of Connaught

on y*one part and Major Gen" Luke Taaffe on the other part. Con-
cluded June 24th, 1652.%

! The form of expression which is here used naturally calls to mind
the anecdote of a modern son of Erin who had arrived in America not
long prior to an expected Presidential election. When asked if he were
prepared to vote Republican or Democrat, his reply was that he didn’t
understand Republican or Democrat, but that he was ‘“agin (i.e., against)
the Government.” »

216560, June. Agreement with gentry of County Sligo on payment of
£1800 for the year. (Signed) Ormond, Clanricarde, &c.— Reports Com-
misstoners His. MSS. xxxv.

31t is docketed : “* Articles of Ballymote with Coll. Taaffe. Agreem® made,
and concluded between Major Genrall S* Hardress Waller, Coll. Thomas
Sadler,” &c. This document is preserved in a volume entitled Aurticles of
Capitulation of Cities, Towns, and Garrisons on behalf of the Common-
wealth, 1647 and 1652. Folio 86. Public Record Office, Dublin.
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““ That the Garrison of Balimote w* all the Arms and Stores of Am-
municion and provision be Surrendered by Seauen of the Clocke to-mor-
row Morning to the L President, or such as hee shall appoynt (Except
hereafter Excepted) :—

¢ That Major-Genn" Taaffe, the Officers and Sould™ and all others now
in Ballimote shall march forth w™ their Armes, bag and baggage, to such
place as they shall desire :—

¢“That the Goods belonging to Any in Protection, or shall desire the
same, bee preserved for the use of the Respective Owners, and that
twenty dayes be Allowed for the Removall of such goods, and that in the
mean time A Convenient place w™ in the S* Castle be allowed for the pre-
serving them from Imbezilm®, and that Major Genn" Taaffe, with his
family, not Exceeding twelve persons in Number, bee admitted to con-
tinue in Balimote during that time :—

“‘That Major Genn" Taaffe and Such others as are in Balimote shall
have A safe Conduct to Continew w™ in the quarters during the Space of
three months, and att y* Expiration thereof be Received into the ptection
of the Parliam' if they desire the same :—

¢ That Major Genn" Taaffe and the Tennants and others in Balimote
shall Enjoy their corne in ground, paying Contribution as others do :—

¢“That the Lady Taaffe shall have Liberty w* her family to Reside att
Balimote in Protection of the State of England, and that the said Castle
if Necessity doth not otherwise Require shall bee left free to her use, after
the Expiration of two months from the date heerof, she giving or pro-
curing sufficient Security that it shall not be possessed by any party in
- armes against the State of England, or become otherwise prejuditiall to
their affayres, and that the Castle of Balimote shall ab all times be free
to give shelter to any part of the Parliamt™ fforces, and redelivered upon
demand to the use of the Parliamt, and that the Castle of Balimote shall
nott be guarisoned afterwards butt upon Apparent Necessity :—

“ That Major-Genn" Taaffe shall have Liberty to Transplant 1000 méen
beyond seas, if hee can make his agreem® w* the Spanish agent, or any
other in Amyty w* the Comonwealth of England :—

¢ That Major Genn" Taaffe, and his Wife in his Absence, shall enjoy
their Estates as others of the same qualification :—

““ That Hostages bee Imediately Sent forth for the performance of
these Articles,—-"

For upwards of ten years the tide of battle had continued to
ebb and flow around Sligo, but victory now finally rested with
the Parliamentarians.



CHAPTER XV.

SURVEY AND ACT OF SETTLEMENT, ETC.

““ What constitutes a State ?

Men who their duties know,
But know their rights, and, knowing, dare maintain.

And sovereign law, that State’s collected will,
O’er thrones and globes elate,
Sits empress, crowning good, repressing ill.”

URING the heat of the political struggle in England
bet“'rgen Charles I. and the Parliament, the latter,
being in want of money to carry on the contest, had
offered lands of such of the Irish as were in actual
rebellion, to persons who should advance money to
help in the suppression of the rising in that country.
These people were styled ‘‘ adventurers,” because they
had adventured or risked their money. By means of the fund
thus obtained, an army was raised which, owing to the state of
the civil war in England, was employed there, and never landed
in Ireland ; yet the claims of the ‘‘ adventurers ” had to be met
by the Irish Exchequer. “

There was another much more formidable class to be reck-
oned with, namely, the Parliamentarian troops elamouring for
their pay. With them it was decided to settle in the same way
as with the ‘‘ adventurers,” and by the only means in the power
of the Parliament, .c., by giving to the army grants of land
equivalent to the arrears of pay due to them.

For the satisfaction of the demands of these two classes of
creditors of the State, certain lands throughout every county in
Ireland were sppciﬁcally named, amongst which were the for-
feited lands one statute mile around the town of Sligo, and so
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extending along the coast of Connaught, and the banks of the
Shannon. This was designated the “ Mile-line *’ o Connaught
belt, and was to be settled with Protestant soldiery in order to
shut in the Irish both by land and sea, for the Province of Con-
naught was reserved for the Irish, and for such of the ancient
Irish proprietors as, having forfeited their lands, were there to
get re-grants proportionate to their conduct during the rebel-
lion. Connaught was selected on account of its remoteness,
and the comparative facility with which it could be strategically
isolated.!

At the close of the year 1653 a fearful famine prevailed
throughout the Province, resulting, not so much from the ra-
vages of war, as from the wanton destruction, by the Irish, of
cattle and sheep, merely because they belonged to English
settlers.

According to a computation made by Mr. Hardinge, Con-
naught contained, in the year 1655, about 80,500 souls ; whilst
in 1659, owing to the influx of transplanted Irish, the number
rose to nearly 105,000. Under these conditions it is calculated
that the County Sligo could scarcely have mustered 7000
inhabitants in the first instance, and 21,000 in the second
instance. This is not surprising, for (according to a census
taken in the year 1644) Dublin—despite its augmented popu-
lation, owing to the influx of refugee Protestants—contained
not more than 8159 inhabitants, of whom 2608 were Roman
Catholics.

All the towns throughout the kingdom were reserved from
the Irish, and, as land became scarce, the Sligo Baronies of
Tireragh and Carbury at first, and then, Tirerrill, Corran, and
Leyny were taken to be set out as security for the disbanded
soldiery ; £500 was declared to be equivalent to 1000 acres in
Sligo ; for Connaught (after Ulster) was then considered to be

! Declaration of the Committee, 29th December, 1653.—¢¢ Places in Con-
naught out of Protection. The following places as known harbours for
the enemy . . . . . ordered to be out of protection . . . . in Sligo, the
barony of Coolavin (except the Randes), the inhabitants to be warned by
Sir Charles Coote, President of Connaught, to remove by 15th March
next; in default, themselves, their cattle and goods, to be treated as
enemies.”’
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the least valuable territory. There was a yearly quit-rent
reserved by the Crown of three-halfpence per acre, and any
grantee of 1000 acres was entitled to have the lands erected
into a manor, with the accompanying privileges.

The lands in Ireland were set out to the army by lot; as
soon as the lot was drawn, the person satisfied delivered up his
debenture on the spot, receiving in exchange a certificate declar-
ing the amount of pay due to him, and the number of acres
to which he was entitled in satisfaction thereof; his half-pay
then ceased. It is stated by Prendergast, in his Cromwellian
Settlement, that *“in addition to the original list of those to
be satisfied by the Commissioners, additional lists were con-
stantly sent down of soldiers whom they were to admit to
receive their satisfaction as if they had been in the original
lists.”’! Prendergast also says that ‘‘ proposals were received
in January, 1655, for the planting of the town of Sligo and
lands thereabouts, with families from New England, and lands
on the ¢ mile-line,’ together with two little islands, called Oyster

14 A list of seyeral persons of Captain Lewis Jones troop of horse that
desire satisfaction for their arrears in the county of Sleigo :—

£ s d A RIS
Corporal John Jones 4319 0 97 3 24
Alexander Irwin ... 2214 4 45 124
Christopher Jones ... 2115 8 43 2 0
Richard Jones o B0 § 2 40 3 8
James Hugh 21 3 5 42 1 8
Quarter-Master Nicholas Goulding 232 14 9 465 1 24

Pence excluded, total is £367 13 0 785, 1.8

¢¢ These are to certify that the arrears of the above persons are stated,
and amount to the several sums according to their names respectively
annexed, for which proportions of land are required at the rate £500 for
1000 acres; as are likewise to their sums affixed, which amount in the
whole for the said £367 13s. 0d. to the sum of 735a. 1. 8p.

¢ WILLIAM DIGGES.
¢¢ 30th March, 1655,

¢ To Major W. Shepherd, Major John King, and the other Commis-
sioners for the setting out lands in the County of Sleigo, that they
be added to the list of those to be satisfied there, and be permitted
to draw lots as if they had been named in the original list.”
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Island,! and Coney Island® (containing 200 acres), were leased
for one year from 10th April, 1655, for the use of such English
families as should come from New England in America.”

For an extensive redistribution of land an accurate Survey
was required, and this was undertaken by Dr. (afterwards Sir
William) Petty, under direction of the Government. The Survey
in question—commonly known as the Down Survey—was effected
about the year 1655, and is (with the exception perhaps of
Strafford’s) the first that had been made to scale in Ireland.®
The maps were originally in books, containing also those of the
baronies, and of the parishes in each barony, together with an
abstract or sheet of reference to each map ; but in the year 1711,
unfortunately, a number of these volumes were nearly—some of
them indeed totally—destroyed by a fire which broke out in the
house in which they were then kept. The uninjured Maps, to-
gether with such as more or less suffered from the fire, are now
carefully preserved in the Record Office, and, as regards Sligo,
the injured Maps are as follows :—

THE BAroNY OF CARBURY.—Parishes of Dromcliffe, Kil M‘Owen,
Killasbegbrown, Aghamlisk, St. John's, and Calrie.

1 The Irish designation of Oyster Island was Inishroras, and it occurs
frequently in the Chancery and Exchequer Inquisitions. In one of the
former, taken at Ballymote, Tth June, 1610, before Thaddeus O’'Hara,
the Jury found “‘ quod Donogh oge M‘Bryan O’Connor de Grainge apud
Inishroras (¢llegible), 1595, intravit in accoe rebellion contra Dnam Eliza-
betham et tunc et ibim crudelissimum bellum contra (illegible) apud
Inishroras predict in com predict vicesimo die Julii, 15697, in eadem re-
bellione occisus fuit.” Inquisition No. 25 states that Calvagh O’Connor
was slain near Inishroras in the year 1599, as well as Donell m‘Fargana-
gleigh O’Connor in 1600. In a Chancery Inquisition, taken at Sligo,
1st October, 1616, before Anthony Peirse, the name Innisroragh occurs.

2 As before stated, the ancient name of the island was Inishmulclohy,
and in a Chancery Inquisition, taken at Roslee, 29th Dec., 1616, itis styled
¢¢ Innismulcloyha, als the Cony Island.” In an Exchequer Inquisition,
taken at Ballymote, 10 Feb., 1607, before Nicholas Brady, ¢ Horse
Island,” off Knocklane, is thus described: ‘‘quod due Insule in mar
vocat Insula Noclane et Insula ne Capple sunt insule continent 2 acras
terr, et Regi ptinent jure coroni sui.”

® Grants of money were from time to time given on account ; for in-
stance, ¢ £118 for admeasuring 57,000 acres in Sligo;” and again, ‘“£86
for admeasuring 43,000 acres in the same,” at the rate of about 4d. per
acre.
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THE BArRONY OF CorrRAN.—Parishes of Tumower, Kilturroe, Clonco-
ghill, Kilmurrogh, Killoshally and Drumratt, and Emlaghfadda.

THE BArRoNY OF LEVNY.—Parishes of Kilmacteige, Kilwarnett, Kil-
lorin, and Ballishandra.

THE BaroNY oF TIRErRAGH.—Parishes of Castleconner, Kilglasse,
Skrein, Templeboy, alias Corkagh, Eskeagh, Dromard, Kilmacshalgan,
Kilmoremoy.

THE BaroNY OF TIRRERAIL.—Parishes of Tawnagh, Kilrasse, Bally-
sandragh, Kil M‘Allan, Dromcollum, Killery, Ballisomaghan, Sankuagh,
Athehanagh, Ballinakill, Killodowin, and Kilmactrany.

In each page of this Book of Survey and Distribution, as
regards Sligo, the County, Barony, and Parish are named in the
heading ; the first column contains the number of the plot as
marked on the map of the Parish ; the second column states the
name of the proprietor of the plot in the year 1641 ; the third
column contains the designation of the lands in question, and
columns fourth and fifth the number of acres profitable and un-
profitable, according to the Survey ; the sixth column states the
No. on the Parish Map, and the seventh column sets down the
quantity of land granted ; in the eighth column were the names
of the grantees, and there was another column for general ob-
servations. (See Appendix.)

The following alphabetical list of the new proprietors of the
County Sligo is extracted from this Book of Survey and Distri-
bution. The names of those with an asterisk prefixed held lands
in the County previous to the rebellion of 1641 :—

Aylmer, fitzGerald, a minor ; *Bishop’s land ; Barrett, Edmd. ; Bar-
rott, Edwd. ; *Blundell, Sir George ; *Blundell, Lady ; *Boswell, John ;
Boswell, William ; Bourke, Lieutenant John ; Briscoe, William ; Browne,
Michael ; Brown, Robert ; *Carlingford, Earl of (Taaffe) ; *Clanrickard,
Earl of ; Clifford, John; Collis, Captain Charles; *Collooney, Lord
(Coote) ; Cooper, Cornet Edward ; *Cork, Earl of ; *Crofton, Edward or
Sir Edward ; Crofton, Henry; Crofton, John; Donnelan, Edmund ;
*Dowdall, Henry ; *Ffagan, Christopher; Gore, Arthur; Gore, Francis
or Sir Francis; Harte, Tho. ; Hughes, Henry ; Hunter, William ; Irwin,
Henry ; Jones, Jeremiah; *Jones (Dame), Mary; Jones (Sir), Theo. ;
Jones, Thomas; King, "Fra.; King, James; King (Sir), Robert;
*Kingston, Lord ; Lang, Hellin ; Linehinan, David ; Lovelace, Thos.;
Magrath, Bryan ; Marky, Lieut. John; Martyn, Peter; Morgan, Cap-
tain Robert; Newcomen, Sir Thomas ; Nicholson, Edward ; Nicholson,
Hen. ; Nicholson, John ; Ormsby, Anthony ; also Edmd., Geo., James,
Phill, Robert, and Will.; *Parke, Captain Robert ; Pious uses; *Plun-
kett, Ann ; * Radecliffe, Sir Geo. ; Radcliffe, Hugh ; Rutledge, Nicholas ;
Sodden, Thomas ; *Earl of Strafford ; Thornton, John ; Trustees for y*
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Barracks ; Weaver, Francis; Webb, Henry ; Webb, William ; Wilkin-
son, John ; Wingfield, Lewis ; *Wood, Thomas, 8 \Voolton or Woolten,
Fras.; Yeadon, John Yeadon, Thos.

Upon his restoration, Charles II. was harassed with con-
flicting claims in regard to the settlement of the forfeited lands
in Ireland. However, as the political party comprising the
soldiers and ¢ adventurers ”’ had been that to which he was in-
debted for the re-establishment of his authority in Ireland, he
was morally and legally bound to confirm these grants.

The celebrated Declaration of Charles II., which was in sub-
stance embodied in the Act of Settlement passed in 1662—like
most compromises—execited dissatisfaction amongst all the con-
flicting parties. Two years of weary wrangling ensued, till at
length it was suggested by the Irish Roman Catholies that they
would be satisfied by the consent of the ¢ adventurers ” and sol-
diers to resign one-third of the lands. ‘This proposal was agreed
to, and a Bill—styled the Act of Explanation—was framed on
those lines, with the addition that to the King was given the
power of restoring a certain number of his former adherents
(hence called nominees) to their estates. This bill was unani-
mously passed, 15th December, 1665. Five commissioners were
appointed to superintend-the carrying out of these acts. It
was a duty which continued for a long time to give trouble to
the Government, and dissatisfaction to the people, and the
regular course of law was continually interrupted by special
grants, and letters obtained by individuals from the King.”

The Appendix contains the Schedule and Report of Cornet
Thomas Wood—and also of Richard ffibs—as specimens of the
form employed before the Court of Claims; every proprietor
then in possession of lands appears to have been obliged to pre-
sent a petition and schedule to this Court in order to establish
his title. A list of the petitions that were lodged relating to
the County Sligo—as far as can be ascertained—is here given.

! According to the Calendar of State Papers, Ireland, for the years 15688-
92 (p. 352), a Thomas Wood was then Constable of the Castle of Bally-
mote, and was favourably recommended by Sir R. Bingham, Lord
President of Connaught, to Burleigh, Elizabeth’s Prime Minister. No. 9
Chancery Inquisition, taken at Sligo, 9th June, 1610, before Alfred Os-
baldson, found that ¢ Thomas Wood, in nomine Ricardi Boyle milit clamat

quarter terrse de Clonyganvin.” George Wood, ¢‘ de Killarra,” was High
Sheriff for the County Sligo, 17th James I
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Claimants’, &e.,

| Countles con-

Nature of the

Gronnds of Ciaim,

Names. bk | tﬁ:;,%‘}.t:? ‘:lée Reports. Observations, &e.

Byrne, James ‘ 28 | Sligo ...| Report on claims | Soldier. Dated

& schedule. 16 Octr, 1666

Clifford, John 27 | do. ...| Report on petition | d°>. Dated 14

& schedule. Fbr. 1666.
Collis, Captain Charles 56 | Wexford,Kil-| Report on petition | d°. Dated 22
kenny,Sligo.| and schedule. August, 1666.
Cooper, Cornet Edward| 43 | Sligo, Limer-| Report on petition | de.
ick, Kerry. | & schedule.
Darcey, James Sligo, Mayo,| Report for hearing | As his inherit-
Galway, claims of trans-| ance, and as
Clare. planted persons. assignee.
(0’)Dowd, David 876 | Sligo 5 As his ancient
Report to Com** | estate of in-
for transplanters.| heritance.
Dowde, Daniel ...; 1026 | Sligo, Mayo de. As his inherit-
ance and as
assignee.

Dowde, Miles, and | 482 | Sligo .| Ditto, on petition | As sonand heir.
Christopher and claim.

Ellis, Ismay, alias| 488 | Sligo .| Report on petition | As their an-
Taaffe, widow, and and claim. cient estate.
Peter Ellis, her son

Fibbs, Richard 35 | Sligo .| Report on petition | As a soldier.

and schedule.

Gower, Francis, alias 62 | Sligo, Mayo | Report on petition |In right of ad-
Gore and schedule. venturers.
Harle, Thomas 88 | Sligo ..]Report on claim |In right of

and schedule. soldiers.

Hart, Captain Thomas | 124 [ Sligo s a%

Hughes, Cornt. Henry 51 » ..., Report on petition | As a soldier.

and schedule.

Hunter, William ... L7418 s ..| Report on schedule as

and claim,

Jones, Jeremigh x| 250 '8 .| Report on petition | In  right of

and schedule. soldiers.

Jones, Oliver 15 5 Mayo, ae. In right of a

Roscom- Connaught
mon. purchaser.

King, Francis Sligo .| Report on petition | Soldier.

& schedule,
King, James Sligo .| Comers. on petition | Adventurer.
& schedule.

Lloyd, Thomas, a 25 | Roscommon,| Report of claim, ac-| It is not stated
minor Sligo, Mayo., cordingtodeeds& | in right of

final settlements. | whatclaimed.

Lovelace, Thomas 44 | Sligo .| Report on petition | Soldier.

& schedule.
Lynehian, David 54 | Sligo ...| Report on claim | Soldier. Dated
& schedules. 1666.
Markey, Lieut. John...; 14 | Sligo .| Report on petition | Soldier. Dated
and schedule. 1666.
M‘Donogh, Oliver 71 | Sligo ...| Report on petition | Under his fa-
& schedule; ther, who
transplanters. - had a decree
at Athlone. |

M‘Donogh, Connor ...\ 1048 | Sligo ...| do. .| Asthe estate of

his aneestors.'
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Claimants’, &c.,

Counties con-

Nature of the

|
Grounds of Claim,

Names. B E’ggﬁg;&;&e Reports. Observations, &c.
Morgan, Robert 54 | Limerick, Report on petition | Soldier,
Sligo, Tippe-| & schedule.
rary, Kerry.
Nicholson, Edward ...| 40 | Sligo ..., Comers. on petition | Soldier.
: & schedule,
Nicholson, Dr. Henry 38 | Sligo, Mayo | Comers. on petition | Soldier.
& schedule.
Nicholson, Dr, Henry 24 Comers. on petition | Soldier.
\ & schedule
Q’Connor, Charles 815 | Sligo, Mayo | Report of trans- | As the ancient
planters on pefi- | estate of his
p tion & claim, ancestors, &c.
Ormsby, Quarter- 18 | Sligo ..! Report on Petition. | Soldier.
Master Anthony
Ormsby, Cornet George 8 | Sligo ...! Report on petition | Soldier..
y and schedule.
Ormsby, Cornet Philip 47 | Sligo, Mayo | Report on petition | Soldier.
& schedule.
Ormsby, William 21 | Sligo ««.| Report on petition | Soldier.
& schedule.
Parke, Captain Robert | 88 | Sligo, Lei- | Report on petition [ In right of
trim. & schedule. pre-emption,
Parke, Roger 55 | Sligo .| Report on petition | Soldier.
& schedule.
Rea, James 73 | Sligo .| Report on petition | In right of
& schedule. soldiers.
Rutleidge, Nicholas ...| 25 | Sligo .| Report on petition|In right of
& schedule. soldiers.
Strafford, William, 148 | Sligo .| Report on petition { In right of
Earl of & schedule. soldiers.
Thornton, John .| 23 | Sligo .| Report on petition [ In right of
& schedule. soldiers.
Vaughan, Owen and 11 | Roscommon,| Report on petition | Soldier, &e.
Thomas Mayo, Sligo.| & schedule. Dated 1666.
Weaver, Francis Sligo ...| Report on petition | Soldier.
& schedule.
Webb, William 112 | Sligo, Mayo | Report on petition | Soldier.
& schedule.
Westmeath, Earl of ... Westmeath, | Report on petition | This contains
Cavan, & schedule. several im-
Dublin, propriations.
Roscom-
mon, Sligo,
Longford,
Leitrim,
Meath.
Wingfield, Lewis ...| 134 | Sligo ...|Reports on Petition.| Soldier.
Wood, Cornet Thomas 70 . ...| Report of lands to | This is signed
be confirmed to| ¢ Thomas
him after re-| Symes, John
trenchment made | Pettie,”
according to rule
prescribed in the
Explanation Act,
in satisfaction of
2 third parts.
5 Ditto to Ditto, on |Soldier.

Wood, Thomas i

Ditto

petition, &ec.




CHAPTER XVI.

REVOLUTION oF 1688.

‘A people who take no pride in the noble achievements of remote
ancestors, will never achieve anything worthy to be remembered by re-
mote descendants.”

2N the year 1685 James II. succeeded his brother
{ Charles II., and this event gave inexpressible
delight to the Roman Catholics of Ireland, who
thus, after a lapse of more than a hundred years,
/ were ruled by a King of their own faith. James made
the fairest promises to protect the interests of his Pro-
testant subjects; and if, in his efforts for the emancipa-
tion of the Roman Catholics, e had confined himself simply to
procure the erasure from the statute book of the laws aimed at
them, and to have them admitted to all public situations on
equal terms, as he professed, with Protestants—had such been
his sole aim, and he had failed—as William III. failed in a
similar design—then he would have been looked upon as a
liberal-minded man. The supremaey, however, not the tolera-
tion of his Church, was his object; and the steps he took to
accomplish this made even the Pope lukewarm in his cause.

The Corporations of Ireland were particularly obnoxious to
James, as almost all the members were Protestants; but they
were now compelled to admit Roman Catholics in overwhelming
numbers. The new burgesses were taken from a class go poverty-
stricken that they were unable to pay the fees to the Attorney-
General on appointment. Sligo Corporation escaped with
comparative immunity. It would be invidious to point out who
amongst these burgesses were Protestants, and who Roman
Catholies, as the descendants of some have since changed their
creed.
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The following is a list of the members of the new Corpora-
tion of Sligo—established by James upon the ruins of the old
one, destroyed either by quo warranto or a forced surrender,
21st March, 1687—taken from the Patent Roll of the High
Court of Chancery, as given by Harris in his History :—

¢ Andrew French, Provost. 24 Burgesses.—Martin O’Connor, Esq. ;
John Taaffe, Esq. ; Sir William Gore, Bt. ; Henry Craften, Esq. ; Oliver
O’Gara, Bsq.; Kane O’Hara, Esq.; Edward Craften, Esq. ; Pierce Gethin,
Esq.; James French, Bsq.; Philip Ormsby, Esq.; George Craften, Gent.;
Terence M‘Donogh, Esq.; Walter Phillips, Esq.; Philip Cox, Merchant ;
Jasper Bret, Esq.; John Crean, Gent.; Andrew Lynch,! Apothecary;
Anthony Crean, Merchant ; Peter Darcy, Merchant ; John Delap, Mer-
chant ; Bartholomew Jones, Esq.; Thomas Jones, Esq.; Andrew Martin,
Merchant ; Charles Hart, Gent. Laurence O’Hara, Town Clerk. ~

According to the return of the hearth tax in 1663, there were
about 1600 hearths paying tax in the county and town of Sligo;
of these there were but 144 in the town. This is not, however,
a reliable standpoint from which to calculate the probable popu-
lation, as many hearths must have escaped the tax-collector,
and, in many instances, more than one family inhabited the
same house.

1 It having been asserted that a collector was possessed of specimens
of money coined in the old monastery of Drumcliff, the statement was
deemed so important that inquiries on the subject were instituted, re-
sulting in the discovery of one of these so-called Drumcliff coins, which
proved to be merely a token issued by a Sligo merchant of the seven-
teenth century. It has no connection with the ancient monastery.

This copper token—the property of the late R. C. Parke, of Dunally
—weighs but 19 grs. Troy; it bears on a shield the arms of the family of
Lynch (one of the ¢ Tribes ”’ of Galway), i.e., a chevron between three tre-
foils slipped, around which is the following inscription : WALTER LyNcH
OF (and on the reverse) SLIGo, MERCHANT ; in the centre : W. L., 1666.

°”a ?él \@'
Fig. 13.—Merchant’s token of the seventeenth century (full size).
The family of Lynch would appear to have been some time established

in Sligo. The name occurs in the Survey of 1633-35, whilst at an Inqui-
sition held in the Abbey of Sligo, 8th April, 1622, it was found that one
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One of the Parliamentarian regiments was disbanded in
Sligo about the year 1653. The majority of the Protestant
yeomen of the county are descendants of these soldiers. Their
names are as follows® :—

Allan, Armstronge, Barber, Barclay, Benson, Black, Brown, Carter,
Charlton, Cole, Davis, Dennison, Duke, Fleming, French, Gilbert, Gil-
more, Glass, Grey, Hall, Henry, Hore, Hughes, Hunter, Irwin, Johnston,
Lang, Little, M‘Kin, Macklin, M‘Ilroy, Morrison, Nichols, Noble, Parke,
Porter, Reynolds, Rogers, Simpson, Smith, Trimble, Wallis, White,
Williams, Wilson, Winne.

The capital of the county contained more Protestants in pro-
portion to Roman Catholics than did the country districts. All
the civil officers, numbers of the gentry, and the wealthiest of
the merchants lived in the town. The following is an alpha-

Anthony Linch had murdered one John M‘Tibbot Reogh, and had there-
by forfeited his lands of Carrow-Reogh and Carrow-Tubber in the Barony
of Leyny.

These tokens were made of brass or copper, ‘‘ not broader but thinner
than our present farthings, and, like so many promissory notes, passed for
one penny each, in the neighbourhood, and amongst the customers of
those who issued them, whose names, together with the value, 1d., and
their coat of arms, sign, or cypher, were imprinted on their respective
pieces ; which experiment has often been put in practice in subsequent
reigns” (Simon, p. 48). The issue of these tokens was finally suppressed
in the year 1680.

Other Sligo tokens, current apparently between the years 1637 and
1679, bear the following inscriptions :—

I0HN . CONINGHAME . MERCH'. IN SLIGO.
HVNTER OF SLIGO, MARCHANT.

ARCHIBALD CONINGHAM MERCH'. IN SLIGO.

ARCHIBOLD CVNINGHAM MERCH'. IN SLico . 1678.

According to the Survey of Houses of the year 1663, a William
Hunter then owned property in Sligo, but the name Cuningham does not
appear in the list.

* Names of troopers disbanded in Sligo, circa 1655, taken from the
schedule of officers, &e., claiming as soldiers under the Acts of Settlement
and Explonation, &c., MSS., Record Office.
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betical list of the names of householders, &c., taken from “ A
Survey of Houses in the town of Sligo, 1663 ”1:—

Allen, Thos.; Armstrong, Geo.; Arthur, Peter ; Audley, Joseph ;
Barnes, Thom.; Barrett, Nicholas ; Bashford Clement Baxter, Garrett;
Bell, Willm. ; Bea.gﬂ'f, Richd.; Bennett, Walter ; Blake, Adam Blake,
W ; Booth Hum. ; Bramley, Wm. ; Bryan, Rlchd ; Butts, Nlcholas
Ca,rrone, J ohn ; Chapman; Walter ; Cockridge, Wm. ; Cooper, Cornet ;
Crafford, James ; Crafford, John ; Crafford, William ; Ctean, Andrew ;
Crean, Cicely; Dowan, Edwd.; Duany, Domk.; Duff, Conn.; Dun,
Nicholas ; Edgworth, Major ; Edmond, James ; Faber, Peter ; Falliagh,
Peter ; Fay, Pat; Fitzgerald, ——; Flinton, Saml.; Flood, Thos.;
French, Andrew ; Fritt, John ; Gamble, John ; Gara, Cormack ; Gara,
Edmd. ; Garren, Donagh ; Gillaspicke, Pat ; Gillegraff, John ; Gilman,
John ; Gorman, John ; Greene, Edwd.; Greystocke, Thos.; Halford,
Edwd.; Hamilton, John ; Hamlett, lelm Harrison, Thos. ; Hunter,
Willm. ; James, Thos.; Jones, Elizabeth ; Jones, Francis ; Kean, Ellinor ;
Kellyes, Wi.; Kenge, Wm.; Kirkwood, James ; Knox, James; Knox,
Jane; Lilly, David; Linch, Andrew; Longan, Sheely; Longden, John;
Lue, John; Mecllwhole, Janet; McDonogh, Edmd.; McDooan, Teig ;
McDovells, Colla ; McKilros, Owen ; MoLoughlin, Wm.; McLynn,
Nicholas; McMeelry, Edmd. ; McNemarra, Pat ; Malys, Edmd. ; March,
James ; Marches, Mathew ; Martyn, Brian; Martyn, James ; Martyn,
John ; Mihan, Pat; Mills, Richard ; Moran, Edmd. ; Morgan, Capt. ;
Morris, John; Munger, James; Myhan, Donogh ; Neilan, Hugh ;
O’Oonor, Chas.; O’Conor, Owen ; O’Conor, Sligo; O’Crean, Andrew ;
O’Bogherty, Cahir ; O’Flyny, Thos.; O’Kenny, Murragh; O’Maly,
Edmd.; O’'Mongan, Pat; Parke, Cornelius; Parsons, Richd.; Prover,
Maurice ; Rampkin, Hugh ; Ratcliffe, Geo.; Raven, Wm.; Rea, Gabriel ;
Redmond, Wm. ; Ronan, Roger ; Sanders, Henry; Scroopo, Russell ;
Sheile, Francis ; Smith, John; Smith, Wm.; Stoope, Wm.; Story, Wm.;
Stuart, Jane ; Symons, Paul ; Tewdy, John ; Troope, John Trumbell,
Elnr. ; Tullagh, Robert ; Wilhams, Thos. ; Wlllows, Robt. ; Wills, Rlchd
Wodlan, Wm.; Woods, Humphry.

The Protestant gentry, soldiers themselves, or the sons of
soldiers, were fully alive to the strategic importance of their
capital. Next to Galway it was then the best as well as the

! The Survey itself will be found in full at pp. 191-208, Sligo and the
Enniskilleners, Second Edition. It will doubtless form an item of
interest to many, as by reference to it a vivid and distinct impression
may be formed of the relative size and degree of importance of the town
of Sligo in the present day and in 1663. At that date it contained about
130 houses and cabins of the yearly value of £340 of the then currency.
The rateable value of the present area comprised within the town bound-
aries is nearly £19,000 per annum. ]

H
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most important seaport on the west coast: the town itself was
not tenable, being commanded by the surrounding heights ;
there were, however, two forts (st this period) in almost utter
ruin, but capable of easy restoration.!

The Stone Fort, as it was called, stood near the quay, on the
site now occupied by the Town Hall. It was quadrilateral in
shape, formed of massive walls of masonry, flanked by four
bastions, one of which commanded the bridge across the river,
which was built of stone, and very narrow—the site closely
adjoining the present Victoria Bridge.

The other fort stood on a high hill, to the north-east of the
Stone Fort, which it commanded, as well as the whole town and
harbour ; it was an earth-work, at the time in almost complete
ruin, but it may be as well to describe its state when restored.
It was quadrilateral in form, the ramparts enclosing nearly an
acre; there was a large bastion and platform at each of the four
corners ; the two gates were defended by a half-moon ; the whole
surrounded by a deep and broad fosse, from the edge of which
the hill sloped down regularly on every side, forming a natural
glacis. At each angle, within half musket shot of the ramparts,
stood a small spur fortified on two sides, but open at the gorge
g0 as to shelter the advance posts. A deep well in the middle
of the enclosure supplied water to the garrison. The site is still
commonly known in Sligo as the Green Fort. It was the
weakest of the two forts, as the outworks above-mentioned were
not added till 1690-91 by Sir Teigue O’Regan during his occu-
pation of Sligo.? In 1689 Colonel Henry Luttrell had previously
surrounded the town with some field-works, and connected the
Green Fort with it in a similar manner.

A force in possession of the town would bar the passage of
troops from Connaught to Ulster, as Sligo commanded the
routes leading from the West to Enniskiilen, Derry, and the
North. In fact, with this seaport and Enniskillen in the hands
of an enemy, entrance into the northern province, by way of
Connaught, would be rendered impossible, and would prevent

' 4 Relation of what most remarkable happened during the last campaign.
1689.

? Harris’s Life of King William I1II., p. 331,
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the flank of a force in Ulster being turned, so that, as might be
expected, Irish and English alike looked upon Sligo as the key
of North Connaught.*

¢¢ Of what infinite importance this town and the neighbouring posts
would have been, in case Londonderry had been forced to surrender, is
manifest to every person who consults the map. All the posts on Lough
Erne might have been well fortified, Ballyshannon secured, and a free
communication kept open with Enniskillen, and other strengths seated
both on the same Lough and the Shannon, and the war thereby pro-
tracted until King William’s affairs in England had been in such a
situation as to enable him to send a sufficient relief to his party in
Ireland.”* :

It must not be imagined that the town of Sligo then pre-
sented anything like its present appearance. The following
description of the capital of the county, written in 1678, does
not represent its aspect as imposing, and it could not have
made any very great strides in importance from that date té
1688 :— '

¢¢ Sligo being the chiefest town of that country was but a very poor
one about the latter end of the year 1652, having been totally ruined by
the late wars, and nothing left of it but some few bare walls and a com-
pany of poor Irish cabins: to distinguish the place where it stood. On
the east there is a lake of about five miles in length, out of which rung
into the bay a good stream of water, passing under a bridge, dividing the
town into two parts, wherein are frequently taken great stores of brave
salmons, pikes, and trouts, and overlooked also from a near hill by a very
strong fort to protect it. The whole country about it enriched with as
good land as any in Ireland, planted with a late English colony, the better
to secure this pass, resorted to from far and near by very many people to
buy cattle, as sheep and horses, being one of the famousest marts for that
purpose of any in that part of that kingdom. . . . I say Sligo being thus
happily situated, and accompanied with so many advantages, will, without
doubt, become ere long, a very handsome town.” 3

On the 5th November, 1688, William Prince of Orange
landed at Torbay. Intelligence of this invasion could not have
reached the West of Ireland much before the end of the month ;
but upon the news being received in Dublin, Tyrconnel, then
Lord Lieutenant for King James, at once despatched 3000 men

! A True Representation. 1690.
2 Harris’s Life of William III., p.198.
3 The Present State of Ireland, London, 1673, p. 262.
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to England, and applied himself to increase the force he had yet
remaining in Ireland. An order was issued for raising four new
regiments ; one to be drawn from each of the four Provinces of
the kingdom. Commissions were granted to any undertaking to
raise a certain number of men and maintain them; but as the
newly-appointed officers were unable to maintain even them-
selves, both men and officers lived on anything they could
pillage.

The lives of Protestants were threatened, their houses burned,
their crops seized, their cattle stolen—they were robbed, in-
sulted, and openly derided by Tyrconnel’s new levies, many of
whom were so elated that they could not refrain from taunting
their former masters, saying, they did not mind breaking the
present laws, as they should soon have the making of new.

As these new levies gained in numbers, and numbers begat
confidence, their threats were expressed more openly, and the
advisability of another massacre hinted at. The most moderate
among them would give no assurance of security to the settlers ;
on the contrary, warnings were sent by some well-disposed
Roman Catholics to their Protestant friends, recommending
them to sell their goods and fly the country, for a storm was
gathering that might soon burst.

The peasantry were all either armed or arming; even old
women and young children had their skeans and half-pikes, and
none were allowed to appear at mass without some kind of
weapon in their hands. Their looks and bearing became menac-
ing in the extreme; the slightest spark might have again ignited
a flame similar to that kindled in 1641 ; and, as their clergy had
been making fiery appeals to popular passions, it would have
been but natural had partial outbursts of ferocity on the part of
the Roman Catholics taken place, which would have spread
rapidly over the kingdom.

The Protestants lived in daily dread of an indiscriminate
butchery, although it is now certain that they were mistaken in
supposing a premeditated plan had been laid for that purpose;
outrages and robberies, however, occurring without intermission,
were to their view but the prelude of such a plan, and the belief
in an intended massacre found ready acceptance amongst them.
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This dread was in their minds fully confirmed by the following
event :—On the 8rd of December, a letter was found in the streets
of Comber, County Down, addressed to Lord Mount-Alexander,
informing him that a general massacre of the Protestants by the
Irish was planned to take place on the 9th. This letter had a
startling effect on the inhabitants of Ulster, the more so, as it
coineided with their preconceived ideas. Derry, owing either to
gross neglect, or the sense of perfect security on Tyrconnel’s
part, had been for some time without a garrison. A copy of
the Comber epistle reached that town early on the morning of
the 7th, closely followed by a messenger announcing the ap-
proach of Lord Antrim’s regiment of Irishry.

Whilst the magistrates were consulting what course to pur-
sue, the Apprentice Boys solved the difficulty by shutting the
gates in the face of James’s troops. A copy of the Comber letter
reached Enniskillen on the 7th, the same day it reached Derry,
and on the 11th two companies of James’s newly-raised levies,
ordered to occupy the town, fled on perceiving the Ennis-
killeners issuing from the town to oppose their entry.

The news reached Sligo with great rapidity, by way of
Manor-Hamilton and Newtown, where colonies of Protestants
had been planted shortly before.

The night of Sunday, the 9th, was looked forward to
throughout Sligo, as elsewhere, with heart-rending anxiety;
but it passed in tranquillity. No hearths were desecrated, no
houses fired ; the rays of the red winter’s sun fell on an unde-
vastated landscape, and the blue smoke still curled up in the
frosty air! from the chimneys of the unsacked homesteads.
The Protestants now thought that the massacre had been merely
deferred in consequence of its timely discovery; they could not
look upon the Comber letter as an audacious fraud ; indeed, the
majority still believed its contents to be true.

During the month of December, and probably before, the

11n the month of December, the weather was so severe that Lough
Gill could be traversed on the ice with safety. The latter end of winter
and the beginning of spring were very inclement ; terrible torrents of rain
and showers of sleet and snow left the rivers swollen and the roads almost
impassable.
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Protestants were organizing themselves in both Roscommon and
Sligo. In these efforts they were singularly favoured by fortune ;
for Tyrconnel had made the same mistake at Sligo as at Derry;
the Irish corps, raised in the county, had been withdrawn, and
the town left without a garrison.

While the gentry were hesitating as to the course they
should pursue, they learned that the newly-raised Irish forces
were daily taking possession of the strongest castles and most
commanding positions in the district, such as Belaghy and
Moygara, which belonged to Lord Kingston, also Ballymote.
They further learned that many hundreds of the Irish in the
Counties of Roscommon and Mayo were arming and forming
themselves into regiments of dragoons and foot, with the in-
tention of falling upon Boyle and Sligo, and from this latter
place marching against Ballyshannon when their preparations
were completed. Affairs looked threatening in the adjoining
counties, especially in Mayo. The Sligo gentry unanimously
agreed to secure their town, and call in the country people to
their aid; this, and similar gatherings of the gentry for self-
defence in various parts of Ulster, were called Associations.?
Lord Kingston and Captain Coote repaired to the town of Sligo
to arrange operations. The latter sent a trustworthy messenger,
requesting all the Protestants of Donegal who were desirous of
protecting themselves, to assemble in Ballyshannon and the town
of Donegal, and there hold themselves in readiness, not merely
to defend themselves against the intended attack of the Irish,
but also to advance to the support of the Sligo Protestants, lest
they should be crushed by the numerical superiority of the new
levies. Lord Kingston and Captain Coote directed an express
to be at once sent from Ballyshannon to Derry, to ascertain if
any assistance in the form of arms or ammunition from that
town could be obtained to supply their deficiencies. To avoid
discovery, they enjoined that the greatest care should be taken as

1 4 True Representation how matters were carried all along in Ireland,
1689.

2 ¢¢ The Association of the County Sligo .. . had a longer continuance,
and was conducted with more military skill than the North-Eastern.”—
Harris’s Life of William [I1.
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to whom their plan was communicated, naming Mr. Ffolliott,
Mr. Whiteway, Lieutenant Smith, and Mr. Atkinson, as the
most trustworthy, together with Mr. John Delap, to whom the
instructions were addressed.

{  Before seizing the town of Sligo, they intended to send out
a party of fifty or sixty, ‘“ who are to join in the County of Ros-
common with some more, to be commanded by Captain Coote
upon a very important design which, if it please God may be
effected, will be of great consequence to us all, and of no small
disadvantage to our enemies. That, if possible, is to be done
within two or three days. . . . What else is done here you shall
know it. 'We hope to have all done by Thursday, for we find
time is not to be slipt. . . . . Lord Granard is now in the
country; Lord Kingston went to him yesterday, and this night,
or to-morrow morning, we expect to know how his pulse beats.
‘We are told Derry is surrendered.”?

This rumour of the surrender of Derry does not seem to
have delayed or discouraged them from the intended seizure of
the town of Sligo, which was safely accomplished a few days
after, on Thursday, 3rd January, 168%.

On Friday, the 4th January, the assembled Protestants
issued a manifesto, explaining the reasons and grounds which
led them to take up arms; it is as follows:—

TuE DECLARATION OF THE PROTESTANTS OF SLIGO, JANUARY 4TH, 1685.

WE, the Protestants of the County Sligo, at present assembled for our
common safety, do hereby declare the occasions and motives of this our
Association, and what is intended by it :—

1. We resolve to adhere to the laws of the land and the Protestant
religion.

2. We shall, as we ought, unite ourselves accordingly with England,
and hold to the lawful government thereof, and to a free Parliament.

3. We declare that our taking up arms is only defensive, and not in
the least to invade the lives, liberties, or estates of any of our fellow-

! Letter to Mr. John Delap in M‘Carmick’s Enniskilleners, dated Sligo,
December 27, 1688.
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subjects, whether Roman Catholic or others, while they demean them-
selves in peaceable manner to us. !

4. Our reasons for thus doing are so urgent that we could no longer
with prudence forbear putting ourselves in some necessary posture of
defence ; for the Roman Catholics, arming in such vast numbers through-
out all the kingdom, do give us just apprehensions of ill designs in them,
they pretending the king’s commission for what they do, whereas we are
assured that the king has commanded all Roman Catholics to lay down
their arms, which we conceive should as well extend to Ircland as Eng-
land ; and therefore we doubt that the leaders of this Irish army do act
from their own heads upon designs of their own, which we may justly
fear will be prejudicial to the lives, liberties, and properties of the Pro-
testant subjects of this kingdom if not prevented.

Lastly, we declare that as we will assault none that molest not us, so
we will, to our power, protect all from violence, even Roman Catholics
themselves, whilst they behave themselves peaceably and neighbourly
among us (though we will admit none but Protestants into our associa-
tion), until we be ascertained from the lawful authority and Government
of England what further orders we are to obey; and we doubt not but
that all good Protestants in this kingdom will, when they are able, join
with us in the same public defence, and that God will bless this so just,
innocent, and necessary undertaking for our lives, laws, and religion.

And whereas, it will be necessary, for the more effectual and success-
ful carrying on of these our mutual endeavours, for the preservation of
our laws, religion, and country, and the security of our lives and proper-
ties, and to avoid confusions and distractions which in such cases might
otherwise happen, to appoint some eminent person or persons to whose
conduct we may entirely submit ourselves in this our undertaking.

We do, therefore, by these presents, unanimously nominate, elect,
and appoint the Right Honourable Lord Robert Baron of Kingston, and
the Honourable Chidley Coote, Esq., or either, or both of them, jointly
and severally, as they shall think fit, to be commander or commanders-
in-chief of all the forces in the said County of Sligo.

And do hereby oblige ourselves to serve under his or their command,
in such manner and in such place and station as they or one of them, in
their discretion and judgment shall direct. And that we will procure such
horse and foot, and such a number of men, arms, and ammunition as we
or any of us can possibly provide, and that with all expedition imme-
diately to be arranged and formed into troops and companies, and to be
disposed of from time to time, according to their, or either of their
orders.

In witness whereof we have hereunto subscribed our hands,
At Sligo, this 4th of January, 1688-9.

The signatures to this declaration are not given, otherwise
we should have been furnished with a complete list of Lord
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Kingston’s officers, of whom the following names have been
culled from pamphlets and other documents of the period :—

NAME. RANE. RESIDENCE. county. |HOBSEOr
FOOT.
Brookes, Richard Lieutenant | Tullybeg Sligo
Brookes, Oliver ... | Cornet Do. Do. Horse.
Cooper, Arthur ... | Captain Markree Do. Horse.
Coote, Hon. Chidley Commander-| Voughterhire | Rosecommon
in-Chief
Gethin, Piercy Captain Sligo (town) | Sligo
Gore, Francis Do. Do. Do. Dragoon
Griffith, William ... Do. Do. Do.
Hart, Thomas ... | Major Ballinspor Do.
King, Francis Captain Ballindune Do. Dragoon|
King, Cornet Horse.
King, Charles Horse.
Kingston, Right Hon. | Commander-| Boyle Roscommon
Lord Baron of ... in-Chief
Jackson, Edward ... | Captain Sligo Foot.
Leslie, John, Dr. Clerk Ballintogher Do.
Martin, William Captain Sligo Do. Dragoon
Morgan, Hugh ... | Captain Cottelstown Do.
Mulloy, Toby Lieutenant | Knockvicar Roscommon | Dragoon
Nicolson, Charles Cornet Larrass, or Sligo Horse.
Strandhill
Ormsby, Adam .. | Lieutenant | Cummin Do.
Ormsby, William ... | Captain Court Do.
Smith, William Captain Knocknasamer; Do.
(Cloverhill)
Story, William ... |Ensign The Rosse Do. Foot.
- Vaughan, Owen Major Carrowmore | Mayo
Wood, Edward Captain Court Sligo Foot.
Wood, Richard Laccan Do. Foot.

In compliance with the powers conferred on them bj the

foregoing proclamation, Lord Kingston and the Honourable
Chidley Coote, of Voughterhire, Co. Roscommon, assumed joint
command.

In the town, affairs soon began to wear a martial appearance ;
troops and companies were formed, the officers not only pro-
viding their own weapons and accoutrements, but also supplying
the men under their command with horses, arms, ammunition,
and rations. All the scythes in the vicinage were bought up
and fixed on poles to act as pikes; everywhere was heard the
clang of hammers in the forges, where the smiths were repairing
arms, making new weapons and other military appliances for
resisting cavalry, as well as various contrivances for the defence



106 HISTORY OF SLIGO.

of the forts. The most important and urgent work was the
restoration of these two old and crumbling fortalices ; this was
at once commenced, the labour of the soldiers being made avail-
able, and the expense defrayed by the officers. Breaches were
- made up, drawbridges erected, ditches scoured, and the fortifi-
cations in general put in a better state of defence.
To keep open communication with the north, garrisons were
laced at Grange,! a castle and village of the name, about ten
Tom SIlgo, on the road to Ballyshannon ; and to secure
intercourse by way of Enniskillen, at Newtown, a castle situated
on the shores of Lough Gill ; at Drumahaire, at the head of the
same lake; and at Manor-Hamilton, about twelve miles from
Sligo ; the three latter places being within the bounds of the
neighbouring County of Leitrim.

To guard against an inroad from Boyle or Ballymote, garri-
gons were placed at Ballintogher in the fortified house of Dr.
John Leslie,? under command of Leslie himself; at Colooney,
in the fortified house of Lord Bellamount (the site it occupied
is close to the new Roman Catholic Church); and at Markree,
under command of the owner, Captain Arthur Cooper.

To keep in check the new levies of the Irish in Mayo, garri-
sons were placed at Ardnaglass ;® at Laccan,* under the command
of the owner, Richard Wood ; and at Cottlestown.® The posts
held by these three last-named garrisons commanded the road
gkirting the sea-shore, which, at that period, was the only high-
way to Mayo through the barony of Tireragh.

The Cottlestown post was useful in many ways, especially

! This post was probably commanded by James Soden, attainted by
/ James I1., 1689, as of that place. s vl

* For full particulars of grants, &c., to Leslie, see pp. 35 and 171-2,
Sligo and the Enniskilleners.

3 The ruins of this castle are situated in the townland of the name in
the parish of Skreen.

¢ A castle situated near the sea-shore, in the parish of Kilglasse, barony
of Tireragh. It is now a mere sod-covered mound. It was built in 1560
by the O’Dowds, and in consequence of the events of 1641 was forfeited
by them, and granted to the family of Wood. Richard Wood was attainted
by James, 1689, as of this place. He died same year.

% A castle founded by an O’Dowd, circa 1447. It was granted in the
year 1653 to the family of Morgan.
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as a rallying-point for the scattered Protestants of Mayo ; the
garrison was probably under the command of Captain Hugh
Morgan, attainted in 1689 by James as of that place. One of
the principal duties of this detachment was to escort distressed
and plundered settlers to Sligo, where they soon recovered health
and strength, and were enrolled for service. A large proportion
of the refugees were from Foxford and other places in the
neighbourhood ; they made their way in great numbers to Sligo
on the execution of the orders issued by Tyrconnel for disarming
all of the Reformed faith.!

Sir Thomas Southwell, Bartholomew Purdon, Thomas
Miller, and other gentlemen of the province of Munster, en-
deavoured to penetrate northwards to Sligo, in order to join
Lord Kingston’s forces. They succeeded in reaching Loughrea,
in the County Galway, after some trifling skirmishes with the
Irish on the way; but at Loughrea their passage was barred by
a detachment of King James’s troops, and after a short parley
they surrendered. '

Some time had elapsed since the Protestants of Sligo had
risen in arms; but no commissions had been granted, and
neither ammunition nor money received, although great interest
was made in England by influential people at the court, who
represented the advantageous position of the town—which had
been lately strengthened—the zeal of the garrison, and the
large sums of money expended by the nobility and gentry of the
county. Application was also made to Colonel Lundy at Derry
for assistance, but without result.

Notwithstanding the depression occasioned by this want of
support, all available weapons were put to the best account, and
the smiths kept constantly employed. As no musketoons could
be procured for the cavalry, fowling-pieces were cut down and
used as a substitute. The mounted men were divided into ten
troops—eight of horse and two of dragoons—fifty in each troop.
It may be well to explain that, although dragoons are now solely
horse-soldiers, yet, during this period, they were in reality foot-
soldiers, mounted merely for the purpose of reaching their des-
tination with greater speed, and, as may be observed by any

! Mackenzie. 1690, A True Representation. 1689,
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reader of the battles of this period, they were almost always
ordered to dismount and fight on foot, in which condition they
acted as musketeers. Story, chaplain to William III., thus
describes the Enniskillen horse he saw at Loughbrickland, of
which the Sligo contingent formed part :—* I wondered much
to see their horses and equipage, hearing before of what feats
had been done by them; . . . . most of the troopers andd ra-
goons had their waiting men mounted on garrons (these are
small Irish horses, but very hardy). Some of them had holsters,
and others their pistols hung at their sword-belts.” FEvidently
their appearance to a military eye could not have been striking ;
but what they lacked in uniformity they made up in spirit.

In Sligo the foot were regimented and divided into com-
panies, and as muskets were deficient, many of the men were
armed with pikes; but the most pressing want was gunpowder;
a small barrel formed the sole supply, and there appeared no
likelihood of obtaining more.

Such was the state of affairs when news arrived that Colonel
M‘Donel, who had taken possession of Lord Kingston’s mansion
at Boyle (the present militury barracks), together with all the corn
and hay belonging to his tenants, was arresting numbers of Pro-
testants on their way to Sligo, and confiscating their goods. Lord
Kingston immediately wrote to M‘Donel, demanding the release
of the prisoners and their property, and requesting him to pers
mit them to continue their journey, as he, on his part, never
prevented Roman Catholics from going to Boyle, Athlone, or
any other Irish garrison. M‘Donel, paying no attention to this
letter, it was determined, in a council of war held in Sligo, to
release the captives by force.

Accordingly, as many horse and foot as could be drawn from
the various out-garrisons, marched on Boyle under command of
Lord Kingston and Captain Chidley Coote. On their approach,
M‘Donel withdrew into the house and court-yard with all his
horse and foot, although his old and disciplined troops, together
with the rapparees, outnumbered his opponents five to one. He
released the prisoners, and engaged on his honour not to prevent
any Protestants from travelling through his command to Sligo ;
yet on the day after the expedition had retraced its steps, he
seized and imprisoned all those who, having heard bhis promise,
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were starting for Sligo. This breach of faith was most un-
expected, and greatly surprised Lord Kingston’s party, for
M‘Donel was considered “ one of the fairest reputation among
the Irish in those parts.”!

A small patrol of five horse, led by Captain Arthur Cooper,
was sent to reconnoitre the movements of the Irish at Bally-
mote, then held by a company of foot under Captain Terence
M‘Donough, of Colonel Henry Dillon’s foot.? On the approach
of the Sligo party, M‘Donough drew up his men across the road
to oppose them ; but, on receiving the contents of a blunderbuss,
which killed one man, and wounded five more, they threw down
their arms, and ran for the castle; they were pursued by the
five troopers, and several of them cuf down almost on the draw-
bridge.

In retaliation for this expedition to Ballymote, a party of
from five to six hundred Irish appeared before Leslie’s house
at Ballintogher, apparently with the intention of attacking it;
but they took to the bogs and dispersed, when Leslie sallied
out, with thirty horse and forty foot, to meet them.

During all this period a public market had been held in
Sligo, attended by both Roman Catholics and Protestants, who
disposed of whatever articles the garrison or townspeople re-
quired. Several Protestants coming to this market from Tireragh
with meal, cattle, and other commodities, were attacked, over-
powered, and robbed by a party of Irish, who sallied out from a
castle belonging to Captain Henry Crofton,® a Roman Catholie,
and zealous adherent of King James. The rapparees carried
the booty into the castle, and stored it, whilst the released settlers
fled to Sligo, and informed Lord Kingston of the outrage.

1(i.y A True Representation to the King and people of England how
matters were carried all along in Ireland. (ii.) Lord Kingston’s narrative
in Mackenzie. 1690.

3 The above Terence was a burgess of Sligo in the remodelled corpor-
ation, 1687, and represented the borough in James’s Parliament; in the
month of May following, he was taken prisoner by the Enniskilleners in
Fish-Island, Ballyshannon.

3 Henry Crofton was a burgess of Sligo, 1687, as were also an
Edward and a George Crofton. Henry Crofton was High Sheriff of the
county, same year, and, conjointly with Terence M ‘Donough, represent'ed
the Borough in James’s Parliament, 1689. He was afterwards senior
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Although it was night when the fugitives arrived, Captain
William Ormsby and Captain Francis Gore were at once de-
spatched with a picked party of men drawn from every troop
and company in the garrison. Lord Kingston himself started
on the following morning before daybreak with another body
in support, but was met on the road by Cornet Charles
Nicholson, of Larras, who reported that the advance party,
under Captain Ormsby, had captured the castle, after burning
the entrance gate, and half suffocating the garrison, who had at
first fired very briskly on their assailants, and wounded several
of the storming party, but killed none. A great quantity of
provisions was discovered in the castle, seventeen muskets be-
longing to the Irish army, numbers of half-pikes, skeans, and
rapparee swords, The corn and cattle were either restored to
their owners, or they were paid the current market price for as
much of their goods as they could spare.

A declaration of William, offering free pardon to all the
Irish who should lay down their arms, was issued on the 2nd of
February, and officially made known in Sligo shortly after the
capture of Crofton’s Castle. The declaration was utterly disre-
garded by the Irish; its only effect was to fetter the hands of
Lord Kingston's party, preventing them from retaliating on
those who some time previously had stolen their cattle. It tied
the hands of the settlers, whilst it encouraged the Irish in the
belief that a free pardon would be granted for all offences ;
they were also told by their priests and officers that no army
would be sent from England, and therefore, until the specified
time (10th of April) elapsed, they need not openly declare their
determination, either to lay down their arms or carry on the
war. The Protestants meanwhile acted together on the defensive,
observing faithfully their declaration of the 4th of January; but
they kept constant watch and ward on the outposts. On the
7th of March Tyrconnel issued a proclamation, stating that if

Captain in Colonel Robert Clifford’s Dragoons, another Crofton (John)
serving as Cornet. A John Crofton was also one of the Commission
appointed, 1690, by James for the applotment of £1186 2s. on the county,
as was also a Henry Crofton. A Thomas Crofton was High Sheriff for
the county in 1661, 1662, and 1666. Henry Crofton was outlawed 1691 ;
decreed innocent, March 22, 1700.
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the Protestants in Ulster and the borough of Sligo would sub-
mit, they should be pardoned ; those from Sligo were to repair to
the Lord Deputy or to Colonel M‘Donel, at Boyle. Officers and
men were to surrender their arms and troop-horses, and to fur-
nish hostages for their future peaceful behaviour; if these con-
ditions were complied with, they should have the full benefit of
the amnesty : ten of the principal leaders of the Protestants were,
however, exempted by name, one of them being Lord Kingston.

All this time frequent communication was kept up with
Derry, through Colonel Lundy and the Committee, also with
Enniskillen, through the Governor, Colonel Gustavus Hamilton.
The repairs to the Stone Fort of Sligo were hurried on and com-
pleted as far as practicable, and the Green Fort at last finished.

Despatches now speedily followed each other from Lundy,
desiring Lord Kingston to send a party to reinforce the gar-
rison of Derry : he was informed in reply that there were hardly
men enough in Sligo to hold it in the face of the enemy, situ-
ated as it was, so remote from all means of relief. Lundy’s
messenger having mentioned the recent arrival in Derry of a
ship with gunpowder, the scarcity of ammunition in the town of
Sligo and its outposts was again reported to the Governor, and
a request made for a small supply, the expense of which the
officers were willing to bear. Lundy was at length shamed into
promising to allow Sligo three barrels, on condition that the
powder should be paid for at the rate of five pounds sterling per
barrel. This offer was accepted, and Captain Coote despatched
with the money to receive it, and he had instructions, if possible,
to induce Lundy to contribute arms to complete the equipment
of the troops; he was also to give information of the state of
Sligo, and to ascertain the condition of Derry.

Captain Coote was but a short time gone when another
despateh arrived from Lundy, ordering an immediate retreat on
Derry. A council of war was quickly assembled, and this letter
laid before the officers ; hut after a lengthened discussion it was
decided to await the return of Captain Coote, who would have
then ascertained with certainty the state of affairs in the North.
The officers were unwilling to desert a position which had taken
so much money and labour to strengthen, and had hitherto
proved so useful in overawing the forces of James in Con-
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naught; there was also another important reason for this decision.
The town was crowded with helpless folk ; women and children
from all parts of the province had flocked into it, who might not
be able to find shelter in Derry.

This and similar previous meetings of the officers of the gar-
rison are not strictly entitled to be called councils of war, for
the commissions held by them from Lord Kingston and Captain
Coote had not yet been confirmed by the Crown. The sub-
scribers to this Council were as follows :—!

Major Owen Vaughan, of Carrowmore, Co. Mayo; Major Thomas
Harte, of Ballinspor ; Captain Hugh Morgan, of Tireragh ; Captain
Piercy Gethin, of Sligo; Captain Edward Wood, of Court; Captain
William Ormsby, of Court; Captain William Smith, of Knocknasamer
(now Cloverhill) ; Captain William Griffith, of Sligo ; Lieutenant Richard
Brookes, of Tullybeg; Lieutenant Adam Ormsby, of Cummin ; Cornet
Oliver Brook, of Tullybeg.

On the morning following the despatch to Lundy of this de-
termination to hold Sligo, the officers were startled by the
arrival of another messenger from Derry; the council was re-
assembled, and the letter laid before them. In it Lundy de-
picted the great danger that threatened the North, which, if lost,
as he felt certain it would be unless the Sligo forces joined him,
Sligo could not by itself make a long defence. He urged them
at all hazards to abandon the forts, assuring them that quarters
and forage were provided for them at Derry and all along the
line of march, and those precautions having been taken, they
ought to start at once to his assistance.

A long and stormy discussion ensued, but it was at length
decided by the majority to march northwards, to the relief of
their companions in arms ; they saw no likelihood of replenishing
their supply of powder from Derry, and the one barrel they
possessed was almost exhausted; also Lundy’s letter depicted
affairs in such gloomy colours that they resolved to risk all on
the issue of a battle.

The remainder of the day was spent in providing horses and
carts for removal of their baggage, in procuring boats, breaking

1 The residences of the officers are taken from similar names in James’s
Bill of Attainder, 1689.
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the heavy ordnance, and sending off the lighter pieces to Derry
by sea. All corn and hay was either burned or destroyed, and
the frontier garrisons recalled. Some of the refugees in the
town went off in small boats to the island of Innismurray, with
the hope of defending it until safe means of reaching Derry
should offer. A great number of fugitives, with their goods,
crowded on board a vessel lying alongside the quay, and, the
wind being fair, sailed from the harbour,' followed by the smack
containing the field-pieces; but a storm suddenly arose, the
vessel was wrecked on the Donegal coast, and the smack, forced
by the violence.of the gale to take refuge under the lee of an
island, was captured on the following morning by the Irish, who
crossed in some boats they had succeeded in concealing. The
crew, with the men, women, and children on board, were thrown
into prison.?

Early on the morning of the 22nd March, the march of Lord
Kingston’s force to Derry commenced. About fifty horse com-
posed the van, the whole body of foot followed ; the baggage,
women, and children- next; the rear was brought up by the two
troops of dragoons. Lord Kingston remained behind, with a
strong guard of horse, to finish the destruction of the stores;
the heavy guns were either spiked, and the trunnions of the
smaller broken, or they were loaded, buried muzzle downwards
in the ground, then discharged, and thus burst. As soon as .
the destruction was completed, the covering party joined the
remainder of the horse.

It was most trying weather, rainy and boisterous in the ex-
treme ; under the continuous downpour, the sufferings of the
women and children were fearful—wet through, and chilled to
the bone by the piercing blast. The country all along the road
was deserted and laid waste by the settlers of Upper Carbury,

! Boate, in his Natural History of Ireland, p. 29, published in 1652, de-
scribes the harbour as *“ very much encumbered with rocks and sands
in the entrance, but otherwise reasonably deep, for a ship of 200 tons may
come and ride before the town of Sligo.”

1 These prisoners were included in Rosens’ barbarous order commanding
all Protestants, ‘‘ whether men, women, boys, or girls, without exception,”
to be driven under the walls of Derry, to starve in'the sight of their
co-religionists. Vide Macpherson, Vol. L., p. 205. Mackenzie, p. 41.

I
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who abandoned and fired their houses—then joined the retreating
column. On the side of the Irish, Lieutenant-Colonel Farrall
(who subsequently fell before the walls of Derry) had orders to
harass and oppose the retiring forces with one hundred and
eighty musketeers of his own regiment from Boyle, together with
the Dartree Irish from the County Monaghan, amounting to
about four or five hundred more. He attempted to break down
Bundrowse Bridge, but abandoned that work on the approach of
the advance-guard of Sligo horse; his troops took to the bogs
without opposing the retiring Protestants, although there were
many narrow passes where a few resolute men might have
embarrassed the retreat.

On the 24th the troops arrived in Ballyshannon, after a
march of two days during the most inclement weather, and here
Lord Kingston received a fourth letter from Lundy, ordering
him to remain where he was until quarters were provided for
his men, and forage for his horses; for the present he was to
defend the passes of the river Erne—an order which caused the
greatest consternation, as the Sligo forces had been enticed
away from their post by the Governor’s assurance that quarters
and forage were provided for them, and that Derry stood in
pressing need of reinforcements.

Lundy, however, held a commission from William, and
this order was therefore obeyed, as had unfortunately been the
one previously issued by him. The plans of the Protestants of
Sligo for the preservation of their county were thus unhappily
frustrated by the confused but peremptory orders of this treach-
erous man, who, despite his professions of zeal for their cause,
was secretly attached to, if not in actual correspondence with,
James. Although some attribute Lundy’s conduct to pusillani-
mity rather than treachery, to want of spirit rather than attach-
ment to James, yet general opinion imputes to him both crimes.
The question of traitor or coward was at that time of little im-
portance to the party at Ballyshannon ; the result was the same,
for they felt confident that had they not been ordered to Derry,
their numbers would have enabled them to hold their post
against the surrounding Irish; and it is more easy to imagine
than to describe their feelings of mingled rage and despair at
having been so easily allured from Sligo, for the Irish were on
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the watch, and the town was occupied by them almost as soon as
it had been evacuated.

As a proof of the feelings of Lord Kingston’s officers, tho
following letter, written by one of them to a friend in Derry, is
here given :—

¢¢ S1r,—Having this opportunity, I think fit to let you know the great
and most lamentable disappointment we are under. My Lord Kingston
is basely used by your officers. They have drawn him from the garrison
of Sligo, which he had so bravely fortified, and had such a number of dis-
ciplined men, both horse and foot in, and so well armed, that he could
not but have done service with them, and have made good that post
against the enemy. But Colonel Lundy writ to him, that the blood of all
the Protestants of the North will be upon him if he does not quit the
garrison of Sligo and come to their assistance. . . . . You may imagine
what a distraction we were in. . . . . With the most earnest entreaty we
prevailed with my Lord to go for England, to solicit relief from thence,
and are resolved to take our shelter in Enniskillen. If anything happen
amiss to us, our children, if they survive, may curse your great men for
it,” &e., &c.! ‘

The garrison at Derry were equally enraged, for Walker
says®*—It did also add much to the rage and violence of the
garrison, when they heard some wrong had been done my Lord
Kingston and his party, by the indirect measures of some within
our walls, their concern for him being as great as their expect-
ations from him.”* '

The further movements and actions of the Sligo forces whilst
outside the bounds of the county are fully described in Sligo
and the Enniskilleners ; it will be sufficient here to state that on
the 16th of April Lord Kingston, with a few of his officers, em-
barked for England in a couple of French fishing-smacks that
were lying at Killybegs. He was to represent at court how
affairs had been mismanaged, procure commissions and whatever

! Walker’s Londonderry, 1689, p. 59.

2 Ibid., p. 19.

The following is a curious extract from a popular historical play of
this period, entitled Ireland Preserved. The scene is laid at Castlefin ;
and Colonel Murray speaking :—* ’Tis a most deplorable case ; . . . think
how we are served. Lord Kingston is within twenty miles of us, with
three thousand foot and a thousand horsemen to join us, yet by private
designs and villainy this treacherous governor,” &e., &c. :
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support he could, and return with all despatch. The wind being
fair, Lord Kingston set sail. His party suffered great hardships ;
they were crowded closely together, the boats being small and
undecked ; and during seven days they were exposed to the most
trying weather, and drenched to the skin. After being twice
nearly wrecked, they were at last able to land in Scotland, and
hastened on to London to procure assistance.!

In compliance with the last orders of Lord Kingston, to
send forward all forces that could be spared, two troops of
horse and six companies of foot, ‘“all excellent men,” says
Hamilton, marched under command of Colonel Lloyd to Ennis-
killen, where they added materially to the strength of the gar-
rison, so that Lundy’s treachery towards the western corps
worked for the good of that gallant stronghold.?

The force mustered in the town of Enniskillen was thus
largely increased by the Protestants of Sligo ; *“a great number
of these gallant men,” remarks Harris, ‘ were inhabitants
of the County Fermanagh, but [they] were joined by many
from the neighbouring counties, . . . . and by a large body of
Protestants from the County Sligo. This whole body of Pro-
testants, . . . though collected from different parts, were yet, from
their union and association here, called by the general name of
Enniskilleners.” This did not escape the notice of O’Calla-
ghan, who, in his History of the Irish Brigades, states that the
Enniskilleners were ‘‘ strengthened by numbers of the bravest
of the Protestants of Sligo, . . . whom the defeats of their forces
elsewhere by the Irish army could not frighten into submission.”

On the 11th of March, 1689, William and Mary were pro-
claimed King and Queen in Enniskillen, and the inhabitants took
the oath of allegiance to their new rulers. Two days after this
James landed at Kinsale; one of his first acts was the appoint-
ment to the Governorship of Sligo of Colonel Henry Luttrell,
who had acquired military experience by serving in some cam-
paigns abroad ; he surrounded the town of Sligo with a line of

! Playfair, in his Family 